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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, DC 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014
or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number: 001-35867

Chimerix, Inc.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Chaet)

Delaware 33-0903395
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)

2505 Meridian Parkway, Suite 340
Durham, North Carolina 27713

(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

(919) 806-1074
(Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Codg
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tfie Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a elbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405cdbéturities Act.  YedX] No O
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ord}®f the Act. YesO No

Indicate by check mark whether the registranth filed all reports required to be filed by Sewti3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act &4l8uring the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the regigtwas required to file such reports), and (2)bd&en subject to such filing requirements for thst|90 days. YedX] No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ilasnitted electronically and posted on its corpo¥dib site, if any, every Interactive Data File regd to be submitted and
posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§&BRof this chapter) during the preceding 12 meiith for such shorter period that the registraas vequired to submit and post
such files). YesX No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinqufiiers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i$ contained herein, and will not be containedh®lest of the registrant’s
knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statents incorporated by reference in Part 11l of fiasm 10-K or any amendment to this Form 103K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, aaccelerated filer or a smaller reporting comp&se definitions of “large
accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer” and “smalteporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the ExchaAge.:

Large accelerated fildr Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filerdd Smaller reporting comparij
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of theuBges Exchange Act of 1934). YeEl No



The aggregate market value of the voting and ndimya@ommon equity held by non-affiliates of thgistrant based upon the closing price of its Com@tmtk on The Nasdaq
Global Market on June 30, 2014 was $443,167,025 .*

The number of outstanding shares of the regissautnmon stock, par value $0.001 per share, aslwiiBry 24, 2015 was 41,086,040 .
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PART |
Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (Annual Report),ymantain “forward-looking statementsithin the meaning of the federal securities |
made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions oPthate Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995uiCactual results could differ materially fri
those anticipated in these forward-looking statasmes a result of various factors, including theseforth below under Part I, ltem 1ARiSk
Factors” in this Annual Report. Except as requisgdaw, we assume no obligation to update theseaat{ooking statements, whether as a re
of new information, future events or otherwise. 3deastatements, which represent our current exjpatsadr beliefs concerning various fut
events that are subject to risks and uncertainties; contain words such as “may,” “will,” “expecti@nticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,”
“estimate” or other words indicating future resufisich statements may include, but are not lintiledtatements concerning the following:

« the initiation, cost, timing, progress and resaftsur research and development activities, preairstudies and future clinical trie

e our ability to obtain and maintain regulatoryegpval of our current and future product candidaaesl any related restrictions,
limitations, and/or warnings in the label of an ep@d product candidate;

e our ability to obtain funding for our operatio

» our plans to research, develop and commercializéuture product candidats

e our strategic alliance partnerdection to pursue development and commercialing

« our ability to attract collaborators with developtheregulatory and commercialization exper

» our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual pesty protection for our future product candide

» the size and growth potential of the markets faraurent and future product candidates, and oilityato serve those marke

e our ability to successfully commercialize our catrand future product candidai

» the rate and degree of market acceptance of otertuand future product candida

e our ability to develop sales and marketing captadslj whether alone or with potential future cotiedtors

» regulatory developments in the United States areldo countries

» the performance of our thiqgarty suppliers and manufactur

» the success of competing therapies that are omieewailable

» the loss of key scientific or management perso

» our expectations regarding the time during whichwilebe an emerging growth company under the Juarp©ur Business Startups
(JOBS Act);

» our use of the proceeds from our public offeriregx;

» the accuracy of our estimates regarding expensesefrevenues, capital requirements and neediftitianal financinc

Market, Industry and Other Data

This Annual Report contains estimates, projectiand other information concerning our industry, business and relevant markets, inclu
data regarding the estimated size of relevant iaatimarkets, patient populations, projected diajmoates and the perceptions and preferen:
patients and physicians regarding certain therapesvell as data regarding market research aidages. Information that is based on estim
forecasts, projections, market research or similethodologies is inherently subject to uncertainéied actual events or circumstances may
materially from events and circumstances that asuraed in this information. Unless otherwise exglyestated, we obtained this indus
business, market and other data from reports, r&saarrveys, studies and similar data prepared &nken research firms and other third par
industry, medical and general publications, governintlata and similar sources that we believe tel&ble. In some cases, we do not expre
refer to the sources from which this data is detive that regard, when we refer to one or moregesiof this type of data in any paragraph,
should assume that other data of this type appparithe same paragraph are derived from the saoreess, unless otherwise expressly stat
the context otherwise requires.




ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Chimerix Overview

Chimerix, Inc. is a biopharmaceutical company daigid to discovering, developing and commercializiogel, oral antivirals to address un
medical needs. We were founded in 2000 based oprtmise of our proprietary lipid conjugate tectogyl to unlock the potential of some of
most broadspectrum antivirals by enhancing their antiviraivaty and safety profiles in convenient, orallyraihistered dosing regimens. Ba
on our proprietary lipid conjugate technology, tead compound, brincidofovir (BCV, CMX001), is im&se 3 clinical development. In additi
we have an active discovery program focusing oal W@rgets for which limited or no therapies argrently available.

Brincidofovir
Phase 3 SUPPRESS Tr

Brincidofovir is an investigational oral nucleotidmalog that has shown brosgectrum antiviral activity against all five faneii of dsDN/
(doublestranded DNA) viruses that affect humans. We ir@tiahe Phase 3 SUPPRESS trial of brincidofovthathird quarter of 2013. The t1
is designed to demonstrate the safety and effiohbyincidofovir in the prevention of cytomegalawé (CMV) infection through the first 24 we
following an allogeneic hematopoietic cell transpl@HCT) and, if successful, will serve as the bdsr Accelerated Approval for brincidofovir.

SUPPRESS is enrolling 450 allogeneic (non-self) HEdipients who are at high risk of CMV infectiam the postransplant period based
antibody evidence of a prior infection with CMVfeeed to as “CMV seropositive” or “recipient (Rsgropositive."Because there is no appro
CMV prevention available for these patients, thetad or “placebo”arm of the study is intensive monitoring for eviderof CMV reactivation i
the blood and initiation of early or “preemptiveitiviral therapy. Subjects are randomized 2ttt the active brincidofovir arm (n=300) or
standard-ofare/placebo arm (n=150). Dosing of brincidofovirptacebo begins as soon after the transplanteapdtient can swallow a tab
generally within the first two weeks, and contindesough Week 14 following the transplant, the peérdf greatest risk for viral infectiol
Subjects will be followed in the trial for an addital 10 weeks after the last dose of study drogaftotal of 24 weeks after transplant.

Brincidofovir has shown activitin vitro against all five families of dsDNA viruses that sawdisease in humans. Because HCT recipientssu
at increased risk for other DNA viral infectionsclinding HHV-6, EpsteirBarr Virus (EBV), adenovirus (AdV) and BK virus (BA, key
secondary endpoints in SUPPRESS include clinicahisvassociated with dsDNA viruses such as endéphe¢spiratory infections, graft failu
and measures of kidney function.

During the first year following allogeneic HCT, thete of norrelapse mortality (mortality not related to recage of the underlying malignant
is approximately 20%, with perhaps otiird of these deaths attributable to the diredt mdirect effects of CMV and other dsDNA virus¥ge
believe that brincidofovir has the potential tongfigantly reduce the morbidity related to dsDNAuses, which we believe can positively imj
the overall success of allogeneic transplantatidhé patients who are undergoing this potentidlysaving procedure.

Should it decrease the proportion of subjects @ithV reactivation, brincidofovir may impact diredfects of CMV such as CMV pneumonitis
hepatitis, and may also reduce the indirect effeét€MV reactivation including inflammation and inume suppression which can leac
bacterial, fungal, protozoal and other viral oppoistic infections. It may also be possible to dase the use of currently available @K
drugs known to have specific toxicities such astnogenia that increase the risk of bacterial andy&ll infections. Another key set of data bt
collected in SUPPRESS are healthcare utilizatisiszancluding the costs of the toxicities asseclatith the currently available antivirals, wk
we believe will be instrumental in future formulaagd pricing discussions.

We anticipate data from the SUPPRESS trial in e20l,/6.

Successful Identification of Brincidofovir DoseStudy 201

The SUPPRESS study design and patient populatiostastially mirrors that of our Phase 2 desealation study, Study 201, the results of w
were published in September 2013 in the New Englémdnal of Medicine (N Engl J Med 2013;369:1235j- In Study 201, a statistica

significant decrease in CMV reactivation (CMV PCRG0 c/mL at the time of the last dose of studygiimias demonstrated for brincidofovir .
mg BIW versus placebo (p = 0.002).




A significant change in design from Study 201 toPRRESS is the initiation of dosing prior to engrefht (evidence of a functioning bc
marrow), a change that could positively impactghabability of success of SUPPRESS. In Study 281n atudies in CMV prevention using ot
antiviral agents, dosing began only after there exadence of engraftment in order to avoid poteritéanatologic and other possible toxicitie:
investigational agents. Review of the hematologifety data from brincidofovis safety database of over 900 individuals exposét o
initiation of SUPPRESS provided evidence of a latkhematologic toxicity, and resulted in the akilib begin dosing of brincidofovir
SUPPRESS in the first days following HCT, prioretograftment. The ability to dose in the very eadgtiransplant period may further decre
rates of CMV infection, and increase the likelihdbdt brincidofovir may prevent reactivation of etldsDNA viruses such as BKV and HHV-
which can reactivate in the first weeks after tpdaust.

The risk:benefit ratio for medications intended fwevention of infection requires a higher standafrdafety and tolerability than medicati
intended for the treatment of established infegtimamsed on the expectation that a larger numbénddfiduals will receive the medication -
prevention in order to avoid clinically significadisease. With respect to brincidofovir, the safety tolerability that has been established to
support its continued development as a potentieffgctive prevention of CMV and other dsDNA virus&¥ith regards to the safety ¢
tolerability concerns specific to the HCT populatidhe lack of observed hematological or bone mmaraxicity is a critical determinant
brincidofovir's use in this population.

Brincidofovir has not demonstrated kidney toxigtynilar to that observed with cidofovir (Vistide®DV). In Study 201, monitoring for potent
renal toxicity included regular serum creatinineels, calculation of glomerular filtration rate (B); and monitoring for the presence of bloo
the urine. Subjects receiving brincidofovir 100 BV or 200 mg QW for 10 to 12 weeks had a dodated improvement in kidney functis
while patients who received placebo had a declmeugh the duration of dosing and the first weekadow-up. In preclinical assessmel
brincidofovir has been shown to not be a substfatehuman organic anion transporter 1 (hOAJ-the transporter associated with r
dysfunction and renal failure following the intraoais administration of cidofovir.

The most significant baseline predictor that catied with improvements in kidney function was ewitke of infection with BK virus, a dsDN
virus which is a member of the polyomavirus familis is the first evidence of a potential cliniedfect of brincidofovir against BKV in HC
recipients. This potential positive effect may bkevant for HCT recipients, but has an even greadtantial benefit in kidney transplant recipie
in whom BKV has been associated with renal dysfoncand loss of the kidney graft. The evaluationbahcidofovir in kidney transpla
recipients in a clinical trial is anticipated togiein the second half of 2015.

In Study 201, gastrointestinal adverse events aadhea in particular were confirmed as the diaséing toxicity of brincidofovir. A Safet
Monitoring and Management Plan (SMMP) was impleraérib identify potentially drugelated diarrhea and other gastrointestinal evandstc
allow a temporary dose interruption for suspectadydelated adverse events. Earlier identificatoddrpotentially drugrelated gastrointestir
symptoms and the use of temporary dose interruptiorsubsequent clinical studies has allowed a nitygjof study subjects to complete
intended course of brincidofovir. The SMMP was irtdd in Study 202, the Phase 2 clinical study ofdtofovir for AdV infection (Study 202
with one of 30 patients in the brincidofovir cologermanently discontinuing brincidofovir due tardhnea. The SMMP has been include
SUPPRESS and in AdVise, the two ongoing pivotalgmms in prevention of CMV and treatment of adenwviinfection, respectively. T
SMMP also provides guidance for the early idersifizn of potentially drugelated elevations in the liver enzyme ALT, which eeversible upc
dosing cessation and typically not accompanied rfmreases in bilirubin. In both preclinical and gaclinical studies, lowgrade alanir
aminotransferase (ALT) increases were noted. Iolipieal studies these ALT elevations were not agganied by any evidence of histopathol
and were thus considered non-adverse.

Phase 3 AdVise Tri:

Our AdVise trial is a Phase 3 study of brincidofofar the treatment of adenovirus (AdV) infectiam allogeneic HCT recipients and ot
immunocompromised patients. Patients who have goder allogeneic HCT are at especially high risk developing AdV disease due
profound and persistent immunodeficiency. In thisceptible population, the development of AdV itifat associated with viremia is much m
prevalent, severe, and rapidly fatal without treattnMortality rates of up to 50-80% are report@dHCT recipients with disseminated disease.

No product has received regulatory approval fortteatment or prevention of AdV infection. Becaw$ehe high risk of progression and sl-
term mortality with disseminated AdV infection, rapproved agents including intravenous cidofovivehheen used, even with the wietlewr
significant risk of nephrotoxicity including the femtial for renal failure. Thus, there is currerdlysignificant unmet medical need for a safe
effective treatment for AdV infection.




AdVise is an open label, non-randomized multicestedy. Subjects are enrolled into cohorts basemamsplant type and degree of infection:

« Cohort A: allogeneic HCT recipients with localizedasymptomatic AdV infectio

» Cohort B: allogeneic HCT recipients with disseméatbAdV disease, a

e Cohort C: autologous HCT recipients, solid ordeansplant recipients, and other patients withhhigk or disseminated adenovi
infection.

All subjects will receive opetabel BCV 100 mg BIW or 2 mg/kg BIW for subjectsGig, for a minimum of 12 weeks. Subjects will bédaed
for a minimum of 12 weeks after the last dose ofigtdrug.

For each allogeneic HCT subject enrolled in AdVidmical outcomes data will be collected from thigtorical cases of AdV infection from 1
same clinical site. These historic controls willdystematically matched by cohort, age and transpy@e. The matching process is ppecifiec
and independent of outcome. Full demographicsjceliroutcomes including altause and attributable mortality, and key covasiateluding
underlying cancer, antivirals and immunosuppressateived will be captured and analyzed.

The primary efficacy endpoint for subjects withsdiminated infection is overall survival. Other kiata sets will include antiviral response, ral
co-viral infection and healthcare utilization costs

Interim Results from AdVis

In February 2015, we presented preliminary reduti the first 85 subjects enrolled in the AdViseltat the annual BMT Tandem Meetin
Patients with localized or disseminated adenoviméection receive brincidofovir for 12 weeks an@ dollowed for a minimum of 12 weeks a
they complete treatment. Preliminary results showedortality rate of 37% (20 of 54) amongst allogjenrHCT recipients with dissemina
disease; this mortality rate has clinical implioas for the potential utility of brincidofovir imése patients, given published mortality ratespotc
80 percent for allogeneic transplant recipientshwdtsseminated adenovirus disease. Notably, tlogelleic transplant recipients who be
brincidofovir with localized or asymptomatic adeirog infection had an observed mortality rate of dercent (2 of 18 subjects). Med
observation in this analysis was 10 weeks folloviimg first dose (range: 1 to 34 weeks). In additmthese important clinical outcomes, a me
decrease of greater than 99 percent in the amduxd\din the blood (or decreased to undetectablel® was observed in the majority of patie
Over half of the patients enrolled in AdVise hadrenthan one dsDNA viral infection at the time of@hment. These results were consistent
the results observed in the first 45 subjects & AldVise trial as presented at the October 2014i@nimfectious Disease Society of Ame
meeting (IDWeek®).

The preliminary safety and tolerability data instlaicutely ill patient population showed a low ratevithdrawal due to brincidofoviassociate
adverse events (3/85, 4 percent), with three patieithdrawing from therapy due to lower gastrostiteal events.

Although adenovirus infection has been mostly dbedrin a pediatric population, approximately dhied of subjects enrolled in AdVise were
years of age or older, with the oldest patient 88 years old. Importantly, over half of the patsewho qualified for AdVise had a seci
significant dsDNA viral infection in addition to A these infections included BK virus (46 percewjtomegalovirus (28 percent) and Eps
Barr virus (6 percent).

Later in 2015, we will formally review with the U.Eood and Drug Administration (FDA) a strategyNew Drug Application (NDA) submission
for brincidofovir that will include efficacy and fy data from both the AdVise and SUPPRESS trials.

Solid Organ Transplant (SOT) Study

We are still in discussions with regulators regagda final study design of brincidofovir in kidné&ansplant recipients. Assuming we are ab
reach agreement with FDA and European health atiteoon a final study design, we anticipate stgrtbur kidney transplant trial in the sec
half of 2015.

The proposed study would give us the opportunitgualuate brincidofovig activity against BK virus, which is a leading sawf kidney injur
(BK virus nephropathy) in this population. Supeoeservation of renal function would represenigaiicant advance for transplant surgeons
their patients.




Traditional Approval Study (Planned)

The FDA instituted its Accelerated Approval Progreomallow for earlier approval of drugs that treatrious conditions, and that fill an uni
medical need based on a surrogate endpoint, sughteaention of CMV viremia. It is possible that SRIRESS delivers improved clini
outcomes (e.g., graft survival or overall mortglitg patients treated with brincidofovir. If not, separate study will need to be conducte
confirm the clinical benefit. The kidney transplaral described above could deliver this outcome.

CMX157

CMX157, our second clinical stage nucleotide analmes the same proprietary lipid technology aschiofovir to deliver high intracellul
concentrations of the potent antiviral drug, tenafoTenofovir, marketed under the brand name \df@and in multiple fixeddose combination
is widely used for the treatment of HIV and hepati® virus (HBV) infection. On December 17, 201Hhe tCompany entered into a licens
agreement with ContraVir Pharmaceuticals (NASDAQRY) for the development and commercialization d¥XCL57 for certain antivire
indications. Under the terms of the agreement, @bt has sole responsibility with respect to thentcol of the development a
commercialization of CMX157.

Candidate Selection of CMX669

We have discovered, developed and selected a obridal candidate, CMX669, for BK virus and cytogagovirus (CMV). This new produ
candidate has demonstrated potantitro activity against CMV and BK virus. We are currentlyaluating CMX669 in preclinical testing. We
in the process of considering future studies inM@\CMX669 including the potential for initiatingdimical studies in 2015.

Our Chemical Library and Lipid Conjugate Technology
Lipid Conjugate Technoloc

Our proprietary technology, which we refer to gsdiconjugate technology, is used to covalently ifiyoal drug molecule with a lipid sidehair
that mimics a naturally occurring phospholipid cament of cellular membranes. The lipid mimic caanthutilize natural uptake pathways
achieve oral bioavailability, enhance uptake irgthsg and potentially avoid many toxicities.

We believe that our lipid conjugate technology barnused to develop new drugs from parent moletwdesg a known mechanism of action
potentially with an improved safety, efficacy, amdADME (adsorption/distribution/metabolism/excoet) profile relative to the parent. Preclin
studies andn vitro assessments of a number of drugs, including soateatk approved, have shown specific improvemenksalogical activit
compared with the parent drug.

The most advanced example of our proprietary lgpdjugate technology is brincidofovir, which was/eleped to deliver into cells the act
antiviral, cidofovir diphosphate, of a potent betatively toxic drug, intravenous cidofovir. Use aflofovir has been limited by signific:
toxicities, particularly kidney toxicity. Unlike dofovir, the lipidbearing brincidofovir molecule is not actively centrated in the kidneys, t
does effectively deliver the active antiviral tdleeThus we believe that brincidofovir has a higbenefit:risk ratio that allows its use in
settings of prevention of CMV disease, treatmergdenovirus infection, and potentially protectioonfi or treatment of other dsDNA viruses.

Chimerix Chemical Library

The Chimerix Chemical Library contains over 10,0@®erocyclic ring systems and nucleosides, the ityjof which were originally synthesiz
in the laboratory of Dr. Leroy Townsend at the Wmsity of Michigan. This library includes approxitely 3,500 nucleoside analog compot
that are candidates for lipid conjugation. We hameactive discovery program focusing on viral dsesawhere there is significant unmet me«
need. We are currently screening the library fdivag against multiple viruses including influenzaepatitis B and norovirus. We believe
several compounds active against key pathogeranageable to enhancement using our proprietary ¢ipigugate technology.

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to discover, develop and commezeialovel therapeutics in areas of significant unmedical need. Our primary initial focus
leveraging the broad-spectrum profile of brincidefdo address the multiple dsDNA viral infectiocemmon in
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transplant recipients. We are also weighing theemital of developing brincidofovir for use in namtsplant settings, in light of the broad-
spectrum anti-viral activity against numerous dsDWIses.

The key components of our strategy are:
e Complete Development and Successfully Commercidiidacidofovir for the Prevention of CMV.

o SUPPRESS, our Phase 3 clinical trial of brincidafder the prevention of CMV is actively enrollinig the United State
Canada and Europe. If successful, the data fromPRESS will be used to support our U.S. applicat@mAccelerate
Approval of brincidofovir for the prevention of CMWfections in allogeneic HCT recipients. We amqtite data from tt
SUPPRESS trial in early 2016. If approved, we belithat we are well positioned to maximize the caruial potential ¢
brincidofovir as there are currently no approveerdpies for prevention of CMV in HCT recipients. \Afe in discussiol
with the FDA regarding the study design for ourfaomatory Phase 3 study for Traditional Approvalbwincidofovir for the
prevention of CMV.

o We are also in the process of obtaining scientificl health technology assessment (HTA) advice ftioen Europes
Medicines Agency on our overall brincidofovir demginent plan for all indications currently under sideration.

¢« Complete Development and Successfully Commercidigacidofovir for the Treatment of Adenovirus.

o Our AdVise trial is a Phase 3 study of brincidofofar the treatment of AdV infection in allogenditCT recipients ar
other immunocompromised patients. Patients who badergone allogeneic HCT are at especially higk for developin
AdV disease due to profound and persistent immuii@decy. In this susceptible population, the depshent of Ad\
infection associated with viremia is much more ptemt, severe and rapidly fatal without treatmdfudrtality rates up to 50-
80% are reported for HCT recipients with dissengdatiisease. No product has received regulatoryoappifor the
treatment or prevention of AdV infection.

« Evaluate Additional Patient Populations and Applitans for Use of Brincidofovir.In addition to our initial development progr
focusing on CMV prevention in hematopoietic celirtsplant recipients and treatment of adenovirusctidns, we are evaluati
other patient populations and applications for pti¢d future treatment opportunities with brincideir.

o Additional patient populationsWe intend to evaluate brincidofovir in other immeompromised patient populatio
Beyond the transplant population, patients may Ueceptible to multiple dsDNA viral diseases duectmgenital ¢
medicallyinduced immune deficiencies including those seconttabiologics therapy for autoimmune and othesodilers
Through our Expanded Access Program, hundredstafns have received brincidofovir for the treatmeha variety o
life-threatening viral diseases.

o Additional viral indications Brincidofovir has shown activitin vitro against the five families of dsDNA viruses that s&
disease in humans. We intend to evaluate brincidiofor the treatment of patients with various atdeDNA virus induce
diseases. This process has begun with the colteoficecondary endpoint data in our SUPPRESSdridl may contint
with more virus-specific clinical trials in the fut.

«  Work with BARDA to Advance Our Smallpox Developmé®iogram.

o We are currently collaborating with BARDA for thewklopment of brincidofovir as a potential medicalintermeasure f
smallpox. We have begun the first pivotal efficatydy in rabbits. Data from this study are antitagan the second half
2015. Additional data may be required from a se@méllpox animal model.

« Discover and Develop Additional Product Candidates Strengthen our Product Portfolio. We have an active discovery
preclinical development program focused on ideimt@yand developing new compounds that can be us&@dt diseases for whi
no current therapeutic option exists or which othige continue to have high unmet medical need. ¥Wend to leverage ¢
knowledge and experience of nucleoside analogsivarece compounds in the Chimerix Chemical Librdmpagh Investigation
New Drug (IND-enabling studies and potential clinical




development and/or partnerships. In addition, we exploring other potential product opportunitiessdd on the ability of o
proprietary lipid conjugate technology to signifitig improve the drug profile of molecules with ltations in safety or delivery.

Our Product Candidates

The following chart depicts our product candidathsir indications, and their current stage of depment:

Chimerix Product Pipeline

Significant Opportunities for Label Expansion into Other Viruses and Patient Populations

Brincidofovir Preclinical Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3
(BCV, CMX001)
Prevention of CMV in HCT SUPPRESS
Treatment of AdV AdVise
Smallpox  BARDA Contract Animal Efficacy Rule
Prevention of CMV in SOT In Planning
CMX157
Licensed to
HIN B ContraVir Pharmaceuticals
Discovery
CMX669 (CMV, BKV) E\::ﬁ.lllar;‘.llgar:
Norovirus
Influenza < Ag'r"';g
HBV o8

Commercial Agreements
ContraVir Pharmaceuticals

On December 17, 2014, the Company entered intceade agreement with ContraVir Pharmaceuticals (DQ: CTRV) for the developme
and commercialization of CMX157 for certain ant@iindications. Under the terms of the agreemeont@Vir has sole responsibility w
respect to the control of the development and comialeation of CMX157.

In exchange for the license to CMX157 rights, weeieed an upfront payment consisting of 120,000eshaf ContraVir Series B Convertil
Preferred Stock with a stated value of $1.2 millionaddition, we are eligible to receive up to mpmately $20 million in clinical, regulatory a
initial commercial milestones in the United Statewl Europe, as well as royalties and additionaéstiines based on commercial sales in

territories. Either party may terminate the liceageeement upon the occurrence of a material brepache other party (subject to standard

periods), or upon certain events involving the aptcy or insolvency of the other party. Contra¥fiay also terminate the license agreer
without cause on a country-by-country basis upgty glays’ prior written notice.




BARDA

In February 2011, we entered into a contract WARBA for the advanced development of brincidofaadéra medical countermeasure in the €
of a smallpox release. BARDA is a division of theSUDepartment of Health and Human Services (HH3$hé Office of the Assistant Secret
for Preparedness and Response that supports tlenaedl research and development, manufacturing,isiogiu and stockpiling of medic
countermeasures. The scope of work for the contrexttides preclinical, clinical and manufacturingvdlopment activities that fall into t
following areas: norlinical animal efficacy studies; clinical activad; manufacturing activities; and all associatepllegory, quality assurant
management, and administrative activities.

Under the contract, BARDA will reimburse our cogif)s pay us a fixed fee, for the research andldpweent of brincidofovir as a treatmen:
smallpox infections. The contract consists of dtialhperformance period, referred to as the basgopmance segment which ended on May
2013, plus up to four extension periods of aroume year each, referred to as option segments,afaghich may be exercised at BARDAS0I¢
discretion. We must complete agreed upon milestandsdeliverables in each discrete work segmemrédhe next option segment is eligibls
be exercised. Under the contract as currently fiecefif each followen option segment is exercised by BARDA, we mayeiret up to $75.
million in expense reimbursement and $5.3 millioriges.

We substantially completed the first option segmanthe contract on August 28, 2014. On Septemhet024 we were awarded a cont
extension for a second option segment providingdditional $17.0 million to Chimerix for a periofl 16 months. BARDA must notify us at le
30 days before the end of the second option segih#rhtends to exercise the third option segmehthe contract. If all option segments
exercised by BARDA, the term of the contract wolbdtextended to February 15, 2016. As of Decembe2@1l4, we had recognized revenus
aggregate of $36.7 million with respect to the pesdormance segment and the first and second sateperiods.

Pursuant to the contract, Chimerix and the U.Seguwent share the rights to any inventions madieénperformance of our work under
contract. Specifically, the U.S. government retaansonexclusive, nontransferable, irrevocable, pgidicense to any invention made in
performance of our work under the contract, progjdbaowever, that the U.S. government may, undetaicercircumstances, includi
circumstances involving public health and safdétgrse such inventions to third parties without comsent. There have been no inventions |
to date under the BARDA contract.

The contract may be terminated by BARDA ten daysrajiving us notice of a material default whiclmegns uncured for ten days. In addit
BARDA is also permitted under applicable law tariérate the contract if it is in the U.S. governmebest interest.

The Regents of the University of California

In May 2002, we entered into a license agreemetit Wie Regents of the University of California (U@)der which we obtained an exclus
worldwide license to UC’s patent rights in certaimentions (the UC Patent Rights) related to lipahjugated antiviral compounds and their
including certain patents relating to brincidofoaimd CMX157. Under the license agreement, we amitied to research, develop, manufac
and commercialize products utilizing the UC PatReights for all human and veterinary uses, and fdicnse such rights subject to cer
sublicensing fees and royalty payments.

In consideration for the rights granted to us uritierlicense agreement, we issued UC an aggref&#, 88 shares of our common stock
connection to the development and commercializadifobrincidofovir and CMX157, we could be requiredpay UC up to an aggregate of §
million in milestone payments, assuming the achiexet of all applicable milestone events under thenke agreement. In addition, u
commercialization of any product utilizing the U@tént Rights, which would include brincidofovir 8MX157, we will be required to pay I
single digit royalties on net sales of such product

The license agreement requires that we diligerglyetbp, manufacture and commercialize compoundsatteacovered by the UC Patent Rig
and we have agreed to meet certain developmertandhercialization milestones. UC may, at its optiither terminate the license agreeme
change the license granted from an exclusive leednsa norexclusive license if we fail to meet such developtmand commercializatic
milestones. We are currently in compliance wittsthmilestone requirements.

Commercial Operations
In anticipation of potential regulatory approvatlasommercial launch of brincidofovir, we are buildiselect commercial functions in the Un

States tied to key milestones, such as availalilityopline data from the SUPPRESS and AdVisedyigbtential submission of the NDA
brincidofovir, and anticipated approval (or PD)alat
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Patients who receive HCT and SOTs are likely tdrbated at a small number of major medical certtgrspecialized teams of physicians
healthcare providers. There are approximately 2(8 tWansplant centers, with some overlap in periieg both procedures. The manageme
therapies for transplant patients is largely trepoasibility of transplant physicians, infectiousedise specialists, and clinical pharmacists
oversee post-transplant therapies. These clinid@ns on prevention and management of p@stsplant infections as one of their key priosi
Practice patterns for the management of transplatiénts and postansplant viral infections vary from institutioa institution across the Unit
States and are highly driven by research activéiespublications.

If approved either for the prevention of CMV p&$ET or the treatment of adenovirus infection, wédwe it is possible for us to commercial
brincidofovir for these indications in the Unitethf&s and potentially Canada with a relatively $mw@inmercial infrastructure, which may inclt
a contract sales force, partner sales force, ernat team. While our commercialization efforts Vebinitially be focused on physicians who
responsible for HCT recipients, this commercialrasfructure would serve as the foundation for apaesled focus on physicians who
responsible for SOT recipients, subject to markpgraval for the prevention of CMV infection in tipatient population.

Outside of the United States and Canada, subjamttiining necessary marketing approvals, we maly secommercialize brincidofovir throu
distribution or other collaboration arrangementswé elect to develop brincidofovir for other DNAral indications, we would plan to do
selectively either on our own or by establishinfpates with one or more pharmaceutical companiabotators, depending on, among o
things, the applicable indications, the relatedetigyment costs, reimbursement complexities anchaaitable resources.

Competition

Our industry is highly competitive and subject &pid and significant technological change. While bedieve that our therapeutic experiel
scientific and commercial knowledge provide us withmpetitive advantages, we will face competitioonf large and small pharmaceuti
biotechnology companies, including specialty phamgical and generic drug companies, and othergingetechnologies.

We believe that the key competitive factors thal affect the commercial success of brincidofovirdaour other product candidates are
efficacy, safety and tolerability profile and thiskibenefit tradesff compared to alternative therapies or procedusesuring market access .
reimbursement will be an important element of patdiptake and market penetration. Our commercipbdpnity could be negatively impacte:
our competitors develop or market products or oteehnologies that are more effective, safer oetgreater market access than brincidofovi
obtain regulatory approval for their products maapidly than we do. In addition, our ability to cpate will be affected by the availability
generic products.

If approved, brincidofovir would compete with a nioen of existing products and other product candsldahat target serious viral infectic
including drugs and vaccines which demonstrateaffi against viruses that affect our target pat@pulations. We believe brincidofovir t
potential benefits over the competitive produats)uding the potential to be the first antiviratiicated for the prevention of CMV in alloger
HCT recipients and treatment of disseminated Ad¥liogeneic HCT recipients. Competing products #ratcurrently used to treat CMV inclt
and are not limited to:

« oral and intravenous ganciclovir, a drug that isl &y generic manufacture

* Valcyte® (valganciclovir), a prodrug of gancielothat is marketed by Hoffmanba Roche Inc. and generic manufactul
« Vistide® (idofovir for injection), marketed by Gilead Scies¢ Inc. and generic manufacturers;

¢ Foscavir® foscarnet sodium for injection), marketed by ClenigGroup plc and generic manufactul

Other product candidates currently in developmieat inay compete against brincidofovir for the praigan or mitigation of CMV infection in
variety of settings, including:

* letermovir, an antEMV drug being developed pursuant to an exclusieddwide license agreement between AiCuris GmbH&
KG and Merck;

« ASP0113 (TransVax), a CMV prevention vaccine, Igmhto Astellas Pharma Inc. from Vical Incorporaéed in development |
Astellas and Vical; and

« patient-specific Teell therapies directed at antigens of CMV and ot NA viruses

Furthermore, we anticipate that we will face inteaad increasing competition as new products ¢émemarket, as advanced technologies be
available and as increasing numbers of genericutations of currently branded products become atstel
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Changes in the health care system may limit odityko price brincidofovir or our other productrudidates at a level that would allow recover
our research and development costs and may impedsdity to generate or maintain a profit.

We believe that brincidofovir has potential bersefiter existing and potential competitive prodastsiescribed in more detail under “Business
Brincidofovir.” As a result, we believe that brincidofovir shoulel Wwell positioned to gain market share if we obthia required regulato
approvals for brincidofovir. However, even with eobenefits, we may not be able to make promoticlaéins that brincidofovir is superior
these competing products without conducting adaictudies, and brincidofovir may be unable to peta successfully against these prod
See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Commerciatinadf Our Product Candidates.”

Our Intellectual Property

We strive to protect and enhance the proprietaciirtelogies we believe are important to our busingeduding by seeking and maintain
patents intended to cover our products and coniposijttheir methods of use and any other inventibasare important to the development of
business. We also rely on trade secrets to praggects of our business that are not amenable thaiowe do not consider appropriate for, p:
protection.

Our success will depend significantly on our apitiv obtain and maintain patent and other propyepaotection for commercially importe
technology, inventions and knomew related to our business, defend and enforc@atents, maintain licenses to our intellectuapprty owne:
by third parties, preserve the confidentiality off ¢drade secrets and operate without infringinguhkd and enforceable patents and proprie
rights of third parties.

We believe that we have a strong intellectual priyposition and substantial knolmew relating to the development and commerciatizatf ou
lipid conjugate technology platform and the ChimeZhemical Library.

At February 24, 2015, our worldwide patent portfahcluded:

« over 135 patents or patent applications thatowe or have iricensed from academic institutions, related ton@idofovir anc
CMX157, which represented a slight increase ovemilimber of patents and patent applications irpatent portfolio at the end

fiscal 2014;

« 21 patents and patent applications related to gueeanent with the University of Michigan regardiagr proprietary Chemic
Library; and

« 59 US and foreign exclusively and jointly ownedguas, and 78 U.S., PCT, and foreign applicatiotegting to brincidofovir o
CMX157.

On January 12, 2015 the United States Patent asudeiirark Office issued a Notice of Allowance foragemt application covering a methoc
synthesis and the commercial morphic form of bdofvir. On February 24, 2015, this patent isswe@himerix as U.S. Patent No. 8.962.¢
With the addition of this most recent patent, cosifian of matter coverage for brincidofovir in thleS. is expected to extend to October 2034.

Patents generally have a term of twenty years tlmrdate they are filed. As our patent portfolie baen built over time, the remaining term
the individual patents across our patent portfelimy. We believe that our patents and patent agidics are important for maintaining

competitive differentiation of our lipid-antiviradenjugate technology platform and the Chimerix CioaiLibrary, enhancing our freedom
action to sell our antivirals, upon appropriateutagpry approvals, in markets in which we choosgddicipate, and maximizing our return
research and development investments. No singénpatin itself essential to the conduct of ousibass as a whole.

We are also open to expanding our intellectual @rypportfolio through licensing intellectual prapefrom third parties as we deem appropr
We have granted and will continue to grant to atlieenses under our patents when we consider #dremegements to be in our interest.

Manufacturing

We do not own or operate and we do not expect to omoperate facilities for product manufacturistprage and distribution, or testing. In
past, we have relied on thighrty manufacturers for supply of our lead prociastdidate, brincidofovir, as well as our other prctdcandidate
We expect that in the future we will rely on suchrmafacturers for supply of drug substance and mtothat will be used in clinical trials
brincidofovir, as well as for commercial purposhsidd brincidofovir be approved. When produced mo@mercial scale, we expect that cost-of-
goods-sold relating to brincidofovir will generalig in-line with that of other small-molecule phaautical compounds.
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The manufacturing process for brincidofovir is tisaly straight forward and generally iime with other small molecule pharmaceut
compounds in terms of cost and complexity. The gseds robust and reproducible, does not requilecaled reactors or specialized equipn
uses common synthetic chemistry and readily auailataterials, including off-the-shelf and madestoer starting materials, and is rea
transferable.

Our current drug substance supply chain for briofcidir involves various contractors that supply ther materials for the drug substance prc
and a contract manufacturer for the drug substafNeehave completed transferring our current comiakdrug substance manufacturing pro
to our selected contractor that will produce theowrcial supply of drug substance and will begiocpss validation during 2015. Manufactu
of drug components must meet certain FDA qualiftcest with respect to manufacturing standards. Asent, we have qualified only one firm i
supplier of drug substance. We continually assassmanufacturing needs and may seek to engagdaddigualified vendors as circumstar
dictate. Changes in our requirements may requivalication of the manufacturing process at a déferscale and potentially at a differ
contractor depending on the necessary scale, infcigre and technical capabilities. To ensureioaity in our supply chain, we plan to estab
supply arrangements with alternative suppliercéstain portions of our supply chain, as appropriat

Our drug products (tablets and suspension) are raaufactured under contract. We have completeéldpment and transfer of our curr
commercial tablet and suspension manufacturing gas®s to our selected contractor that will prodcm@mercial supplies and will bey
validation of these process during 2015.

Manufacturing is subject to extensive regulatidmest impose various procedural and documentationinements, which govern record keep
manufacturing processes and controls, personnalitgigontrol and quality assurance, among oth@rs. systems and contractors are requir
be in compliance with these regulations, and thiassessed regularly through monitoring of perfogaaand a formal audit program. We F
personnel with extensive technical, manufacturamglytical and quality experience and strong ptajeanagement discipline to oversee con
manufacturing and testing activities, and to compiinufacturing and quality information for ourukgory submissions.

Pursuant to our license agreement with Contrake,mhanufacture of CMX157 is under the control ainection of ContraVir.
Government Regulation and Product Approval

Government authorities in the United States, atf¢deral, state and local level, and other cousteietensively regulate, among other things
research, development, testing, manufacture, guabitrol, approval, labeling, packaging, storage;ordkeeping, promotion, advertisir
distribution, postapproval monitoring and reporting, marketing angak and import of products such as those we aveldging. Any produt
candidate that we develop must be approved by & Ibefore it may be legally marketed in the Unitgthtes and by the appropriate fort
regulatory agency before it may be legally markétefdreign countries.

U.S. Drug Development Process

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs uttteiFederal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (FDCAY enplementing regulations. Drugs
also subject to other federal, state and localigatand regulations. The process of obtaininglaggny approvals and the subsequent compli
with appropriate federal, state, local and forestatutes and regulations require the expenditusalp$tantial time and financial resources. Fa
to comply with the applicable U.S. requirementarat time during the product development proces# Bpproval process or after FDA appro
may subject an applicant to administrative or jidicivil or criminal sanctions. FDA sanctions cduinclude refusal to approve penc
applications, withdrawal of an approval, clinicaldh warning letters, product recalls, product 8es, total or partial suspension of productic
distribution, injunctions, fines, refusals of gowerent contracts, debarment, restitution, disgorgerecivil or criminal penalties. Any agency
judicial enforcement action, whether before orrafte FDA approval process, could have a matedeéese effect on us. The process require
the FDA before a drug may be marketed in the Urfdtdes generally involves the following:

« completion of nonclinical laboratory tests, anirsaldies and formulation studies according to gadmbiatory practices (GLP),
other applicable regulations;

» submission to the FDA of an application for an INihich must become effective before human clinidals may begir

« performance of adequate and well-controlled hugimical trials according to the FD&'regulations commonly referred to as cul
good clinical practices (GCPs), to establish thetgaand efficacy of the proposed drug for its imted use;

* submission to the FDA of an NDA for a new di
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e satisfactory completion of an FDA inspection of thenufacturing facility or facilities where the drus produced to asst
compliance with the FDA current good manufacturing practice standard$/@jGto assure that the facilities, methods androta
are adequate to preserve the drug’s identity, gthemuality and purity;

« potential FDA inspection of the nonclinical andhatial trial sites that generated the data in suppthe NDA; and FDA review
the NDA.

The lengthy process of seeking required approvadsthe continuing need for compliance with applieagtatutes and regulations require
expenditure of substantial resources and appravalgherently uncertain.

Before testing any compounds with potential theséipesalue in humans, the drug candidate enterptaelinical testing stage. Preclinical te
also referred to as nonclinical studies, includmtatory evaluations of product chemistry, toxictyd formulation, as well as animal studie
assess the potential safety and activity of they drandidate. The conduct of the preclinical teststmtomply with federal regulations ¢
requirements including GLP. The sponsor must subimitresults of the preclinical tests, togethehwitanufacturing information, analytical d:
any available clinical data or literature and apmsed clinical protocol to the FDA as part of tN®l The IND automatically becomes effective
days after receipt by the FDA, unless the FDA @ate clinical trial on a clinical hold within th&0-day time period. In such a case, the
sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstandingeras before the clinical trial can begin. The FDAy also impose clinical holds on a ¢
candidate at any time before or during clinicalfridue to safety concerns or nmmpliance. Accordingly, we cannot be sure thatrgabion o
an IND will result in the FDA allowing clinical tais to begin, or that, once begun, issues willanisie that suspend or terminate such trial.

Clinical trials involve the administration of theug candidate to healthy subjects or affected ptieinder the supervision of qualif
investigators, generally physicians not employedobyinder the trial sponsar’control. Clinical trials are conducted under peols detailing
among other things, the objectives of the clintdal, dosing procedures, subject selection andusian criteria, and the parameters to be us
monitor subject safety. Each protocol must be stibthito the FDA as part of the IND. Clinical triatsust be conducted in accordance witr
FDA'’s regulations comprising the good clinical pradigequirements. Further, each clinical trial muet reviewed and approved by
independent institutional review board (IRB), atservicing each institution at which the clinicaht will be conducted. An IRB is charged w
protecting the welfare and rights of trial parteips and considers such items as whether thetdskslividuals participating in the clinical tri:
are minimized and are reasonable in relation twipated benefits. The IRB also approves the fonh eontent of the informed consent that r
be signed by each clinical trial subject or hiser legal representative and must monitor theddirtrial until completed.

Human clinical trials are typically conducted imeh sequential phases that may overlap or be ceutbin

« Phase 1. The drug is initially introduced int@ltiey human subjects and tested for safety, dosdgeance, absorption, metaboli
distribution and excretion. In the case of somelpats for severe or liféareatening diseases, especially when the prodagtha to
inherently toxic to ethically administer to healtiiglunteers, the initial human testing is oftendacted in patients.

¢« Phase 2. The drug is evaluated in a limited paf@pulation to identify possible adverse effemts safety risks, to preliminar
evaluate the efficacy of the product for specificgeted diseases and to determine dosage tolerapibeal dosage and dos
schedule.

« Phase 3. Clinical trials are undertaken to furthealuate dosage, clinical efficacy and safetarnexpanded patient populatior
geographically dispersed clinical trial sites. Tnetfinical trials are intended to establish theralleisk/benefit ratio of the prodt
and provide an adequate basis for product labeGegerally, two adequate and wedlntrolled Phase 3 clinical trials are require:
the FDA for approval of an NDA.

Postapproval clinical trials, sometimes referred tdPasise 4 clinical trials, may be conducted aftdraininarketing approval. These clinical tri
are used to gain additional experience from thetrmnent of patients in the intended therapeuticcititn.

Annual progress reports detailing the results efdlinical trials must be submitted to the FDA amttten IND safety reports must be prom
submitted to the FDA and the investigators foraesiand unexpected adverse events or any findamg tiests in laboratory animals that sugge
significant risk for human subjects. Phase 1, PRased Phase 3 clinical trials may not be complstextessfully within any specified period, i
all. The FDA or the sponsor or its data safety nwitig board may suspend a clinical trial at anyetion various grounds, including a finding
the research subjects or patients are being expgosadunacceptable health risk. Similarly, an €8 suspend or terminate approval of a clii
trial at its institution if the clinical trial isat being conducted in accordance with the IRBiquirements or if the drug has been associaity
unexpected serious harm to patients.
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Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usuatlymplete additional animal studies and must alseeldg additional information about 1
chemistry and physical characteristics of the drsigvell as finalize a process for manufacturingptoeluct in commercial quantities in accordz
with cGMP requirements. The manufacturing proceastrhe capable of consistently producing qualitighes of the drug candidate and, an
other things, must develop methods for testingideatity, strength, quality and purity of the firddug. Additionally, appropriate packaging
be selected and tested and stability studies mausbhducted to demonstrate that the drug canddise not undergo unacceptable deterior
over its shelf life.

U.S. Review and Approval Processes

The results of product development, nonclinicab&s and clinical trials, along with descriptiorfstloee manufacturing process, analytical t
conducted on the chemistry of the drug, proposkelilzg and other relevant information are submittethe FDA as part of an NDA request
approval to market the product. The submissiomdfBA is subject to the payment of substantial diees; a waiver of such fees may be obte
under certain limited circumstances.

In addition, under the Pediatric Research Equity ®REA), an NDA or supplement to an NDA must cantdata to assess the safety
effectiveness of the drug for the claimed indiaagion all relevant pediatric subpopulations andgupport dosing and administration for €
pediatric subpopulation for which the product ifesand effective. The FDA may grant deferrals faraission of data or full or partial waive
Unless otherwise required by regulation, PREA doasapply to any drug for an indication for whichplban designation has been gra
(discussed below).

The FDA reviews all NDAs submitted to determinghi€y are substantially complete before it acceptsnt for filing; this initial review peric
prior to accepting the NDA for filing is 2 months duration. Once the submission is accepted fimgfithe FDA begins an idepth review of th
NDA. Under the goals and policies agreed to byRB& under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act (PD)RAe FDA has 10 months from -
date of accepting the NDA for filing in which toroplete its initial review of a standard NDA andpesd to the applicant, and six months f
priority NDA. The FDA does not always meet its PDAU§oal dates for standard and priority NDAs. Theew process and the PDUFA goal ¢
may be extended by three months if the FDA requasstie NDA sponsor otherwise provides additioméibimation or clarification regardil
information already provided in the submission wtthe last three months before the PDUFA goal.date

After the NDA submission is accepted for filingetRDA reviews the NDA to determine, among othendki whether the proposed product is
and effective for its intended use, and whetherpitegluct is being manufactured in accordance W@MP to assure and preserve the product’
identity, strength, quality and purity. The FDA miafer applications for novel drug or biologicabgducts or drug or biological products wk
present difficult questions of safety or efficacyan advisory committee, typically a panel thatudes clinicians and other experts, for rev
evaluation and a recommendation as to whether gpécation should be approved and under what camdit The FDA is not bound by 1
recommendations of an advisory committee, but its@ters such recommendations carefully when mad#texsions. During the drug appro
process, the FDA also will determine whether a eg&luation and mitigation strategy (REMS), is resegy to assure the safe use of the dn
the FDA concludes a REMS is needed, the sponstiteoNDA must submit a proposed REMS. The FDA wit approve the NDA without
REMS, if required.

Before approving an NDA, the FDA will inspect thaeilities at which the product is manufactured. F@A will not approve the product unles
determines that the manufacturing processes aildiégcare in compliance with cGMP requirementsl atlequate to assure consistent produ
of the product within required specifications. Atitzhally, before approving an NDA, the FDA will tigally inspect one or more clinical sites
assure that the clinical trials were conductedoimgliance with IND study requirements. If the FD&termines that the application, manufactu
process or manufacturing facilities are not acdapté will outline the deficiencies in the subma@s and often will request additional testing
information.

The NDA review and approval process is lengthy difficult and the FDA may refuse to approve an NDhe applicable regulatory criteria i
not satisfied or may require additional clinicatadar other data and information. Even if such datd information is submitted, the FDA n
ultimately decide that the NDA does not satisfy ¢higeria for approval. Data obtained from clini¢aals are not always conclusive and the F
may interpret data differently than we interpret #ame data. The FDA will issue a complete resplatts if the agency decides not to appi
the NDA. The complete response letter usually diessrall of the specific deficiencies in the NDAemdified by the FDA. The deficienci
identified may be minor, for example, requiring élibg changes, or major, for example, requiringitioiahl clinical trials. Additionally, th
complete response letter may include recommendgéahachat the applicant might take to place thpliaption in a condition for approval. I
complete response letter is issued, the applicayteither resubmit the NDA, addressing all of teéadencies identified in the letter, or withdr
the application.
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If a product receives regulatory approval, the apal may be significantly limited to specific disea and dosages or the indications for use
otherwise be limited, which could restrict the coemoial value of the product. Further, the FDA mayguire that certain contraindicatic
warnings or precautions be included in the prodhlz¢ling. In addition, the FDA may require post keding clinical trials, sometimes referrec
as Phase 4 clinical trials testing, which involeéieical trials designed to further assess a driggifety and effectiveness and may require te
and surveillance programs to monitor the safetgpproved products that have been commercialized.

Orphan Drug Designation

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orpHasignation to a drug or biological product intethdo treat a rare disease or condi
which is generally a disease or condition thata@ffdewer than 200,000 individuals in the Unitedt&, or more than 200,000 individuals in
United States and for which there is no reasonaectation that the cost of developing and makimiyug or biological product available in
United States for this type of disease or conditidhbe recovered from sales of the product. Orppeoduct designation must be requested b
submitting an NDA. After the FDA grants orphan proddesignation, the identity of the therapeutierdgand its potential orphan use
disclosed publicly by the FDA. Orphan product deaigpn does not convey any advantage in or shdnmeluration of the regulatory review i
approval process.

If a product that has orphan designation subsetyuesteives the first FDA approval for the diseaseondition for which it has such designat
the product is entitled to orphan product exclugjwvhich means that the FDA may not approve ahgmoapplications to market the same dru
biological product for the same indication for sewears, except in limited circumstances, such stsoaving of clinical superiority to the prod
with orphan exclusivity. Competitors, however, nageive approval of different products for the @adion for which the orphan product

exclusivity or obtain approval for the same prodogt for a different indication for which the orpharoduct has exclusivity. Orphan proc
exclusivity also could block the approval of a protfor seven years if a competitor obtains apdro¥dhe same drug or biological produc
defined by the FDA or if a drug candidate is deiesd to be contained within the competitoproduct for the same indication or disease difuz
or biological product designated as an orphan mohceives marketing approval for an indicatioodater than what is designated, it may nc
entitled to orphan product exclusivity. Orphan dsigtus in the European Union has similar but detiical benefits to those provided in
United States.

Expedited Development and Review Progr.

The FDA has a Fast Track program that is intendegkpedite or facilitate the process for reviewiregv drugs and biological products that r
certain criteria. Specifically, new drugs and bgal products are eligible for Fast Track desigmaif they are intended to treat a serious or life
threatening condition and demonstrate the potetdighddress unmet medical needs for the condifi@st Track designation applies to
combination of the product and the specific indaratfor which it is being studied. Unique to a Faisaick product, the FDA may consider
review sections of the NDA on a rolling basis beftite complete application is submitted, if thersmo provides a schedule for the submissic
the sections of the NDA, the FDA agrees to acceptiens of the NDA and determines that the schedudeceptable, and the sponsor pays
required user fees upon submission of the firsi@eof the NDA.

Any product submitted to the FDA for marketing apl, including a Fast Track program, may also laghée for other types of FDA prograt
intended to expedite development and review, sagpriarity review and accelerated approval. Anydma is eligible for priority review if it h:
the potential to provide safe and effective theraynere no satisfactory alternative therapy exista gignificant improvement in the treatm:
diagnosis or prevention of a disease compared tietel products. The FDA will attempt to direct giddal resources to the evaluation of
application for a new drug or biological producsidmated for priority review in an effort to fatéte the review. Additionally, a product may
eligible for accelerated approval. Drug or biol@jigroducts studied for their safety and effectesnin treating serious or lifareatenin
illnesses and that provide meaningful therapeditefit over existing treatments may receive acagterapproval, which means that they ma
approved on the basis of adequate and waitrolled clinical trials establishing that theoguct has an effect on a surrogate endpoint tl
reasonably likely to predict a clinical benefit, @ the basis of an effect on a clinical endpotheothan survival or irreversible morbidity. A
condition of approval, the FDA may require thatparssor of a drug or biological product receivingelerated approval perform adequate
well-controlled postmarketing clinical trials to establish safety affficacy for the approved indication. In additiohetFDA currently requires
a condition for accelerated approval pgeroval of promotional materials, which could adety impact the timing of the commercial launc
the product. Fast Track designation, priority revieand accelerated approval do not change the stsdar approval but may expedite
development or approval process.
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Pos-Approval Requirements

Any drug products for which we or our strategidaaite partners receive FDA approvals are subjectotttinuing regulation by the FD
including, among other things, recdkdeping requirements, reporting of adverse expeeenvith the product, providing the FDA with upai
safety and efficacy information, product samplingd adistribution requirements, complying with cemtaélectronic records and signai
requirements and complying with FDA promotion armtVextising requirements. These promotion and abiegt agreements include, amt
others, standards for direct-to-consumer advegjgnomoting drugs for uses or in patient populaithat are not described in the dsugpprove
labeling (known as “off-label use”), industsponsored scientific and educational activitiesj anomotional activities involving the interr
Failure to comply with FDA requirements can have@aie consequences, including adverse publicityjpreement letters from the FC
mandated corrective advertising or communicatiorith \doctors, and civil or criminal penalties. Aligh physicians may prescribe leg
available drugs for off-label uses, manufactureay mot market or promote such off-label uses.

We will rely, and expect to continue to rely, oirdhparties for the production of clinical and comntial quantities of any products that we |
commercialize. Our strategic alliance partners ralsp utilize third parties for some or all of a ¢guet we are developing with such strat
alliance partner. Manufacturers of our productsrarpiired to comply with applicable FDA manufaatgrirequirements contained in the FRA’
cGMP regulations. cGMP regulations require amomgiothings, quality control and quality assurarevall as the corresponding maintenanc
records and documentation. Drug manufacturers #met @ntities involved in the manufacture and thistion of approved drugs are require:
register their establishments with the FDA andaisrstate agencies, and are subject to periodionmaced inspections by the FDA and ce
state agencies for compliance with cGMP and oth@sl Accordingly, manufacturers must continue tpeex time, money, and effort in the ¢
of production and quality control to maintain cGMé&mpliance. Discovery of problems with a produt¢rmépproval may result in restrictions ¢
product, manufacturer, or holder of an approved ND#luding withdrawal of the product from the metrkIn addition, changes to -
manufacturing process generally require prior FIpAraval before being implemented and other typeshahges to the approved product, sut
adding new indications and additional labelingrolgi are also subject to further FDA review and apaic

The FDA also may require postarketing testing, known as Phase 4 testing, rislnnization action plans and surveillance to monite effect
of an approved product or place conditions on g@al that could restrict the distribution or usehe product.

U.S. Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Excltysiv

Depending upon the timing, duration and speciffche FDA approval of the use of our drug candidaseme of our United States patents mz
eligible for limited patent term extension undez rug Price Competition and Patent Term Restaradict of 1984, commonly referred to as
Hatch-Waxman Amendments. The HaWdfaxman Amendments permit a patent restoration o to five years as compensation for pe
term lost during product development and the FDgulatory review process. However, patent term raftisn cannot extend the remaining t
of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from thelpcts approval date. The patent term restoratenog is generally onbalf the time between t
effective date of an IND and the submission datarofMNDA, plus the time between the submission daten NDA and the approval of tl
application. Only one patent applicable to an appdodrug is eligible for the extension and the imagilon for the extension must be submi
prior to the expiration of the patent. The Unitet8s Patent and Trademark Office, in consultatiith the FDA, reviews and approves
application for any patent term extension or regton. In the future, we may apply for restoratadrpatent term for one of our currently owne:
licensed patents to add patent life beyond itserurexpiration date, depending on the expectedtheafythe clinical trials and other fact
involved in the filing of the relevant NDA.

Market exclusivity provisions under the FDCA casaatielay the submission or the approval of cedajlications of other companies seekin
reference another company’s NDA. The FDCA providdive-year period of nopatent marketing exclusivity within the United &&to the firs
applicant to obtain approval of an NDA for a nevewtical entity. A drug is a new chemical entityhEtFDA has not previously approved
other new drug containing the same active moietyickvis the molecule or ion responsible for theccof the drug substance. During
exclusivity period, the FDA may not accept for ewian abbreviated new drug application (ANDA), ds0b(b)(2) NDA submitted by anott
company for another version of such drug whereafsigicant does not own or have a legal right oénexfice to all the data required for appre
However, an application may be submitted after faars if it contains a certification of patentatidity or noninfringement to one of the pate
listed with the FDA by the innovator NDA holder. 8FDCA also provides three years of marketing esteity for an NDA, or supplement to
existing NDA if new clinical investigations, othfran bioavailability studies, that were conductedmonsored by the applicant are deemed k
FDA to be essential to the approval of the applbcatfor example new indications, dosages or sttengf an existing drug. This thrgea
exclusivity covers only the conditions associatathwhe new clinical investigations and does nathibit the FDA from approving ANDAS fi
drugs containing the original active agent. Fivaryend three-year
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exclusivity will not delay the submission or appabef a full NDA. However, an applicant submittiagull NDA would be required to conduct
obtain a right of reference to all of the preclalistudies and adequate and veelhtrolled clinical trials necessary to demonstisdéety an
effectiveness. Pediatric exclusivity is anotheretyyf regulatory market exclusivity in the Unitecaes. Pediatric exclusivity, if granted, adds
months to existing exclusivity periods and patemtris. This sixnonth exclusivity, which runs from the end of otlexclusivity protection ¢
patent term, may be granted based on the voluptanpletion of a pediatric trial in accordance wath FDA-issued “Written Requesir such
trial.

Reimbursemer

Sales of pharmaceutical products depend in sigmifipart on the availability of third-party reimsament. Thir¢party payors include governm
health programs such as Medicare and Medicaid, gegheare providers, private health insurers andraitganizations. These thipdty payor
are increasingly challenging the price and exangirtime coseffectiveness of medical products and servicedudiireg prescription drugs.
addition, significant uncertainty exists as to teenbursement status of newly approved prescriglimgs and other healthcare products. We
need to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic stiiesder to demonstrate the castectiveness of any of our products that is susfcdly
developed and approved. Our product candidatesnoige considered costfective. It is time consuming and expensive tekseimburseme
from thirdparty payors. Reimbursement may not be availabkuficient to allow the sale of any of our prodittat is successfully develog
and approved on a competitive and profitable basis.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, andd®taization Act of 2003 (MMA), established the Meatie Part D program to provid:
voluntary prescription drug benefit to Medicare dligiaries. Under Part D, Medicare beneficiarieyraaroll in prescription drug plans offered
private entities to provide coverage of outpatipréscription drugs. Part D plans include both stallotie prescription drug benefit plans

prescription drug coverage as a supplement to Megliddvantage plans. Unlike Medicare Parts A anBdt D coverage is not standardized.
D prescription drug plan sponsors are not requiogaly for all covered Part D drugs, and each Bastescription drug plan can develop its «
drug formulary that identifies which drugs it walbver and at what tier or level. However, Part Bsgription drug formularies must include dr
within each therapeutic category and class of @/&art D drugs, although not necessarily all efdrugs within each category or class.

formulary used by a Part D prescription drug plarshibe developed and reviewed by a pharmacy andpbetic committee.

It is not clear what longerm effect the MMA will have on the prices paid turrently approved drugs and the pricing optifomewly approve
drugs. Government payment for some of the cospseascription drugs may increase demand for anyofpooducts that is successfully develc
and approved. However, any negotiated prices fopoaducts covered by a Part D prescription dragplill likely be lower than the prices
might otherwise obtain. Moreover, although the MMfplies only to drug benefits for Medicare benefies, private payors often follc
Medicare coverage policy and payment limitationsetting their own payment rates. Accordingly, aaguction in payment that results from
MMA may result in a similar reduction in paymentsrh non-governmental payors.

We expect that there will continue to be a numlidederal and state proposals to implement goventah@ricing controls and limit the growth
healthcare costs, including the cost of prescniptitvugs. Currently, Medicare is prohibited from oggting directly with pharmaceutic
companies for drugs. However, the U.S. Congressimtne future consider legislation that would tlie ban on federal negotiations.

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2pfi®/ides funding for the federal government to carepthe effectiveness of differ
treatments for the same illness. A plan for theaesh would be developed by the Department of Hesmdd Human Services, the Agency
Healthcare Research and Quality and the Natiorsitlites of Health, and periodic reports on théustaf the research and related expendi
would be made to the U.S. Congress. Although thalt® of the comparative effectiveness studiesnaténtended to mandate coverage pol
for public or private payors, it is not clear whathesearch would have any effect on the saleaybfiour products that is successfully develc
and approved, if the product or the condition tiias intended to treat becomes the subject ofudystlt is also possible that compara
effectiveness research demonstrating benefitsooingpetitors product could adversely affect the sales of dnyuo products that is successfi
developed and approved. If third-party payors diocomsider our products to be cestective compared to other available therapiesy tinay nc
cover our products after approval as a benefit utitar plans or, if they do, the level of paymemty not be sufficient to allow us to sell
products on a profitable basis.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (AC#s amended by the Health Care and Educatiorrdéfulity Reconciliation Act of 2010,
expected to have a significant impact on the hezlth industry. The ACA is expected to expand cayerfor the uninsured while at the same
containing overall healthcare costs. Among othérgth the ACA is expected to expand and increadasiny rebates for drugs covered ui
Medicaid programs and make changes to the coveeagirements under the Medicare Part D programcivimot predict the impact of the Al
on pharmaceutical companies because many of the ACA
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reforms require the promulgation of detailed retiates to implement the statutory provisions, whiels not yet occurred. In addition, althougt
United States Supreme Court has upheld the cotistitlity of most of the ACA, some states have éatled that they intend not to implenr
certain sections of the ACA and some members obtle Congress are still working to repeal the ACRAese challenges add to the uncertain
the effects of the ACA.

The Physician Payment Sunshine Act (Sunshine Adtich was enacted as part of ACA, requires covenadufacturers of drugs covered ur
Medicare, Medicaid or the Children'Health Insurance Program to report annually & Secretary of the Department of Health and Ht
Services payments or other transfers of value rbgdbat entity, or by a third party as directedthst entity, to physicians and teaching hosp
or to third parties on behalf of physicians or téag hospitals, during the course of the precedaigndar year. The final rule implementing
Sunshine Act, published on February 8, 2013, reguitata collection on payments to begin on Augu&0L3. Failure to submit requi
information may result in civil monetary penaltigsup to $150,000 per year (up to $1 million pearytor “knowing failures”)for all payments
transfers of value or ownership or investment gg&s not reported in an annual submission.

If not preempted by the ACA, several states regpirarmaceutical manufacturers to report expendatng to the marketing and promotion
pharmaceutical products and to report gifts andm@ts to individual physicians in the states. Otstates prohibit providing various ot
marketing related activities. Still other statequiee the posting of information relating to cliaicstudies and their outcomes. In addition, s
states, such as California, Nevada and Massachusetiuire pharmaceutical manufacturers to impléngempliance programs or market
codes. Currently, several additional states aresidening similar proposals. Compliance with thesed is difficult and time consuming, &
companies that do not comply with these state faas civil penalties.

In some foreign countries, the proposed pricingafairug must be approved before it may be lawfulérketed. The requirements governing
pricing vary widely from country to country. Fora@rple, the European Union provides options fomitsmber states to restrict the rang
medicinal products for which their respective nadibhealth insurance systems provide reimbursemedtto control the prices of medici
products for human use. A member state may appaospecific price for the medicinal product or ityriastead adopt a system of direc
indirect controls on the profitability of the compaplacing the medicinal product on the market.réhsan be no assurance that any countn
has price controls or reimbursement limitationsgharmaceutical products will allow favorable reurdement and pricing arrangements for
of our products for which we receive marketing awat. Historically, the price structures for prothitaunched in the European Union do
follow those of the United States and tend to geificantly lower.

Europe / Rest of World Government Regula

In addition to regulations in the United States,amel our strategic alliance partners will be subje@ variety of regulations in other jurisdicts
governing, among other things, clinical trials amy commercial sales and distribution of our prasiuc

Whether or not we or our collaborators obtain FOppraval for a product, we must obtain the requiajpprovals from regulatory authorities
foreign countries prior to the commencement oficdihtrials or marketing of the product in thoseigtiies. Certain countries outside of the Ur
States have a similar process that requires themission of a clinical trial application much likeet IND prior to the commencement of hur
clinical trials. In the European Union, for exampeclinical trial application (CTA), must be sulttad to each countrg’national health author
and an independent ethics committee, much likeRD& and IRB, respectively. Once the CTA is approwedaccordance with a countsy’
requirements, clinical trial development may pratee

The requirements and process governing the comdwdinical trials, product licensing, pricing aneéimbursement vary from country to coun
In all cases, the clinical trials are conducteddénordance with GCP and the applicable regulatuirements and the ethical principles that
their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki.

To obtain regulatory approval of an investigatiodallg or biological product under European Uniogutatory systems, we or our strate
alliance partners must submit a marketing authtbamaapplication. The application used to file thBA or a Biologics License Application in t
United States is similar to that required in thedpean Union, with the exception of, among othargs, country-specific document requirements.

For other countries outside of the European Unsuth as countries in Eastern Europe, Latin AmeasicAsia, the requirements governing
conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pnig and reimbursement vary from country to countryall cases, again, the clinical trials
conducted in accordance with GCP and the applia&glelatory requirements and the ethical principhed have their origin in the Declaratior
Helsinki.
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If we or our strategic alliance partners fail tarqay with applicable foreign regulatory requiremgnive may be subject to, among other th
fines, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory appl®, product recalls, seizure of products, opegatéstrictions and criminal prosecution.

Environmental, Health and Safety Regulations

We are subject to various environmental, health safdty regulations, including those governing tabary procedures and the handling,
storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous sudestaFrom time to time, and in the future, ourraf)ens may involve the use of hazarc
materials.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014 , we had 76 full-time emets. Of these employees, &Mployees are engaged in research and developictevities
and 19employees are engaged in marketing, finance, leégahan resources, facilities and general manageméntave no collective bargain
agreements with our employees and we have notiexped any work stoppages. We consider our rekatigth our employees to be good.
Corporate Information

We were incorporated in the State of Delaware imilA2000. Our corporate headquarters are locate®586 Meridian Parkway, Suite 3
Durham, North Carolina 27713 in a facility we leaseompassing approximately 21,000 square feeffioskcspace. The leases for this fac
expire in June 2015 and February 2018. We separig®ée an additional 7,925 square feet of laboyapace in Durham, North Carolina.
lease for this facility expires in June 2018.

Our corporate website address is www.chimerix.cbhe information contained on, or that can be a@mkb#srough, our website is not part of

Annual Report, and the inclusion of our websiterads in this Annual Report is an inactive textef¢rence only.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Except for the historical information contained &er or incorporated by reference, this Annual Repaord the information incorporated
reference contains forwarkboking statements that involve risks and uncettain These statements include projections aboutresearch
development and commercialization efforts, our aatiog and finances, plans and objectives for tieire, future operating and econotl
performance and other statements regarding futeggomance. These statements are not guarantelesusé performance or events. Our act
results may differ materially from those discushede. Factors that could cause or contribute tdedénces in our actual results include th
discussed in the following section, as well as e¢hdiscussed in Part I, Item 7 entitled “ManagemerDiscussion and Analysis of Finan
Condition and Results of Operationahd elsewhere throughout this Annual Report anahiy other documents incorporated by reference tinis
Annual Report. You should consider carefully tHiofang risk factors, together with all of the othieformation included or incorporated in tt
Annual Report. Each of these risk factors, eithlena or taken together, could adversely affect business, operating results and finan
condition, as well as adversely affect the valuarofnvestment in our common stock. There may Heiaakal risks that we do not presently kr
of or that we currently believe are immaterial whimould also impair our business and financial fiosi.

An investment in shares of our common stock insavligh degree of risk. You should carefully coesthe following information about the
risks, together with the other information appeagrielsewhere in this Annual Report, before decidimgnvest in our common stock. -
occurrence of any of the following risks could havmaterial adverse effect on our business, firlmndition, results of operations and fut
growth prospects. In these circumstances, the nhariee of our common stock could decline, and @y lose all or part of your investme

Risks Related To Our Financial Condition and Need &r Additional Capital

We have incurred significant losses since our intiep. We anticipate that we will continue to incwignificant losses for the foreseeal
future, and we may never achieve or maintain prafiility.

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused priynarildeveloping our lead product candidate, briofcdir. We have incurred significant 1
losses in each year since our inception, includieglosses of $ 59.3 million , $ 36.4 million andl.g million for the fiscal years ended 2014
2013 and 2012, respectively. As of December 3142Qve had an accumulated deficit of approxima$e®22.0 million .

To date, we have financed our operations primdhhpugh the sale of equity securities and, to adegxtent, through government fund
licensing fees and debt. We have devoted most offioancial resources to research and developniedtjding our preclinical developme
activities and clinical trials. We have not comptétdevelopment of any product candidates. We expecbntinue to incur losses and nege
cash flows for the foreseeable future. The sizewflosses will depend, in part, on the rate ofifeitexpenditures and our ability to gene
revenues. In particular, we expect to incur sultietband increased expenses as we:

« continue the development of our lead product caatdidbrincidofovir, for the prevention of cytomematus (CMV) infection i
hematopoietic cell transplant recipients;

e continue the development of brincidofovir for theatment of adenovirus (AdV) infectic

« seek to obtain regulatory approvals for brincidarfy

« prepare for the potential commercialization of bidlofovir;

« scaleup manufacturing capabilities to commercialize tidofovir for any indications for which we receix@gulatory approve

* begin outsourcing of the commercial manufacturihgrmmcidofovir for any indications for which weceive regulatory approvi

« establish an infrastructure for the sales, margedimd distribution of brincidofovir for any indi¢gans for which we receive regulatt
approval;

« expand our research and development activitiesadwdnce our clinical progran

e maintain, expand and protect our intellectual prtypeortfolio;

« continue our research and development efforts aekl t discover additional product candidates

e add operational, financial and management infolwnatsystems and personnel, including personnel fmpati our produt
development and commercialization efforts and djmra as a public company.

To become and remain profitable, we must succeel@weloping and eventually commercializing prodweith significant market potential. Tt
will require us to be successful in a range of lemaling activities, including discovering produeindidates, completingreclinical testing ar
clinical trials of our product candidates, obtagregulatory approval for these product
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candidates, and manufacturing, marketing and getlinse products for which we may obtain regulaapgroval. We are only in the prelimin
stages of some of these activities.

To date, we have not completed Phase 3 clinicabtdr obtained regulatory approval for any of product candidates, and none of our pro
candidates have been commercialized. We may nemeeed in developing or commercializing any of ptwduct candidates. If our prod
candidates are not successfully developed or comatieed, or if revenues from any products thateleive regulatory approvals are insuffici
we will not achieve profitability and our businesay fail. Even if we successfully obtain regulatapproval to market our product candidate
the United States, our revenues are also depengent the size of markets outside of the UnitedeStaas well as our ability to obtain ma
approval and achieve commercial success outsitteedfnited States.

Even if we do achieve profitability, we may notdigle to sustain or increase profitability on a ¢y or annual basis. Our failure to become
remain profitable would depress the value of oungany and could impair our ability to raise capiedpand our business, diversify our proi
offerings or continue our operations. A declinghia value of our company could cause you to ldsergdart of your investment.

Our ability to generate future revenues from produsales is uncertain and depends upon our abilitysuccessfully develop, obtain regulat
approval for, and commercialize our product candida.

Our ability to generate revenue and achieve ptufita depends on our ability, alone or with coltabtors, to successfully complete
development, obtain the necessary regulatory apggs@nd commercialize our product candidates. Wead@nticipate generating revenues f
sales of our product candidates for the foresedahlee. Our ability to generate future revenuestiproduct sales depends heavily on our su
in:

« obtaining favorable results for and advancing teeetbpment of brincidofovir, initially for the premtion of CMV in hematopoiel
cell transplant (HCT) recipients, including sucdekg completing Phase 3 clinical development;

* obtaining accelerated approval in the United Stétebrincidofovir, initially for the prevention dEMV infection in HCT recipient:

e obtaining United States and foreign regulatory apails for brincidofovir for the treatment of adeirog infection

* launching and commercializing brincidofovir, inclnd establishing a sales force and collaboratirtd iird parties

« achieving broad market acceptance of brincidiofiohe medical community and with thipghrty payors

e obtaining traditional approval in the United Stdiasbrincidofovir for CMV prevention; ar

e generating a pipeline of product candidates whidyess to clinical developme

Conducting preclinical testing and clinical trigdsa timeeonsuming, expensive and uncertain process thas tagars to complete, and we 1
never generate the necessary data required tonabgulatory approval and achieve product sales.adticipated development costs would lit
increase if we do not obtain favorable resultsfaeivelopment of our product candidates is delayegharticular, we would likely incur high
costs than we currently anticipate if developmeinbur product candidates is delayed because weaeapgred by the U.S. Food and D
Administration (FDA) or foreign regulatory authaéei to perform studies or trials in addition togbdhat we currently anticipate. Because o
numerous risks and uncertainties associated witlrnphiceutical product development, we are unablprédict the timing or amount of a
increase in our anticipated development costs.

In addition, our product candidates, if approvedymot achieve commercial success. Our commemianues, if any, will be derived from s¢
of products that we do not expect to be commeycalailable for a number of years, if at all. Eveone or more of our product candidate
approved for commercial sale, we anticipate inagrsignificant costs in connection with commereiation. As a result, we cannot assure yot
we will be able to generate revenues from salemgfapproved product candidates, or that we wilile@ or maintain profitability even if we
generate sales.

If we fail to obtain additional financing, we couldbe forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our protidevelopment programs, seek corpol
partners for the development of our product devetognt programs or relinquish or license on unfavorabterms, our rights to technologies
product candidates

Developing pharmaceutical products, including catithg preclinical studies and clinical trials, istime-consuming, expensive and uncer
process that takes years to complete. We expectesearch and development expenses to increasenirection with our ongoing activitie
particularly as we advance our clinical progranrsbiincidofovir.

Our existing cash, cash equivalents and staor+ investments, will enable us to fund our opegaexpenses and capital requirements into :
Such operating and capital requirements do notecoplate incremental expenses associated with adale commercial launch of brincidofo
However, changing circumstances beyond our conteyl cause us to consume capital
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more rapidly than we currently anticipate. For eg@mour clinical trials may encounter technicaiyaiment or other difficulties that cot
increase our development costs more than we expjemtéecause the FDA or foreign regulatory autlesrirequires us to perform studies or t
in addition to those that we currently anticipafée may need to raise additional funds if we chaoseitiate clinical trials for our produ
candidates other than brincidofovir. In any ever,will require additional capital to commerciali@er lead product candidate, brincidofovir.

On May 1, 2014, we filed a shelf registration statat with the Securities and Exchange Commissi®@CjShat was declared effective by
SEC on May 16, 2014. The shelf registration statéralows us to issue shares of our common stodkpaeferred stock, various series of (
securities and warrants to purchase any of sualries, up to a total aggregate offering prices200.0 million from time to time in one or m
offerings. As of December 31, 2014, we had sold@pmately $119.4 million of our common stock undeis shelf registration statement.
October 29, 2014, we filed an automatic shelf tegfion statement which immediately became effechy rule of the SEC on October 29, 2(
For so long as we continue to satisfy the requirem& be deemed a wddhown seasoned issuer, this shelf registratiorestant allows us
issue shares of our common stock up to a totaleagge offering price of $150.0 million from timettme in one or more offerings. As of the ¢
hereof we had sold approximately $121.7 milliomof common stock under this shelf registrationestent.

Securing additional financing may divert our mamaget from our day-talay activities, which may adversely affect our ipito develop an
commercialize our product candidates, includingididofovir. In addition, we cannot guarantee thatife financing will be available in sufficie
amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at allidfare unable to raise additional capital whemired or on acceptable terms, we may be req
to:

« significantly delay, scale back or discontinue tHevelopment or commercialization of our product didates, includin
brincidofovir;

« seek corporate partners for brincidofovir or anyof other product candidates at an earlier stage dtherwise would be desira
or on terms that are less favorable than mightretise be available; or

« relinquish or license on unfavorable terms, ouhtsgo technologies or product candidates that terwise would seek to deve
or commercialize ourselves.

If we are unable to raise additional capital irfisiént amounts or on terms acceptable to us, Web&iprevented from pursuing development
commercialization efforts, which will have a mastradverse effect on our business, operating eanldl prospects and on our ability to dev
our product candidates.

Risks Related To Clinical Development and Regulatg Approval

We depend on the success of our lead product casgidbrincidofovir, which is still under clinical dvelopment, and may not obtain regulat
approval or be successfully commercialized.

We have not marketed, distributed or sold any petsdurhe success of our business depends uporbility to develop and commercialize «
lead product candidate, brincidofovir, which hampteted a Phase 2 clinical trial for the preventét€MV infection in adult HCT recipients.
August 2013 we initiated a Phase 3 trial, knowiSE®PRESS, for the prevention of CMV infection inHf&cipients. We intend to use this t
as a basis to submit a new drug application (NDAjJhe FDA under the accelerated approval pathwakisg regulatory approval to mar
brincidofovir in the United States and to file egplent applications outside the United Stateshinfirst quarter of 2014, we initiated a sec
Phase 3 clinical trial of brincidofovir, known asi¥ise, for the treatment of AdV infection immunogammised patients, with the majority be
HCT recipients. We are currently in discussion$wit) regulatory authorities related to the posisjbif receiving an approval related to AdVi
Additionally, we intend to conduct a CMV preventitial in solid organ transplant recipients to ilithe requirements for traditional approval
prevention of CMV infection. The study design fortral for the prevention of CMV infection in solidrgan transplant recipients is un
discussion with the FDA and European health autlsriThere is no guarantee that our Phase 3 alitrials will be completed or, if complet
will be successful. The success of brincidofovill deépend on several factors, including the follogyi

« successful completion of nonclinical studies antteasful enroliment and completion of clinicallsj

« receipt of marketing approvals from the FDA andresponding regulatory authorities outside the WhiBtates for our prodt
candidates;

« establishing commercial manufacturing capabaitieither by building such facilities ourselvesntaking arrangements with third-
party manufacturers;

* launching commercial sales of the product, whesth@me or in collaboration with othe

¢ acceptance of the product by patients, the nabdmmmunity and thirgharty payors

« effectively competing with other therapi

¢ acontinued acceptable safety profile of the proéltowing approval; an
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e obtaining, maintaining, enforcing and defendinglieictual property rights and clair

If we do not achieve one or more of these factors fimely manner or at all, we could experiengmificant delays or an inability to successf
commercialize brincidofovir, which would materialarm our business.

We have never obtained regulatory approval for aigrand we may be unable to obtain, or may be dedbiyeobtaining, regulatory approval fc
brincidofovir.

We have never obtained regulatory approval foneydit is possible that the FDA and/or foreign iealuthorities may refuse to accept our N
(or corresponding application) for substantive eavior may conclude after review of our data that application is insufficient to obte
regulatory approval of brincidofovir.

As an example, the control for the AdVise triabiistoric control, which means that the clinicatammes as recorded for similar patients a
same institutions that are participating in enrelirnfor AdVise will be used as the comparison Far patients who are enrolling in our pivotal |
for the treatment of adenovirus infection. Eachjettbenrolled in AdVise will have two matched cardrfor clinical outcomes including mortali
Trials which employ historic controls have specifigks which are unique and are in addition togisk trials which randomize some patient
placebo or to an active comparator drug. Regulaview of these trials may incur additional risks.

If the FDA and/or foreign health authorities doest accept or approve our application, we may beilired to conduct additional clinic
nonclinical or manufacturing validation studies autbmit those data before reconsideration of opliegion occurs. Depending on the exter
these or any other required studies, approval gfNIDA or application that we submit may be delaysdseveral years, or may require u
expend more resources than we have available. disis possible that additional studies, if perfainaad completed, may not be consid
sufficient by the FDA and/or foreign health authies to approve our NDA/application.

Any delay in obtaining, or an inability to obtaiggulatory approvals would prevent us from comnadiming brincidofovir, generating revent
and achieving and sustaining profitability. If amfythese outcomes occur, we may be forced to almaododevelopment efforts for brincidofo
which would have a material adverse effect on ausiriess and could potentially cause us to ceasatigres.

We depend on the successful completion of clinitadls for our product candidates, including brindofovir. The positive clinical resul
obtained for our product candidates in prior clini studies may not be repeated in future clinicaligies.

Before obtaining regulatory approval for the salear product candidates, including brincidofowire must conduct extensive clinical trials
demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our prodaadidates in humans. Clinical testing is expensiificult to design and implement, can t
many years to complete and is uncertain as to mecd failure of one or more of our clinical trialan occur at any stage of testing. The outc
of preclinical testing and early clinical trials ynaot be predictive of the success of later clihidals, and interim results of a clinical triab chor
necessarily predict final results. Moreover, prackl and clinical data are often susceptible toyivey interpretations and analyses, and n
companies that have believed their product canetdperformed satisfactorily in preclinical studée®l clinical trials have nonetheless faile
obtain marketing approval for their products.

We have completed a Phase 2 clinical study ofclofovir for the prevention of CMV infection in HiCrecipients and recently complete
Phase 2 study of brincidofovir as preemptive therfmp asymptomatic AdV infection in HCT recipientdowever, we have never complete
pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial. The positive resulie have seen to date in our Phase 2 clinicaldfibrincidofovir for the prevention of CMV
HCT recipients or our Phase 2 trial of brincidofoas preemptive therapy for asymptomatic AdV irifecido not ensure that later clinical trii
such as our currently enrolling Phase 3 SUPPRES&ISatrd AdVise trial, and any additional PhaseiBicl trials, will demonstrate similar resu
Product candidates in later stages of clinicalldriaay fail to show the desired safety and efficabpracteristics despite having progre
satisfactorily through preclinical studies andialitclinical testing. A number of companies in thiearmaceutical and biotechnology indust
including those with greater resources and expegid¢inan us, have suffered significant setbackhas® 3 clinical development, even after se
promising results in earlier clinical trials.
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We may experience a number of unforeseen eventsgidur as a result of, clinical trials for our drect candidates, including brincidofovir, t
could adversely affect the completion of our clatitials, including:

e regulators or institutional review boards may natharize us or our investigators to commence adglirtrial or conduct a clinic
trial at a prospective trial site;

« clinical trials of our product candidates may proelunegative or inconclusive results, and we mayddeor regulators may requ
us, to conduct additional clinical trials or abangwoduct development programs;

« we might be required to change one of our clinieakarch organizations (CROs) during ongoing @incograms

< the number of subjects required for clinical triafsour product candidates may be larger than wiipate, enrollment in the
clinical trials may be insufficient or slower thame anticipate or subjects may drop out of thesgazl trials at a higher rate than
anticipate;

e our thirdparty contractors may fail to comply with regulgtaequirements or meet their contractual obligatiom us in a timel
manner, or at all;

« we might have to suspend or terminate clinicalldriaf our product candidates for various reasonsluding a finding that tt
subjects are being exposed to unacceptable héskid) r

* regulators or institutional review boards may reguhat we or our investigators suspend or terreicéibical research for vario
reasons, including noncompliance with regulatogureements;

« the cost of clinical trials of our product candeimay be greater than we anticig

e agency or judicial enforcement actions which impagtclinical trials

« the supply or quality of our product candidatestiver materials necessary to conduct clinicaldridlour product candidates may
insufficient or inadequate; and

e our product candidates may have undesirable sifdetefor other unexpected characteristics, causg\@r our investigators
suspend or terminate the trials.

Negative or inconclusive results of our Phase 3BRIESS trial of brincidofovir, or any other clinidall we conduct, could cause the FDA an
foreign health authorities to require that we répgaconduct additional clinical studies. Desplte results reported in earlier clinical trials
brincidofovir, we do not know whether SUPPRESS my ather clinical trials we may conduct will demtmase adequate efficacy and safet
result in regulatory approval to market our prodzemdidates, including brincidofovir. If later seaglinical trials do not produce favorable res
our ability to obtain regulatory approval for oungduct candidates, including brincidofovir, mayduversely impacted.

We are developing brincidofovir to treat patienthavare extremely ill, and patient deaths that occur our clinical trials could negativel
impact our business even if they are not shown &rblated to brincidofovir.

We are developing our lead product candidate, lfiriovir, for the prevention of CMV infection in HCrecipients through the Phas
SUPPRESS trial. These patients receive an HCTpagemtial cure or remission for many cancers ametie disorders.

We are also planning to initiate a Phase 3 of mofovir for the prevention of CMV infection in gdlorgan transplant recipients.

To prepare for their transplant, such patientsiveca pre-transplant conditioning regimen, whicholwves highdose chemotherapy and may
include radiation therapy. The conditioning reginsemppresses the patienimmune system and/or own bone marrow in ordg@réeent it fron
attacking the newly transplanted organ. Generagltients remain at high risk during the first 108ysl following their transplant and are
increased risk of infections during that periodjekihcan be serious and even life threatening ddieeio weakened immune systems.

We are also conducting a Phase 3 study (AdVise)}Hertreatment of AdV infection. AdV infection issevere and lif¢hreatening diseas
Patients enrolled in AdVise are often extremelk siod more likely to suffer adverse outcomes assalt of their infection.

As a result, it is likely that we will observe seweadverse outcomes during our clinical trials Boincidofovir, including patient death. I
significant number of study subject deaths weredour, regardless of whether such deaths are wtble to brincidofovir, our ability to obte
regulatory approval and/or achieve commercial aecee for brincidofovir may be adversely impacted @ur business could be materi
harmed.

Delays in clinical trials are common and have maoguses, and any delay could result in increasedtgde us and jeopardize or delay (
ability to obtain regulatory approval and commenpeoduct sales.

Clinical testing is expensive, difficult to desigmd implement, can take many years to complete,ignthcertain as to outcome. We r

experience delays in clinical trials at any stafjdevelopment and testing of our product candida®es planned clinical trials may not begin
time, have an effective design, enroll a sufficieatber of subjects, or be completed on schedud¢ aill.
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Events which may result in a delay or unsuccessfaipletion of clinical trials, including our Pha3elinical trials for brincidofovir, include:

« inability to raise funding necessary to initiatecontinue a tria

« delays in obtaining regulatory approval to commeateal

e delays in reaching agreement with the FDA and prdiealth authorities on final trial desi

« imposition of a clinical hold following an inspeati of our clinical trial operations or trial sitky the FDA or other regulatc
authorities:

« delays caused by disagreements with existing CR@&eclinical trial site:

¢ delays in reaching agreement on acceptable terthgonospective CROs and clinical trial si

« delays in obtaining required institutional reviewabd approval at each s

e delays in recruiting suitable patients to partitépa a trial

« delays in having subjects complete participatioa trial or return for post-treatment follawp:

« delays caused by subjects dropping out of a trialtd side effects or otherwi

¢ clinical sites dropping out of a trial to the detent of enrolimen

e agency or judicial enforcement actions agains

e time required to add new clinical sites;

e delays by our contract manufacturers to producedatider sufficient supply of clinical trial mateis

For example, due to the specialized indication patient populations being studied in our Phaser8cel trials of brincidofovir, the number
study sites available to us is relatively limitedd therefore enrollment of suitable patients tdigipate in the trial may take longer than is ta
for studies involving other indications. This masult in a delay or unsuccessful completion of dunical trials, including our Phase 3 clini
trial of brincidofovir for CMV prevention in HCT mpients.

If initiation or completion of any of our clinicatials for our product candidates, including ourrent or future Phase 3 clinical trials
brincidofovir, are delayed for any of the abovesmes, our development costs may increase, our agppoocess could be delayed, any pet
during which we may have the exclusive right to owencialize our product candidates may be reducddancompetitors may have more tim
bring products to market before we do. Any of thegents could impair our ability to generate rexenfrom product sales and impair our ak
to generate regulatory and commercialization noless and royalties, all of which could have a nialtedverse effect on our business.

Our product candidates may cause adverse effecthare other properties that could delay or prevéneir regulatory approval or limit th
scope of any approved label or market acceptal

Adverse events (AEs) caused by our product careideduld cause us, other reviewing entities, dingtudy sites or regulatory authoritie:
interrupt, delay or halt clinical studies and corgdult in the denial of regulatory approval. Frample, subjects enrolled in our Phase 2 clii
trials for brincidofovir have reported gastrointeat AEs and liverelated safety laboratory value changes. In additiwincidofovir is related
the approved drug cidofovir (CDV), a compound whitgts been shown to result in significant renaldibxiand impairment following use. The
is also a risk that our other product candidateg imduce AEs, many of which may be unknown at time. If an unacceptable frequency an
severity of AEs are reported in our clinical trids our product candidates, our ability to obtaggulatory approval for product candida
including brincidofovir, may be negatively impacted

If any of our approved products cause serious @xpected side effects prior to or after receivingriket approval, a number of potenti
significant negative consequences could resullydicg:

« regulatory authorities may withdraw their approofithe product or impose restrictions on its dttion in a form of a modified ri
evaluation and mitigation strategy (REMS);

« regulatory authorities may require the additiofabfling statements, such as warnings or contredtions

¢ we may be required to change the way the prodwdnsinistered or to conduct additional clinicaldiés

« we could be sued and held liable for harm causgetients; an

e our reputation may suffe

Any of these events could prevent us from achiewingnaintaining market acceptance of the affectediyct candidate and could substant
increase the costs of commercializing our prodaoticates.
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After the completion of our clinical trials, we carot predict whether or when we will obtain regulatoapproval to commercialize brincidofoy
and we cannot, therefore, predict the timing of afuture revenue from brincidofovir.

We cannot commercialize our product candidatesydiieg brincidofovir, until the appropriate reguag authorities have reviewed and apprc
the product candidate. The regulatory agencies mwdycomplete their review processes in a timely meanor we may not be able to ob
regulatory approval for brincidofovir. Additionalethys in the United States may result if brincid@fds brought before an FDA advisc
committee, which could recommend restrictions opreyal or recommend naapproval of the product candidate. In addition,magy experienc
delays or rejections based upon additional govenmimeggulation from future legislation or adminigiva action, or changes in regulatory age
policy during the period of product developmeninichl studies and the review process. As a resdtcannot predict when, if at all, we \
receive any future revenue from commercializatibary of our product candidates, including brindalar.

Even if we obtain regulatory approval for brincido¥ir and our other product candidates, we will $tibice extensive regulatory requiremei
and our products may face future development andukatory difficulties.

Even if we obtain regulatory approval, the grantmghority may still impose significant restricton the indicated uses or marketing of
product candidates, including brincidofovir, or ioge ongoing requirements for potentially costly tygaproval studies or postarke
surveillance. For example, the labeling ultimatapproved for our product candidates, including ddafovir, will likely include restrictions ¢
use due to the specific patient population and reanf use in which the drug was evaluated and #fietys and efficacy data obtained in th
evaluations. In addition, the label for brincidofomnay be required to include a boxed warning, lola€k box,”regarding brincidofovir beir
carcinogenic, teratogenic and impairing fertilityanimal studies, as well as a contraindicatiopatients who have had a demonstrated clini
significant hypersensitivity reaction to brincidefoor CDV or any component of the formulation. Thencidofovir labeling may also inclu
warnings or black boxes pertaining to gastrointe$tAEs or liver-related safety laboratory valuamges.

Brincidofovir and our other product candidates wdlso be subject to additional ongoing regulataeguirements governing the labeli
packaging, storage, distribution, safety survedignadvertising, promotion, record-keeping and nipg of safety and other postarke
information. In the United States, the holder ofagproved NDA is obligated to monitor and reportsédhd any failure of a product to meet
specifications in the NDA. The holder of an app\WDA must also submit new or supplemental appbicst and obtain FDA approval -
certain changes to the approved product, prodbelifeg or manufacturing process. Advertising amehpotional materials must comply with FI
rules and are subject to FDA review, in additiorotiber potentially applicable federal and stateslalurthermore, promotional materials mus
approved by the FDA prior to use for any drug reiogj accelerated approval, the pathway we are mgdor an initial marketing approval
brincidofovir in the United States for preventidnGMV in HCT recipients.

In addition, manufacturers of drug products and tfaeilities are subject to payment of user feed eontinual review and periodic inspection:
regulatory authorities for compliance with currgnbd manufacturing practices (cGMP), and adheremcemmitments made in the applicatiot
we, or a regulatory agency, discover previouslynawn problems with a product, such as quality issole AEs of unanticipated severity
frequency, or problems with the facility where greduct is manufactured, a regulatory agency mayosa restrictions relative to that produc
the manufacturing facility, including requiring edlcor withdrawal of the product from the marketsmispension of manufacturing.

If we fail to comply with applicable regulatory rdigements following approval of our product candéla regulatory agency may:
e issue an untitled or warning letter asserting thafre in violation of the lay
« seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal pkigs or monetary fine
e suspend or withdraw regulatory appro
e suspend any ongoing clinical tri
« refuse to approve a pending application or supphtsnt® an application submitted by
« recall and/or seize product;
« refuse to allow us to enter into supply contraictsluding government contrac

Any government investigation of alleged violatimfdaw could require us to expend significant tiem& resources in response and could ger

negative publicity. The occurrence of any evenpenalty described above may inhibit our abilityctommercialize brincidofovir and our otl
product candidates and inhibit our ability to gexterevenues.
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Even if we obtain FDA approval for brincidofovir oany of our other products in the United States, wey never obtain approval for
commercialize brincidofovir or any of our other pducts outside of the United States, which woulditimur ability to realize their full marke
potential.

In order to market any products outside of the &thibtates, we must establish and comply with nuaseand varying regulatory requirement:
a country-byeountry basis regarding safety and efficacy. Appldwy the FDA does not ensure approval by reguatarthorities in othe
countries or jurisdictions. In addition, clinicalals conducted in one country may not be accepyegegulatory authorities in other countries,
regulatory approval in one country does not guaemnegulatory approval in any other country. Appitgrocesses vary among countries anc
involve additional product testing and validatiamdaadditional administrative review periods. Segkioreign regulatory approval could resul
difficulties and costs for us and require additiopeeclinical studies or clinical trials which calube costly and time consuming. Regula
requirements can vary widely from country to coyrgind could delay or prevent the introduction of products in those countries. We do
have any product candidates approved for sale ynjunisdiction, including international markets,cawe do not have experience in obtait
regulatory approval in any markets. If we fail twnply with regulatory requirements in internationarkets or to obtain and maintain requ
approvals, or if regulatory approvals in internatibmarkets are delayed, our target market willdakiced and our ability to realize the full ma
potential of our products will be unrealized.

Our relationships with investigators, health careqgiessionals, consultants, third-party payors, aedstomers are subject to applicable anti-
kickback, fraud and abuse and other healthcare laarsd regulations, which could expose us to crimirednctions, civil penalties, contractt
damages, reputational harm and diminished profitacafuture earnings.

Healthcare providers, physicians and others playimary role in the recommendation and prescribdfigany products for which we obt:
marketing approval. Our current business operationsfuture arrangements with investigators, heatth professionals, consultants, thiafty
payors and customers may expose us to broadlycapjgi fraud and abuse and other healthcare laweegnthtions. These laws may constrair
business or financial arrangements and relatiosstiipugh which we research, market, sell andidige our products for which we obt
marketing approval. Restrictions under applicabiefal and state healthcare laws and regulatindside, but are not limited to, the following:

e the federal healthcare amickback statute which prohibits, among other tkingersons or entities from knowingly and willft
soliciting, offering, receiving or paying remuneoat (including any kickback, bribe or rebate), ditg or indirectly, overtly c
covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce or rewarither the referral of an individual for, or the phase, lease, order
recommendation of, any good, facility, item or segy for which payment may be made, in whole gpant, under federal healthc
programs such as Medicare and Medicaid;

« the federal civil and criminal false claims laeusd civil monetary penalties, including civil wtdblower orqui tamactions, whic
prohibit, among other things, individuals or eestfrom knowingly presenting, or causing to be gné=d, to the federal governm
claims for payment or approval that are false audiulent or from knowingly making a false statenterimproperly avoid, decree
or conceal an obligation to pay money to the fddpraernment;

« the federal Health Insurance Portability and Acdahility Act of 1996 (HIPAA) which, among other tigs, imposes crimin
liability for knowingly and willfully executing, omattempting to execute, a scheme to defraud anlfhcage benefit program or
obtain, by means of false or fraudulent pretensgsesentations, or promises, any of the moneyapgsty owned by, or under t
custody or control of, any healthcare benefit paogr regardless of the payor (e.g., public or peyand knowingly or willfull
falsifying, concealing or covering up by any trimkdevice a material fact or making any materitdlge statement in connection v
the delivery of, or payment for, healthcare beseftems or services relating to healthcare matters

« HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Techgglfor Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECHpits implementin
regulations, and as amended again by the final iBnibus rule, Modifications to the HIPAA Privac8gecurity, Enforcemer
and Breach Notification Rules Under HITECH and @enetic Information Nondiscrimination Act; Other Wfications to HIPAA
published in January 2013, which imposes certaligations, including mandatory contractual termghwespect to safeguarding
privacy, security and transmission of individuatigntifiable health information without appropriatathorization by entities subj
to the rule, such as health plans, clearinghousg$ealthcare providers;

e the federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (FDCA) wahicohibits, among other things, the adulteratiomgsbranding of drugs a
devices;

« the federal transparency law, enacted as part efPitient Protection and Affordable Care Act andiltheCare and Educati
Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively, the HdaltCare Reform Law), and its implementing regulaijomvhich require
manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologicals andiocad¢ supplies to report to the U.S. DepartmenHealth and Human Servic
information related to payments and other transéérsalue made to physicians and teaching hospitaswell as ownership a
investment interests held by physicians and theineédiate family members; and
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+ analogous state laws and regulations, includitafe antkickback and false claims laws, which may applyto business practici
including but not limited to, research, distributicales and marketing arrangements and claimévingchealthcare items or servi
reimbursed by state governmental and non-goverrahehirdparty payors, including private insurers; state datat requir
pharmaceutical companies to comply with the phaeutkcal industrys voluntary compliance guidelines and the relecantplianc
guidance promulgated by the federal government;séaie laws and regulations that require manufactuo file reports relating
pricing and marketing information, which requireacking gifts and other remuneration and items ati@ provided to healthc:
professionals and entities.

Efforts to ensure that our business arrangemenrtts third parties will comply with applicable heattire laws and regulations will invo
substantial costs. It is possible that governmeatdhorities will conclude that our business p@gi may not comply with current or fut
statutes, regulations, agency guidance or casénleaiving applicable fraud and abuse or other Ihealte laws and regulations. If our operat
are found to be in violation of any of these or atiyer health regulatory laws or any other govemadeegulations that may apply to us, we

be subject to significant civil, criminal and adiisinative penalties, damages, fines, exclusion fgmwernment funded healthcare programs,
as Medicare and Medicaid, and the curtailment strueturing of our operations, any of which couttversely affect our ability to operate

business and our financial results. Any action ragjaiis for violation of these laws, even if we sssfully defend against it, could cause
incur significant legal expenses or divert our nggraents attention from the operation of our businesanif of the physicians or other provic
or entities with whom we expect to do businessfawed to be not in compliance with applicable latt®y also may be subject to criminal, ¢
or administrative sanctions, including, but notited to, exclusions from government funded healthgaograms, which could also materi
affect our business.

Recently enacted and future legislation may increathe difficulty and cost for us to obtain marketinapproval of and commercialize o
product candidates and affect the prices we mayadit

In the United States and some foreign jurisdictidhere have been a number of legislative and a¢gyl changes and proposed changes reg:
the healthcare system that could prevent or delasketing approval of our product candidates, retstir regulate postpproval activities ar
affect our ability to profitably sell any produdts which we obtain marketing approval.

In the United States, the Medicare PrescriptiongDtmprovement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (Medée Modernization Act) changed
way Medicare covers and pays for pharmaceuticalyots. The legislation expanded Medicare coveragelifug purchases by the elderly
introduced a new reimbursement methodology baseaverage sales prices for physicedaministered drugs. In addition, this legislationvidec
authority for limiting the number of drugs that Wile covered in any therapeutic class. Cost redudtiitiatives and other provisions of t
legislation could decrease the coverage and pratevie receive for any approved products. WhileMleglicare Modernization Act applies only
drug benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, privatyqrs often follow Medicare coverage policy and rpapt limitations in setting their ov
reimbursement rates. Therefore, any reductionimbersement that results from the Medicare Modettion Act may result in a similar reduct
in payments from private payors.

More recently, in March 2010, the Health Care Raeftvaw was enacted to broaden access to healthaimsey reduce or constrain the growt
healthcare spending, enhance remedies againstdraldbuse, add new transparency requirementeédthicare and health insurance indus:
impose new taxes and fees on the health industhyrapose additional health policy reforms. The le&lare Reform Law revises the definit
of “average manufacturer pricédr reporting purposes, which could increase thewrhof Medicaid drug rebates to states. Further,new lay
imposes a significant annual fee on companiestiaaiufacture or import branded prescription drugipots. New provisions affecting complia
have also been enacted, which may affect our bssipeactices with health care practitioners. Wémwat know the full effects of the Health C
Reform Law until applicable federal and state agenissue regulations or guidance under the new law

Although it is too early to determine the effect tbe Health Care Reform Law, the new law appedmsliylito continue the pressure
pharmaceutical pricing, especially under the Madigaogram, and may also increase our regulatoyems and operating costs.

Legislative and regulatory proposals have been ntadexpand posgpproval requirements and restrict sales and piomadt activities fo

pharmaceutical products. We are not sure whethditiawlal legislative changes will be enacted, orethler the FDA regulations, guidance
interpretations will be changed, or what the impgeEuch changes on the marketing approvals opmduct candidates, if any, may be.
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Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties

We rely on thirdparty manufacturers to produce our preclinical andinical drug supplies, and we intend to rely onitth parties to produc
commercial supplies of any approved product candeta

We do not own or operate, and we do not expectvio ar operate, facilities for product manufacturistprage and distribution, or testing. In
past, we have relied on thighrty manufacturers for supply of our preclinicableclinical drug supplies. We expect that in theufe we wil
continue to rely on such manufacturers for drugpsuphat will be used in clinical trials of our gioct candidates, including brincidofovir, and
commercialization of any of our product candiddbes receive regulatory approval.

Our reliance on thirgharty manufacturers entails risks to which we woobtd be subject if we manufactured our product whatds ourselve
including:

« inability to meet our product specifications andlity requirements consistent

e delay or inability to procure or expand sufficiemanufacturing capacit

« manufacturing and product quality issues relatestaledp of manufacturing

« costs and validation of new equipment and féedirequired for scalep;

« failure to comply with cGMP and similar foreign stiards

< inability to negotiate manufacturing agreementhhird parties under commercially reasonable t¢

« termination or nonrenewal of manufacturing agreemseiith third parties in a manner or at a time featostly or damaging to t

« reliance on a limited number of sources, and ines@ases, single sources for product componentk, that if we are unable
secure a sufficient supply of these product comptmeve will be unable to manufacture and sellgmaduct candidates in a timi
fashion, in sufficient quantities or under accefgdabrms;

« lack of qualified backup suppliers for those comgmus that are currently purchased from a solengiesisource supplie

¢ operations of our thirgarty manufacturers or suppliers could be disruftedonditions unrelated to our business or opema
including the bankruptcy of the manufacturer orpigp;

e carrier disruptions or increased costs that areteyur control; ar

« failure to deliver our products under specifiedage conditions and in a timely mani

Any of these events could lead to clinical studiags, failure to obtain regulatory approval or irapaur ability to successfully commercialize
products. Some of these events could be the b@asiXA action, including injunction, recall, seiryior total or partial suspension of production.

We rely on limited sources of supply for the drugreponent for our lead product candidate, brincidafo, and any disruption in the chain ¢
supply may cause delay in developing and commeiziiad) brincidofovir.

Manufacturing of drug components is subject toaierEDA and comparable foreign qualifications widlspect to manufacturing standards.
are currently transferring the drug substance neatufing process to our selected contractor thitpreduce the commercial supply of d
substance and are currently evaluating manufastuoeoptimize tablet and suspension formulationdpotion to meet forecasteatbmmercie
demand. There can be no assurance that such travitfbe successful. It is our expectation thatyoone supplier of drug substance and
supplier of drug product will be qualified as verslavith the FDA. If supply from an approved vendointerrupted, there could be a signific
disruption in commercial supply of brincidofovirnAalternative vendor would need to be qualifiedtigh an NDA supplement which could re
in further delay. The FDA or other regulatory agesmutside of the United States may also requiditianal studies if a new drug substanc
drug product supplier is relied upon for commerpiaduction.

These factors could cause the delay of clinicaldriregulatory submissions, required approvatarmercialization of brincidofovir, and cause
to incur additional costs. Furthermore, if our digop fail to deliver the required commercial qutes$ of active pharmaceutical ingredient ¢
timely basis and at commercially reasonable priees, we are unable to secure one or more repladesupepliers capable of production ¢
substantially equivalent cost, our clinical tritds brincidofovir may be delayed, which could intibur ability to generate revenues.
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Manufacturing issues may arise that could increageduct and regulatory approval costs or delay coergialization of brincidofovir.

We have validated processes for drug substancelrmigdproduct production for brincidofovir at scateat are well in excess of our anticipe
commercial scale. We are currently revalidating durg substance and drug product processes usinguotent commercial processes at
intended commercial scale with our intended commknganufacturers.

The validation processes, along with ongoing stgtstudies and analyses we are conducting, magateadifficulties in our processes which cc
require resolution in order to proceed with oumpled clinical trials and obtain regulatory apprdealthe commercial marketing of brincidofor
In the future, we may identify significant impues, which could result in increased scrutiny byrdrgulatory agencies, delays in clinical prog
and regulatory approval for brincidofovir, increase our operating expenses, or failure to obtaimaintain approval for brincidofovir.

We depend on the continuation of our current collatation with ContraVir Pharmaceuticals, who is cuently responsible for developing a
commercializing CM157.

In December 2014, we entered into a licensing gearent with ContraVir, whereby ContraVir is respbtes for the future development &
commercialization of CMX157. Under this arrangeméuntraVir is responsible for conducting preclalistudies and clinical trials, obtain
required regulatory approvals for CMX157, and mastifring and commercializing CMX157. Our right ézeive milestone and royalty payme
under the licensing agreement depends on the aghivt of certain development, regulatory and comimemilestones by ContraVir.

The development and commercialization of CMX157 aud ability to receive potential milestones angalty payments under the licel
agreement with ContraVir, would be adversely a#ddt ContraVir:

< does not devote sufficient time and resourcesdavelopment and commercialization of CMX:
« develops, either alone or with others, products¢banpete with CMX15

e fails to gain the requisite regulatory approvals@GMX157;

e does not successfully commercialize CMX:

e does not conduct its activities in a timely man

e terminates its license with |

« does not effectively pursue and enforce intelldgiwaperty rights relating to CMX157;

* merges with a thirgharty that wants to terminate the collabora

We have limited or no control over the occurrentany of the foregoing. Furthermore, disagreemaritis ContraVir could lead to litigation
arbitration, which could be timesnsuming and expensive. If any of these issues,aii may delay the development and commerci#ia
milestones and royalties based on further developered sales of CMX157.

We rely on third parties to conduct, supervise amonitor our clinical studies, and if those third paes perform in an unsatisfactory manner,
may harm our business.

We rely on CROs and clinical trial sites to enstime proper and timely conduct of our clinical tsiaWWhile we have agreements governing
activities, we have limited influence over theitwsad performance. We have relied and plan to caetito rely upon CROs to monitor and mar
data for our ongoing clinical programs for brindiolir and our other product candidates, as welthesexecution of nonclinical studies.
control only certain aspects of our CRG=tivities. Nevertheless, we are responsible f@ugng that each of our studies is conducte
accordance with the applicable protocol, legalulaigpry and scientific standards and our relianeeC®Os does not relieve us of our regule
responsibilities.

We and our CROs are required to comply with the Fbguidance, which follows the International Confexe on Harmonization Good Clini
Practice (ICH GCP), which are regulations and dinds enforced by the FDA for all of our produchdalates in clinical development. The F
enforces the ICH GCP through periodic inspectidrtsial sponsors, principal investigators and dalitrial sites. If we or our CROs fail to com
with the ICH GCP, the clinical data generated im clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and FD&A may require us to perform additio
clinical trials before approving our marketing d@pations. For example, upon inspection, the FDA metermine that our Phase 3 clinical trial
brincidofovir, SUPPRESS, does not comply with t8&1IGCP. In addition, our Phase 3 clinical trials loincidofovir will require a sufficientl
large number of test subjects to evaluate the ysafatl effectiveness of brincidofovir. Accordinglif,our CROs fail to comply with the
regulations or fail to recruit a sufficient numbar subjects, we may be required to repeat thessePBeclinical trials, which would delay 1
regulatory approval process.
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Our CROs are not our employees, and we cannotatontrether or not they devote sufficient time aedaurces to our ongoing clinical :
nonclinical programs. These CROs may also havéigekhips with other commercial entities, includimgr competitors, for whom they may ¢
be conducting clinical studies, or other drug depglent activities which could harm our competitpmasition. We face the risk of poten
unauthorized disclosure or misappropriation of mtiellectual property by CROs, which may reduce tade secret protection and allow
potential competitors to access and exploit ouppetary technology.

If our CROs do not successfully carry out theirtcactual duties or obligations, fail to meet expélctleadlines, or if the quality or accuracy of
clinical data they obtain is compromised due tofthkeire to adhere to our clinical protocols or ukgory requirements or for any other reas
our clinical trials may be extended, delayed omiaated, and we may not be able to obtain regulapproval for, or successfully commercia
brincidofovir or our other product candidates. Dismements with our CROs over contractual issuedudimg performance, compliance
compensation could lead to termination of CRO agegds and/or delays in our clinical program anklsri® the accuracy and usability of clin
data. As a result, our financial results and tharoercial prospects for brincidofovir and any otpesduct candidates that we develop woul
harmed, our costs could increase, and our abdityeherate revenues could be delayed.

Risks Related to Commercialization of Our Product Gndidates

The commercial success of brincidofovir and our ethproduct candidates will depend upon the accepemf these products by the medi
community, including physicians, patients, pharmats and health care payors.

If any of our product candidates, including brirafivir, receive marketing approval, they may noeéghs not gain sufficient market accept:
by physicians, patients, healthcare payors androtimethe medical community. If these products @d achieve an adequate level of ma
acceptance, we may not generate significant progweinues and we may not become profitable. Theedegf market acceptance of any of
product candidates, including brincidofovir, wikglend on a number of factors, including:

« demonstration of clinical safety and efficacy imr olinical trials

« relative convenience, ease of administration agégtance by physicians, patients, pharmacists ealthhcare payotr
e prevalence and severity of any A

< limitations or warnings contained in the FI2fproved label for the relevant product candir

< availability of alternative treatmen

e pricing and coseffectivenes:

« effectiveness of our or any future collabordtsedes and marketing strateg

« ability to obtain hospital formulary approv

< ability to ensure availability for product throughpropriate channel manag

< ability to maintain adequate inventory; i

e ability to obtain and maintain sufficient thipdwty coverage or reimbursement, which may vamnfoountry to countr

If we are unable to establish sales and marketingpabilities or enter into agreements with third pgaes to market and sell our prodi
candidates, we may be unable to generate any reeenu

We currently do not have an organization for tHesand distribution of pharmaceutical productse Thst of establishing and maintaining <
an organization may exceed the ceffectiveness of doing so. In order to market arpdpcts that may be approved, including brincidafowe
must establish our sales, marketing, managerialather nontechnical capabilities or make arrangements wittdtparties to perform the
services. We may enter into strategic partnershipisthird parties to commercialize our product diglates outside of the United States, inclu
for brincidofovir. We intend to build our own salésce and to commercialize brincidofovir in theitéd States, but we will also consider
option to enter into strategic partnerships for paduct candidates in the United States and elsewh

Our strategy for brincidofovir is to develop a sip#y sales force and/or collaborate with third tpesr to promote the product to healtht
professionals and thirgarty payors in the United States and elsewhere.f@ure collaboration partners, if any, may notlidate sufficier
resources to the commercialization of our prodacididates or may otherwise fail in their commerz#ion due to factors beyond our contra
we are unable to establish effective collaboratitmgnable the sale of our product candidates #ithware professionals and in geograpl
regions, including the United States, that arecoeered by our own marketing and sales force, ouifpotential future collaboration partners
not successfully commercialize our product candislabur ability to generate revenues from prodaletss including sales of brincidofovir, will
adversely affected.
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Establishing an internal sales force involves metmllenges, including:

e recruiting and retaining talented peo

e training employees that we recr

e establishing compliance standa

e setting the appropriate system of incenti

¢ managing additional headcount; .

* integrating a new business unit into an existingoomate architectur

If we are unable to establish our own sales forceegotiate a strategic partnership for the comiakzation of brincidofovir in any markets,
may be forced to delay the potential commerciabrabf brincidofovir in those markets, reduce tlcefse of our sales or marketing activities
brincidofovir in those markets or undertake the pwrrialization activities for brincidofovir in theamarkets at our own expense. If we ele
increase our expenditures to fund commercializaictivities ourselves, we will need to obtain aiddial capital, which may not be available tc
on acceptable terms, or at all. If we do not hawféicsent funds, we will not be able to bring bridofovir to market or generate product reve
Limited or lack of funding will impede our ability achieve successful commercialization.

If we are unable to establish adequate sales, itiegkand distribution capabilities, whether indegently or with third parties, we may not be ¢
to generate sufficient product revenue and maybeobme profitable. We will be competing with mamympanies that currently have exten
and wellfunded marketing and sales operations. Withouhgerral team or the support of a third party tdgren marketing and sales functio
we may be unable to compete successfully agaiasetmore established companies.

In addition, there are risks involved with bothaddishing our own sales and marketing capabiliied entering into arrangements with t
parties to perform these services. For exampleyitety and training a sales force is expensive tamé-consuming and could delay any proc
launch. If the commercial launch of a product cdaté for which we recruit a sales force and esthbtiarketing capabilities is delayed or ¢
not occur for any reason, we would have prematuoelynnecessarily incurred these commercializatimpenses. This may be costly, and
investment would be lost if we cannot retain orogfion our sales, marketing and market acces®pees.

If we obtain approval to commercialize any produastside of the United States, a variety of riskssaciated with international operatiol
could materially adversely affect our business.

If our product candidates are approved for comraéreition, we may enter into agreements with tipiadties to market those product candic
outside the United States, including for brincidefoWe expect that we will be subject to additibriaks related to entering into internatic
business relationships, including:

« different regulatory requirements for drug apprevalforeign countrie

« reduced protection for intellectual property rig

« unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers agdlatory and labor requiremel

e economic weakness, including inflation, or politizestability in particular foreign economies anakets

« compliance with tax, employment, immigration anlldalaws for employees living or traveling abrc

« foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll &s

« foreign currency fluctuations, which could resaltincreased operating expenses and reduced revemakbsther obligations incide
to doing business in another country;

« workforce uncertainty in countries where labor ghis more common than in the United St

e production shortages resulting from any eventsctiffg raw material supply or manufacturing capéibgi abroad; ar

* business interruptions resulting from geopolitieations, including war and terrorism, or naturaadiers including earthquak
typhoons, floods and fires.

We have limited experience in these areas. In addithere are complex regulatory, tax, labor atieolegal requirements imposed by bott

European Union and many of the individual countilesEurope with which we will need to comply. Many.S.based biopharmaceuti
companies have found the process of marketing tivairproducts outside the United States to be #leajlenging.
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We face significant competition from other biotecblogy and pharmaceutical companies and our opergtiresults will suffer if we fail t
compete effectively.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industriesimtensely competitive. We have competitors bothhi@ United States and internation:
including major multinational pharmaceutical comiganbiotechnology companies and universities dhdraesearch institutions.

Currently the only approved antiviral treatment @V in HCT patients is Cytovene® (ganciclovir)tfadugh other antivirals, such as Val&®te
(valganciclovir), Foscavir® (foscarnet), Zovirax®cfclovir) and Vistide® didofovir) are used. Ganciclovir, foscarnet, cidofp anc
valganciclovir are currently generically availablgVe are aware of several companies that are wgprkecifically to develop drugs that wo
compete against brincidofovir for the preventiontatment of CMV, including Merck & Co., Inc.’s wdopment of letermovir, Shire P&’
development of maribavir and Vical Incorporatedsl &Astellas Pharma US, Ins.development of ASP0113 (TransVax), and availgbof
patient-specific Teell therapies targeting antigens for CMV and otf&PNA viruses. Many of our competitors have sufitsally greater financia
technical, commercial and other resources, sudargsr research and development staff, strongeli@atual property portfolios and experien
marketing and manufacturing organizations. Addalomergers and acquisitions in the biotechnology @imarmaceutical industries may resu
even more resources being concentrated in our ditorge

Competition may increase further as a result ofaades in the commercial applicability of technoésgand greater availability of capital
investment in these industries. Our competitors saceed in developing, acquiring or licensing,aanexclusive basis, drug products that
more effective or less costly than brincidofoviramy other drug candidate that we are currentleliging or that we may develop.

We will face competition from other drugs currerglyproved or that will be approved in the futuretfie same indications. Therefore, our ak
to compete successfully will depend largely on ahitity to:

« discover and develop medicines that are superiotiter products in the mark

« demonstrate through our clinical trials that ourdarct candidates, including brincidofovir, are eiffntiated from existing and futi
therapies;

e attract qualified scientific, product developmentl@ommercial personn

« obtain and successfully defend and enforce patetibaother proprietary protection for our medic@ad technologie

e obtain required regulatory approvi

« successfully collaborate with pharmaceutical congmim the discovery, development and commercitidimaof new medicines; a

¢ negotiate competitive pricing and reimbursenveith third-party payors

The availability of our competitorgiroducts could limit the demand, and the price veeable to charge, for brincidofovir and any othesduc
candidate we develop. We will not achieve our bessnplan if the acceptance of brincidofovir is liiteid by price competition or reimbursen
issues or the reluctance of physicians to switomfexisting drug products to brincidofovir, or iiysicians switch to other new drug product
choose to reserve brincidofovir for use in limitccumstances. The inability to compete with erigtor subsequently introduced drug prod
would have a material adverse impact on our busjrigsncial condition and prospects.

Established pharmaceutical companies may investiliieta accelerate discovery and development ofeh@ompounds or to itieense nove
compounds that could make our product candidatejding brincidofovir, less competitive. In additi, any new product that competes witl
approved product must demonstrate compelling adgastin efficacy, convenience, tolerability andesafn order to overcome price competi
and to be commercially successful. Accordingly, @ompetitors may succeed in obtaining patent ptiotec receiving FDA approval
discovering, developing and commercializing medisibefore we do, which would have a material agvienpact on our business.

Hospital formulary approval and reimbursement mayinbe available for brincidofovir and our other pduct candidates, which could make
difficult for us to sell our products profitably.

Obtaining hospital formulary approval can be anemgive and time consuming process. We cannot Haircef and when we will obta
formulary approval to allow us to sell our prodeendidates, including brincidofovir, into our targearkets. Failure to obtain timely formul.
approval will limit our commercial success.

Furthermore, market acceptance and sales of bafwwitt, or any other product candidates that weeltgy, will depend in part on the exten
which reimbursement for these products and rel@gadments will be available from government health
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administration authorities, private health insurensl other organizations. Government authorities third-party payors, such as private he
insurers, hospitals and health maintenance orgémiza decide which drugs they will pay for andagdish reimbursement levels. A primary tr
in the U.S. healthcare industry and elsewhere $ containment. Government authorities and theisd-glarty payors have attempted to cor
costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reirmbment for particular medications. Obtaining rainsiement for our products may
particularly difficult because of the higher priceften associated with products administered utiteisupervision of a physician. We cannc
sure that reimbursement will be available for bidofovir, or any other product candidates.

Also, reimbursement amounts may reduce the denmamaif the price of, our products. If reimbursemisnhot available, or is available only
limited levels, we may not be able to successftdignmercialize brincidofovir, or any other produandidates that we develop.

There have been a number of legislative and regwlgiroposals to change the healthcare systemenUthited States and in some fore
jurisdictions that could affect our ability to selhy future products profitably. These legislataral regulatory changes may negatively impac
reimbursement for any future products, followingegwval. The availability of generic treatments nadgo substantially reduce the likelihooc
reimbursement for any future products, includinghdidofovir. The application of user fees to geneadirug products will likely expedite t
approval of additional generic drug treatments.aXjgect to experience pricing pressures in conneetith the sale of brincidofovir and any ot
product candidate that we develop, due to the ttemdird managed healthcare, the increasing infli@fidealth maintenance organizations
additional legislative changes. In addition, thera@y be significant delays in obtaining reimbursetenapproved products, and coverage me
more limited than the purposes for which the prodsi@pproved by the FDA or regulatory authorifie®ther countries. Moreover, eligibility 1
reimbursement does not imply that any product bdlpaid for in all cases or at a rate that coverscosts, including research, developmr
manufacture, sale and distribution. Interim payradat new products, if applicable, may also nosb#icient to cover our costs and may no
made permanent. Payment rates may vary accorditing tose of the product and the clinical settingv/imich it is used, may be based on paynr
allowed for lower cost products that are alreadynbeirsed, and may be incorporated into existingnmnts for other services. Net prices
products may be reduced by mandatory discountelmates required by government healthcare progranmsivate payors and by any fut
relaxation of laws that presently restrict impartgroducts from countries where they may be soldwer prices than in the United States. Third-
party payors often rely upon Medicare coveragecgaind payment limitations in setting their owmbursement policies.

Our inability to promptly obtain coverage and pralile payment rates from both government fundedpaivéite payors for any of our prod
candidates, including brincidofovir, could have atemial adverse effect on our operating results, ahility to raise capital needed
commercialize products and our overall financialditon.

We may expend our limited resources to pursue atjgatar product candidate or indication and fail te@apitalize on product candidates
indications that may be more profitable or for whidhere is a greater likelihood of success.

The success of our business depends primarily apoability to identify, develop and commercial®duct candidates. Because we have lir
financial and managerial resources, we focus ogarel programs and product candidates for speniications. As a result, we may foregc
delay pursuit of opportunities with other produahdidates or other indications that later provieaee greater commercial potential.

Our research programs may initially show promisadientifying potential product candidates, yet failyield product candidates for clini
development for a number of reasons, including:

« our research methodology or that of our collaboragiartners may be unsuccessful in identifying pidéproduct candidate

e our potential product candidates may be shown te@ Hermful side effects or may have other charities that may make t
products unmarketable or unlikely to receive mankeapproval; and

« our collaboration partners may change their devetq profiles for potential product candidatestmaradon a therapeutic ar

If any of these events occur, we may be forcedb@ndon our development efforts for a program oggms, which would have a mate
adverse effect on our business and could potgntiallise us to cease operations. Research progeoaitentify new product candidates req
substantial technical, financial and human resaurdée may focus our research efforts and resouncgmtential programs or product candid
that ultimately prove to be unsuccessful.

If we do not accurately evaluate the commerciaéptal or target market for a particular produatdidate, we may relinquish valuable right
that product candidate through collaboration, I&geg or other royalty arrangements in cases in whigvould have been advantageous for
retain sole development and commercialization sight
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain or protect intellectugloperty rights related to our products and produzdndidates, we may not be able to com
effectively in our market.

We rely upon a combination of patents, trade sguretection and confidentiality agreements to pbtee intellectual property related to
products and product candidates. The strength ®hfmin the biotechnology and pharmaceutical fiekblves complex legal and scient
questions and can be uncertain. The patent apphsathat we own or iticense may fail to result in issued patents witinas that cover tt
products in the United States or in other countiiethis were to occur, early generic competitmould be expected against brincidofovir and
other product candidates in development. Thereoisssurance that all of the potentially relevanorpart relating to our patents and pa
applications has been found, which can invalidgtatant or prevent a patent from issuing basedmending patent application. Even if patent
successfully issue, third parties may challengée thadidity, enforceability, scope or ownership, isih may result in such patents, or our righ
such patents, being narrowed or invalidated.

Furthermore, even if they are unchallenged, ouergatand patent applications may not adequateliegrour intellectual property or prev
others from designing around our claims. If theeppplications we hold or license with respedirtocidofovir fail to issue or if their breadth
strength of protection is threatened, it could ukske companies from collaborating with us to dgwesmd threaten our ability to commercial
our products. We cannot offer any assurances abioioh, if any, patents will issue or whether arguisd patents will be found not invalid and
unenforceable, will go unthreatened by third parte will adequately protect our products and povdandidates. Further, if we encounter de
in regulatory approvals, the period of time durimbich we could market brincidofovir under patenotpction could be reduced. Since pe
applications in the United States and most othentes are confidential for a period of time afféing, and some remain so until issued,
cannot be certain that we or our licensors werefitise to file any patent application related tanidofovir or our other product candida
Furthermore, if third parties have filed such patguplications, an interference proceeding in tingedd States can be provoked by a third par
instituted by us to determine who was the firsinteent any of the subject matter covered by themtatlaims of our applications. An unfavore
outcome could require us to cease using the retatgthology or to attempt to license it from thev@iling party, which may not be possible
addition to the protection afforded by patents,relg on trade secret protection and confidentiadigyeements to protect proprietary knbaw
that is not patentable, processes for which patmetslifficult to enforce and other elements of durg discovery and development processe!
involve proprietary knowtow, information or technology that is not covelsdpatents. Although we expect all of our employeassign the
inventions to us, and all of our employees, coasidt, advisors and any third parties who have adcesur proprietary knowew, information ¢
technology to enter into confidentiality agreememte cannot provide any assurances that all sugeagents have been duly executed, that
agreements provide adequate protection and willbeobreached, that our trade secrets and otherdeatifll proprietary information will n
otherwise be disclosed or that competitors will atiterwise gain access to our trade secrets opémdiently develop substantially equiva
information and techniques. If we are unable tos@né material disclosure of the npatented intellectual property related to our tetbgies tc
third parties, and there is no guarantee that viehawve any such enforceable trade secret protectve may not be able to establish or mainti
competitive advantage in our market, which couldemally adversely affect our business, resultspdgrations and financial condition.

Further, the laws of some foreign countries doprotect patents and other proprietary rights tostmae extent or in the same manner as the
of the United States. As a result, we may encousitgificant problems in protecting and defending imtellectual property abroad. We may
fail to pursue or obtain patents and other intéliakproperty protection relating to our produats @roduct candidates in all foreign countries.

Finally, certain of our activities and our licensoactivities have been funded, and may in the fuh&dunded, by the U.S. federal governmr
When new technologies are developed with U.S. &dgovernment funding, the government obtains gentights in any resulting pater
including a nonexclusive license authorizing theyegament to use the invention for noommercial purposes. These rights may permi
government to disclose our confidential informatitonthird parties and to exercise “march-imghts to use or allow third parties to use
patented technology. The government can exergdsmatrchin rights if it determines that action is necesdaegause we fail to achieve pract
application of the U.S. governmefunded technology, because action is necessarjleiisde health or safety needs, to meet requirésnel
federal regulations or to give preference to Un8ustry. In addition, U.S. governmeiiaded inventions must be reported to the govertmes
government funding must be disclosed in any resylipiatent applications, and our rights in suchmtie®s may be subject to certain requirem
to manufacture products in the United States.
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Third-party claims of intellectual property infringemeniay prevent or delay our development and commeizaion efforts or otherwis
affect our business.

Our commercial success depends in part on our inpidfringement and other violations of the paseahd proprietary rights of third parti
There is a substantial amount of litigation, boithim and outside the United States, involving patnd other intellectual property rights in
biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, indgdoatent infringement lawsuits, interferencespagitions and inter party reexaminai
proceedings before the United States Patent andefirark Office (U.S. PTO) and its foreign countetpaNumerous U.S. and foreign iss
patents and pending patent applications, whichoaneed by third parties, exist in the fields in whiwe and our collaborators are develo
product candidates. As the biotechnology and pheemtical industries expand and more patents anedssaind as we gain greater visibility
market exposure as a public company, the risk @&s@® that our product candidates or other busiaetbgties may be subject to claims
infringement of the patent and other proprietaghts of third parties. Third parties may assert e are employing their proprietary technol
without authorization. There may be thipdrty patents or patent applications with claimsniaterials, formulations, methods of manufactul
methods for treatment related to the use or matwiaof brincidofovir and/or our other product catfades. Because patent applications can
many years to issue, there may be currently penglittgnt applications which may later result in é&bpatents that our product candidates
infringe. In addition, third parties may obtain g@ais in the future and claim that use of our tetdgies infringes upon these patents. If any third-
party patents were held by a court of competerngdiction to cover the manufacturing process of ahpur product candidates, any molec
formed during the manufacturing process or anylfpr@duct itself, the holders of any such patentynbe able to block our ability
commercialize such product candidate unless werauta license under the applicable patents, drsutth patents expire.

Similarly, if any thirdparty patent were held by a court of competensgliction to cover aspects of our formulations, psses for manufacture
methods of use, including combination therapy,hblkeers of any such patent may be able to blockability to develop and commercialize
applicable product candidate unless we obtaineidesade or until such patent expires. In either caseh a license may not be available
commercially reasonable terms or at all. In additwe may be subject to claims that we are infriggbther intellectual property rights, sucl
trademarks or copyrights, or misappropriating tfeeleé secrets of others, and to the extent thatemployees, consultants or contractors
intellectual property or proprietary information ow@d by others in their work for us, disputes mayeaas to the rights in related or resulting know-
how and inventions.

Parties making claims against us may obtain injuaabr other equitable relief, which could effeeliy block our ability to further develop &
commercialize one or more of our product candidaibefense of these claims, regardless of their tmeculd involve substantial litigatic
expense and would be a substantial diversion ofl@rep resources from our business. In the everd sficcessful infringement or ot
intellectual property claim against us, we may h&wepay substantial damages, including treble damaand attorneysfees for willful
infringement, obtain one or more licenses fromdlhgarties, pay royalties or redesign our affectertipcts, which may be impossible or req
substantial time and monetary expenditure. We daprealict whether any such license would be avkslab all or whether it would be availa
on commercially reasonable terms. Furthermore, @véime absence of litigation, we may need to obliaenses from third parties to advance
research or allow commercialization of our prodtartdidates, and we have done so from time to tifeemay fail to obtain any of these licer
at a reasonable cost or on reasonable termsalif.dh that event, we would be unable to furthevelop and commercialize one or more of
product candidates, which could harm our businagsficantly. We cannot provide any assurances thatl-party patents do not exist wh
might be enforced against our products or prodanticlates, resulting in either an injunction prdtmly our sales, or, with respect to our sale:
obligation on our part to pay royalties and/or otfeems of compensation to third parties.

We license certain key intellectual property fromird parties, and the loss of our license rightsudd have a materially adverse effect on «
business.

We are a party to a number of technology licensasdre important to our business and expect tr émio additional licenses in the future.
example, we rely on an exclusive license to ceppaitents, proprietary technology and knbow from The Regents of the University of Calif@
(UC), which we believe cover brincidofovir. If weif to comply with our obligations under our agresmnwith UC or our other licen
agreements, or we are subject to a bankruptcylideesor may have the right to terminate the liegris which event we would not be able
develop or market products covered by the licems#uding in the case of the UC license, brincidafowhich would have a materially adve
effect on our business.

We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enferour patents, the patents of our licensors or auther intellectual property rights, whic
could be expensive, time consuming and unsuccessful

Competitors may infringe or otherwise violate owtemts, the patents of our licensors or our othezllectual property rights. To coun
infringement or unauthorized use, we may be redutce file legal claims, which can be expensive d@nte-consuming. In addition, in i
infringement proceeding, a court may decide thpat@nt of ours or our licensors is not valid oumenforceable, or may refuse to stop the «
party from using the technology at issue on theigds that our patents do not cover the technology
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in question. An adverse result in any litigation defense proceedings could put one or more of atenps at risk of being invalidated
interpreted narrowly and could put our patent agpions at risk of not issuing. The initiation otlaim against a third party may also caust
third party to bring counter-claims against us.

We may not be able to prevent, alone or with azgrisors, misappropriation of our intellectual propeghts, particularly in countries where
laws may not protect those rights as fully as e thnited States. Our business could be harmedaiflitigation the prevailing party does not o
us a license on commercially reasonable terms. l&gation or other proceedings to enforce our lietgual property rights may fail, and eve
successful, may result in substantial costs artcadisour management and other employees.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amounisobdery required in connection with intellectuabperty litigation, there is a risk that som
our confidential information could be compromisgddisclosure during this type of litigation. Thezeuld also be public announcements of
results of hearings, motions or other interim peatiegs or developments. If securities analystaeestors perceive these results to be negat
could have a material adverse effect on the prfice&iocommon stock.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depds on compliance with various procedural, docurhenbmission, fee payment and otl
requirements imposed by governmental patent agesicand our patent protection could be reduced oimghated for nonc€ompliance witl
these requirements.

Periodic maintenance fees on any issued patemtugréo be paid to the U.S. PTO and foreign patganees in several stages over the lifetin
the patent. The U.S. PTO and various foreign gawemntal patent agencies require compliance withrabeu of procedural, documentary,
payment and other similar provisions during thepaapplication process.

While an inadvertent lapse can in many cases leddowy payment of a late fee or by other meansdnraance with the applicable rules, there
situations in which noncompliance can result innalmmment or lapse of the patent or patent applicatiesulting in partial or complete loss
patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Noompliance events that could result in abandonmelapse of a patent or patent application incl
but are not limited to, failure to respond to aticactions within prescribed time limits, n@ayment of fees and failure to properly legalized
submit formal documents. If we or our licensorg tt@ntrol the prosecution and maintenance of mensed patents fail to maintain the patent:
patent applications covering our product candidatesmay lose our rights and our competitors mighiable to enter the market, which wc
have a material adverse effect on our business.

Risks Related to Our United States Government Con#cts and Grants

All of our immediately foreseeable future revenuss support the development of brincidofovir for theeatment of smallpox are depend:
upon our contract with the Biomedical Advanced Raseh and Development Authority (BARDA), and if weodhot receive all of the func
under the BARDA contract we anticipate that we walispend or terminate our smallpox program.

Substantially all of our revenues that support deeelopment of brincidofovir for the treatment ahalpox have been derived from pi
government grants and our current contract with BAROur contract with BARDA is for the developmaeoftbrincidofovir for the treatment
smallpox. It is divided into a base segment and &miion segments. We substantially completed perdoce under the first option segment o
contract in August 2014 and are currently perfognimder the second option segments of the contraitth is scheduled to end in Novem
2015. Subsequent option segments are not subjactéonatic renewal and are not exercisable at isgration. There can be no assurance thi
will reach agreement with BARDA on the most appiaigr development pathway or that the FDA will ukitely agree with the experiments wt
we perform or the appropriateness of the resultthese experiments for approval of brincidofovir &mallpox. In addition, there can be
assurance that any of the subsequent option segmdéhbe exercised or that we will continue toe®e revenues under this contract once
current option segment is completed. We do notguatie continuing this program without ongoing sapfirom BARDA.

Additionally, the contract provides for reimburserhef the costs of the development of brincidofofdr the treatment of smallpox that
allowable under the Federal Acquisition RegulafiBAR), plus the payment of a fixed fee. It doesinotude the manufacture of brincidofovir
the Strategic National Stockpile. There can be sgunces that this contract will continue, thatRE¥ will extend the contract for additior
option segments, that any such extension wouldnbfaworable terms, or that we will be able to ernit¢o new contracts with the United St
government to support our smallpox program. Chamggevernment budgets and agendas may resultleceased and dwioritized emphas
on supporting the discovery and development ofdmtofovir for the treatment of smallpox. In sucheat; BARDA is not required to contin
funding our existing contract. Any such reductiorour revenues from BARDA or any other governmemttiact could materially adversely aft
our financial condition and results of operatidmsaddition, if we do not receive all of the funadsder the BARDA contract, we anticipate tha
will suspend or terminate our program for the depeient of brincidofovir for the treatment of smalkp
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Unfavorable provisions in government contracts, lading our contract with BARDA, may harm our busiss, financial condition an
operating results.

United States government contracts typically contaifavorable provisions and are subject to auditraodification by the government at its ¢
discretion, which will subject us to additionalkss For example, under our contract with BARDA, tHeS. government has the powel
unilaterally:

« audit and object to any BARDA contraetated costs and fees on grounds that they arallogtable under the FAR, and require
to reimburse all such costs and fees;

« suspend or prevent us for a set period of time freceiving new contracts or extending our existingtract based on violations
suspected violations of laws or regulations;

« claim nonexclusive, nontransferable rights to podduanufactured and intellectual property developeder the BARDA contra
and may, under certain circumstances, such asneftamnces involving public health and safety, lieessch inventions to thi
parties without our consent;

e cancel, terminate or suspend our BARDA contracetam violations or suspected violations of lawsegulations

« terminate our BARDA contract in whole or in part tbhe convenience of the government for any reasomo reason, including
funds become unavailable to the applicable goventamhagency;

* reduce the scope and value of our BARDA cont

e decline to exercise an option to continue the BARiDAtract

« direct the course of a development program in ammaanot chosen by the government contra

e require us to perform the option segments ef@&oing so may cause us to forego or delaypghesuit of other opportunities w
greater commercial potential;

« take actions that result in a longer developmen¢line than expected; &

« change certain terms and conditions in our BARDAt&axt

The U.S. government also has the right to termitteeBARDA contract if termination is in the goverant’s interest, or if we default by failing
perform in accordance with the milestones set fortthe contract. Termination-faenvenience provisions generally enable us to recomly ou
costs incurred or committed (plus a portion of digeeed fee) and settlement expenses on the worgletad prior to termination. Except for
amount of services received by the government,itextion-for-default provisions do not permit recoyef fees.

In addition, we must comply with numerous laws aagulations that affect how we conduct businesh e United States government. Am
the most significant government contracting regoitet that affect our business are:

« FAR, and agencgpecific regulations supplements to the FAR, whadmprehensively regulate the procurement, formg
administration and performance of government catdrand implement federal procurement policy in erous areas, such
employment practices, protection of the environmewturacy and retention periods of records, réegrdnd charging of cos
treatment of laboratory animals and human subgsearch;

« hbusiness ethics and public integrity obligationsjcli govern conflicts of interest and the hiringfofmer government employe
restrict the granting of gratuities and fundindaifbying activities and incorporate other requiratsesuch as the AnKickback Aci
and the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;

e export and import control laws and regulations;

« laws, regulations and executive orders restrictmguse and dissemination of information classif@dnational security purpos
and the exportation of certain products and tectmiata.

Furthermore, we may be required to enter into agess and subcontracts with third parties, inclgdinppliers, consultants and other thpatty
contractors, in order to satisfy our contractudigatiions pursuant to our agreements with the gdsernment. Negotiating and entering into ¢
arrangements can be timensuming and we may not be able to reach agreewigmtsuch third parties. Any such agreement misbd &¢
compliant with the terms of our government contraety delay or inability to enter into such arrangmts or entering into such arrangements
manner that is non-compliant with the terms of @amtract, may result in violations of our contract.

As a result of these unfavorable provisions, we tnouslertake significant compliance activities. Tdieersion of resources from commer

programs to these compliance activities, as wethasxercise by the U.S. government of any rightder these provisions, could materially h
our business.
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Our business is subject to audit by the U.S. goveemt, including under our contract with BARDA, and negative audit could adversely aff
our business.

United States government agencies, such as thertbepd of Health and Human Services (DHHS), rolyiraudit and investigate governm
contractors and recipients of federal grants, iclg our contract with BARDA. These agencies reviewontractos performance under
contracts, cost structure and compliance with apple laws, regulations and standards.

The DHHS can also review the adequacy of, and &actor's compliance with, its internal control 8ms and policies, including the contractor’
purchasing, property, estimating, compensation rmadagement information systems. Any costs foundetamproperly allocated to a spec
contract will not be reimbursed, while such costeaaly reimbursed must be refunded. If an audibuers improper or illegal activities, we n
be subject to civil and criminal penalties and austrative sanctions, including:

¢ termination of contract

« forfeiture of profits

e suspension of paymer

« fines; an

e suspension or prohibition from conducting busingsk the U.S. governmel

In addition, we could suffer serious reputationatrh if allegations of impropriety were made agaunstby the U.S. government, which cc
adversely affect our business.

Agreements with government agencies may lead tdontdaagainst us under the Federal False Claims Aahd these claims could result
substantial fines and other penaltie

The biopharmaceutical industry is, and in recerdryehas been, under heightened scrutiny as thectubj government investigations
enforcement actions. Our BARDA contract is subjecsubstantial financial penalties under the Fddeénal Monetary Penalties Act and t
Federal Civil False Claims Act (False Claims Adthe False Claims Act imposes liability on any parsého, among other things, knowin
presents, or causes to be presented, a false recstatement material to a false or frauduleritcizaid or approved by the government. Unde
False Claims Act's “whistleblowerprovisions, private enforcement of fraud claimsiagfabusinesses on behalf of the U.S. governmes
increased due in part to amendments to the Falaen€lAct that encourage private individuals to smebehalf of the government. Th
whistleblower suits, known agii tamactions, may be filed by private individuals, irdilug present and former employees. The False Clait
provides for treble damages and up to $11,000 ase fclaim. If our operations are found to be iolation of any of these laws, or any ol
governmental regulations that apply to us, we magubject to penalties, including civil and crinlipanalties, damages, fines, exclusion fron
Medicare and Medicaid programs, and the curtailneeméstructuring of our operations. Any penalt@g@mages, fines, exclusions, curtailmen
restructuring of our operations could adverselg@fbur ability to operate our business and owrfaial results.

Risks Related to Our Business Operations and Indust
Increasing demand for compassionate use of our upepved therapies could result in losst

We are developing brincidofovir for lifdwreatening illness for which there are currenityited to no available therapeutic options. Durk@j4
we were the target of an active and disruptiveaautiedia campaign related to a request for aceessit unapproved drug, brincidofovir. If -
experience similar social media campaigns in theréy we may experience significant disruption o lousiness which could result in losses.

Recent media attention to individual patients' exjeal access requests has resulted in the introdustilegislation at the local and national l¢
referred to as "Right to Try" laws which are inteddo give patients access to unapproved theraies. and emerging legislation regarc
expanded access to unapproved drugs for life-tlnéay illnesses could negatively impact our busineshe future.

A possible consequence of both activism and letipsidn this area is the need for us to initiateusanticipated expanded access program
make brincidofovir more widely available soonerrthanticipated. We are a small company with limitegources and unanticipated trials c
result in diversion of resources from our primaoals.

In addition, patients who receive access to unamutadrugs through compassionate use or expandezsssaqograms have litereatenin
illnesses and have exhausted all other availablagiies. The risk for adverse events in this pafiepulation is high
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which could have a negative impact on the safetfilprof brincidofovir, which could cause significadelays or an inability to successfi
commercialize brincidofovir, which would materialrm our business

If we fail to comply with the extensive legal andgulatory requirements affecting the health caredinstry, we could face increased costs, de
in the development of our product candidates, pdies and a loss of business.

Our activities, and the activities of our collaktora, partners and thindarty providers, are subject to extensive govermnmegulation an
oversight both in the United States and in forgigisdictions. The FDA and comparable agenciestleiojurisdictions directly regulate many
our most critical business activities, including ttbonduct of preclinical and clinical studies, prodmanufacturing, advertising and promot
product distribution, adverse event reporting anodpct risk management. States increasingly haws lpgacing greater restrictions on

marketing practices of healthcare companies. Intiad¢d pharmaceutical and biotechnology companiagehbeen the target of lawsuits

investigations alleging violations of governmergukations, including claims asserting submissioimobrrect pricing information, impermissil
off-label promotion of pharmaceutical products, paymémtended to influence the referral of federabtate healthcare business, submissic
false claims for government reimbursement, antitnislations, violations of the Foreign Corrupt Biees Act, or violations related

environmental matters. Violations of governmenggjulation may be punishable by criminal and ciai&ions, including fines and civil monet
penalties and exclusion from participation in goweent programs, including Medicare and Medicaidaddition to penalties for violation of la
and regulations, we could be required to delayeoninate the development of our product candidatesje could be required to repay amo
we received from government payors, or pay addifioebates and interest if we are found to havealtslated the pricing information we hi
submitted to the government. Whether or not we t@raplied with the law, an investigation into akelgunlawful conduct could increase
expenses, damage our reputation, divert managemenand attention and adversely affect our busines

Our future success depends on our ability to retdiey executives and to attract, retain and motivgtelified personnel.

We are highly dependent on the principal membersuofexecutive team. While we have entered intoleympent agreements or offer letters v
each of our executive officers, any of them coelave our employment at any time, as all of our eyg#s are “at will'employees. We do r
maintain “key personinsurance for any of our executives or other emgrsy Recruiting and retaining other qualified emgés for our busine:
including scientific and technical personnel, wilbo be critical to our success. There is curremtbhortage of skilled executives in our indu
which is likely to continue. We also experience epeaitition for the hiring of scientific and clinicgersonnel from universities and rese:i
institutions. As a result, competition for skillpersonnel is intense and the turnover rate canidle We may not be able to attract and re
personnel on acceptable terms given the competéiiopng numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnologypaaies for similar personnel.
addition, failure of any of our clinical studies ynmake it more challenging to recruit and retaialiied personnel. The inability to recruit or I
of the services of any executive or key employeg auversely affect the progress of our researcrgldpment and commercialization objectives.

In addition, we rely on consultants and advisarsluding scientific and clinical advisors, to assis in formulating our research and developt
and commercialization strategy. Our consultants asors may be employed by employers other tlaand may have commitments ur
consulting or advisory contracts with other engitteat may limit their availability to us, which ud also adversely affect the progress of
research, development and commercialization objesti

We will need to expand our organization, and we megperience difficulties in managing this growth,hich could disrupt our operations.

As of December 31, 2014 , we had 76 filke employees. As our company matures, we exgeekpand our employee base to increas:
managerial, clinical, scientific and engineeringerational, sales, and commercial teams. Futuraitgrevould impose significant additior
responsibilities on our management, including teednto identify, recruit, maintain, motivate antegrate additional employees, consultants
contractors. Also, our management may need to tdavdisproportionate amount of its attention awayrf our day-taday activities and devote
substantial amount of time to managing these graatlvities. We may not be able to effectively mgamahe expansion of our operations, w
may result in weaknesses in our infrastructuree gige to operational mistakes, loss of businegompnities, loss of employees and redt
productivity among remaining employees. Our expkgpowth could require significant capital expendis and may divert financial resout
from other projects, such as the development aflygbcandidates. If our management is unable tecgflely manage our growth, our expet
may increase more than expected, our ability tegee and/or grow revenues could be reduced, andayenot be able to implement our busil
strategy. Our future financial performance and ahility to commercialize brincidofovir and our othgroduct candidates and compete effecti
will depend, in part, on our ability to effectivetyanage any future growth.
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Potential product liability lawsuits against us ctilicause us to incur substantial liabilities and tomit commercialization of any products th
we may develop.

The use of our product candidates, including bdafgvir, in clinical studies and the sale of angqucts for which we obtain marketing appr¢
exposes us to the risk of product liability clainfroduct liability claims might be brought against by consumers, health care provic
pharmaceutical companies or others selling or afisercoming into contact with our products. On aioa, large judgments have been award
class action lawsuits based on drugs that had wei@ated adverse effects. If we cannot successfigfignd against product liability claims,
could incur substantial liability and costs. In #igheh, regardless of merit or eventual outcomedpuat liability claims may result in:

« impairment of our business reputation and significeegative media attentic
« withdrawal of participants from our clinical stud

« significant costs to defend the related litigatéord related litigatiol

e distraction of managemestattention from our primary busine

« substantial monetary awards to patients or otl@melnts

¢ inability to commercialize our product candidates|uding brincidofovir; an
« decreased demand for our product candidates, ibapg for commercial sa

We currently carry $10.0 million in product lialjliinsurance covering our clinical trials. Our @nt product liability insurance coverage may
be sufficient to reimburse us for any expensesssds we may suffer. Moreover, insurance covesagedoming increasingly expensive and ir
future we may not be able to maintain insurancesge at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amdorsotect us against losses due to liabilit
and when we obtain marketing approval for our pobdandidates, we intend to expand our insuraneerage to include the sale of commel
products; however, we may be unable to obtain golifbility insurance on commercially reasonaldents or in adequate amounts. A succe
product liability claim or series of claims brougigainst us could cause our stock price to dealink if judgments exceed our insurance cove
could adversely affect our results of operatiorss laumsiness.

Risk Related To Our Common Stock
The market price of our common stock is likely te Bolatile, and you may not be able to resell yghares at or above your purchase price.

Prior to our initial public offering (IPO) in 201&ere was no public market for our common stodile fading price of our common stock is lik
to be volatile for the foreseeable future. Our ktpdce could be subject to wide fluctuations ispense to a variety of factors, including
following:

e results of clinical trials of our product candidate those of our competito

< any delay in filing an application for any of outoduct candidates and any adverse developmentroeiped adverse developm
with respect to regulatory review of that applioati

« failure to successfully develop and commercialiaeproduct candidates, including brincidofo

e termination of any of our license or collaboratagreement

e any agency or judicial enforcement actions agais

e inability to obtain additional fundin

« regulatory or legal developments in the United&itand other countries applicable to our produndickates

e adverse regulatory decisio

« changes in the structure of healthcare paymentisgs

< inability to obtain adequate product supply for puzduct candidates, or the inability to do socateptable price

< introduction of new products, services or techni@sdpy our competitor

« failure to meet or exceed financial projectionspsevide to the publi

« failure to meet or exceed the estimates and piojecof the investment communi

e changes in the market valuations of similar comgs

« market conditions in the pharmaceutical andduibhology sectors, and the issuance of new or euasgcurities analystegports o
recommendations;

< announcements of significant acquisitions, stratpgrtnerships, joint ventures or capital committadry us or our competito

« significant lawsuits (including patent or stockhaiditigation), and disputes or other developmemelating to proprietary righ
(including patents, litigation matters and our iépiio obtain patent protection for our technol®jie

e additions or departures of key scientific or mamaget personne

« sales of our common stock by us or our stockholutetise future
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e trading volume of our common sto
e general economic, industry and market conditions
« the other factors described in this “Risk Fagtsection

In addition, the stock market in general, and Tlsdhqg Global Market in particular, have experierexdceme price and volume fluctuations
have often been unrelated or disproportionate ecotterating performance of these companies. Braa#tehand industry factors may negati
affect the market price of our common stock, relgssiof our actual operating performance.

Our principal stockholders and management own arsficant percentage of our stock and will be able ¢xert significant control over matte
subject to stockholder approve

Based upon shares of common stock outstanding Readmber 31, 2014our executive officers, directors, 5% stockhaddgnown to us throug
available information) and their affiliates benédlty owned approximately 29.3% of our voting stodkerefore, these stockholders have
ability to substantially influence us through tbisnership position. For example, these stockholdetisey choose to act together, may be ak
influence the election of directors, amendmentswforganizational documents, or approval of anygere sale of assets, or other major corpi
transaction. This concentration of voting powerldalelay or prevent an acquisition of our companyterms that other stockholders may desire.

We are an “emerging growth company,dnd we cannot be certain if the reduced reportingquirements applicable to emerging grov
companies will make our common stock less attraetig investors.

We are an “emerging growth compangg defined in the JOBS Act. For as long as we noatto be an emerging growth company, we may
advantage of exemptions from various reporting ireguents that are applicable to other public corfgmihat are notémerging growt
companies,” including exemption from compliancehwituditor attestation requirements of Section 404he Sarbane®xley Act of 200:
(Sarbanes-Oxley Act), reduced disclosure obligati@garding executive compensation in the Comgadefinitive proxy statement filed with 1
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 294284d our periodic reports, and exemptions fromréagirements of holding a nonbind
advisory vote on executive compensation and stddih@pproval of any golden parachute paymentpratiously approved. We will remain
emerging growth company until the earlier of (arB®mber 31, 2018, (b) the last day of the fiscal yeavhich we have total annual gross reve
of at least $1.0 billion, (c) the last day of tiexél year in which we are deemed to be a largelexated filer, which means the market value o
common stock that is held by naffiliates exceeds $700.0 million as of the priond 30th, and (d) the date on which we have issua@ tha
$1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during thegrthree-year period.

Even after we no longer qualify as an emerging gnovempany, we may still qualify as a “smaller rgjjy company”which would allow us t
take advantage of many of the same exemptions éisolosure requirements including exemption frormpbance with the auditor attestat
requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxletyafvd reduced disclosure obligations regardingtiee compensation in the Compasny’
definitive proxy statement filed with the Secustiand Exchange Commission on April 29, 2014 andpewiodic reports. We cannot predic
investors will find our common stock less attraetivecause we may rely on these exemptions. If sowesstors find our common stock |
attractive as a result, there may be a less atading market for our common stock and our stagkepmay be more volatile.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies tsm@elay adopting new or revised accounting statsdantil such time as those stand
apply to private companies. We have irrevocablgtel not to avail ourselves of this exemption froew or revised accounting standards
therefore, will be subject to the same new or exvigccounting standards as other public compam¢ste not emerging growth companies.

Failure to establish and maintain adequate finana&rastructure and accounting systems and contr@guld impair our ability to comply wit
the financial reporting and internal controls requéments for publicly traded companies.

As a public company, we operate in an increasidgiyanding regulatory environment, which requiretousomply with the Sarban&3xley Aci
of 2002, and the related rules and regulations®fSecurities and Exchange Commission, expandebbslise requirements, accelerated repo
requirements and more complex accounting rules. gaom responsibilities required by the Sarba@akey Act include establishing a
maintaining corporate oversight and adequate iaterantrol over financial reporting and disclosgmntrols and procedures. Effective inte
controls are necessary for us to produce reliabén€ial reports and are important to help previeaincial fraud.

Our compliance with Section 404 of the SarbaB&key Act has required and will continue to requhiat we incur substantial accounting exp:
and expend significant management efforts. In Rutears, our testing, or the subsequent testingubyndependent registered public accour
firm if applicable, may reveal deficiencies in doternal controls that we would be required to rdiaee in a timely manner so as to be ab
comply with the requirements of Section 404 of #aebanes-Oxley
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Act each year. If we are not able to comply witl taquirements of Section 404 of the Sarbddsy Act in a timely manner each year, we c
be subject to sanctions or investigations by theuBges and Exchange Commission, the NASDAQ Stdekket or other regulatory authorit
which would require additional financial and manageat resources and could adversely affect the rhgskee of our common stoc
Furthermore, if we cannot provide reliable finahc&ports or prevent fraud, our business and regiflbperations could be harmed and inve
could lose confidence in our reported financiabinfiation.

Future sales and issuances of our common stock ights to purchase common stock, including pursuantour equity incentive plans, cou
result in additional dilution of the percentage owenship of our stockholders and could cause our dtquice to fall.

We expect that significant additional capital Wik needed in the future to continue our plannedatip@s. To the extent we raise additic
capital by issuing equity securities, our stockkeatdmay experience substantial dilution. We malyceshmon stock, convertible securities or o
equity securities in one or more transactions @eprand in a manner we determine from time to .tif@ example, we have existing sl
registration statements which are effective undbiclvwe can sell an aggregate of up to $108.9 anilbf securities, and for so long as
continue to satisfy the requirements to be deemeglbknown seasoned filer, we are permitted to file fiddal registration statements, wh
will be automatically effective, and allow us tdlselditional securities from time-tome. If we sell common stock, convertible secastor othe
equity securities in more than one transactionestars may be materially diluted by subsequentss&@each sales may also result in mat
dilution to our existing stockholders, and new istees could gain rights superior to our existingckholders.

Pursuant to our 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (the32Blian), our management is authorized to grankstptions to our employees, directors
consultants. The number of shares available farréugrant under our 2013 Plan will automaticallgréase on January 1st each year, thr
January 1, 2023, by an amount equal to 4.0% ddhedres of our capital stock outstanding as of DéeerBlst of the preceding calendar y
subject to the ability of our board of directorgake action to reduce the size of such increas@myngiven year. In addition, our board of dires
may grant or provide for the grant of rights toghase shares of our common stock pursuant to thres tef our 2013 Employee Stock Purct
Plan (ESPP). The number of shares of our commak seserved for issuance under our ESPP will autically increase on January 1st e
year, from January 1, 2014 through January 1, 202Zn amount equal to the lesser of 422,535 slwarese percent of all shares of our ca
stock outstanding as of December 31st of the piegaxhlendar year, subject to the ability of ouatubof directors to take action to reduce the
of such increase in any given year. Unless ourdoéadirectors elects not to increase the numbeshafes underlying our 2013 Plan and E
each year, our stockholders may experience additiitution, which could cause our stock pricedd. f

We have broad discretion in the use of the net mreds from our financing transactions and may notauthem effectively.

Our management has broad discretion in the apjaicaf the net proceeds from our financing trarisast Because of the number and varialk
of factors that will determine our use of the netgeeds from our financing transactions, theirmaditie use may vary substantially from t
currently intended use. The failure by our managenm apply these funds effectively could resulfimancial losses that could have a mat
adverse effect on our business, cause the prioarafommon stock to decline and delay the developmieour product candidates. Pending 1
use, we have invested the net proceeds from owamding transactions in short-term, investment-gradterestbearing securities. The
investments may not yield a favorable return tosiackholders.

Volatility in our stock price could subject us t@surities class action litigation.

In the past, securities class action litigation bfisn been brought against a company following@lide in the market price of its securities. *
risk is especially relevant for us because pharotaa@ companies have experienced significant sfwide volatility in recent years. If we fe
such litigation, it could result in substantial tband a diversion of management’s attention asolurees, which could harm our business.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryfoands and certain other tax attributes may be lindte

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Coded861as amended, if a corporation undergoes anéwmhip change,jenerally defined as
greater than 50% change (by value) in its equitpership over a three year period, the corporatiahibty to use its prehange net operating Ic
carryforwards and other pre-change tax attribuggh as research tax credits) to offset its pbafige income may be limited. We h
determined that a Section 382 ownership changer@atin 2002 and 2007 resulting in limitations ofeast $64,000 and $762,000, respecti
of losses incurred prior to the respective owngrstiange dates. In addition, we have determinedahather Section 382 ownership che
occurred in 2013 with our IPO, our most recent gigvplacement and other transactions that havereccsince 2007, resulting in a limitatior
at least $6.7 million of losses incurred prior twnership change date. We may also experience ohipechanges in the future as a resu
subsequent shifts in our
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stock ownership. As a result, if we earn net taxdabtome, our ability to use our pchange net operating loss carryforwards to offseitdd
States federal taxable income may be subject fitaliimns, which could potentially result in incredsfuture tax liability.

Because we do not anticipate paying any cash dimitleon our common stock in the foreseeable futucapital appreciation, if any, would t
your sole source of gair

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendesun common stock. We currently anticipate thatwik retain future earnings for tl
development, operation and expansion of our busiaed do not anticipate declaring or paying any cigdends for the foreseeable future.
result, capital appreciation, if any, of our commstnck would be your sole source of gain on anstment in our common stock for -
foreseeable future.

Provisions in our corporate charter documents andder Delaware law could make it more difficult fa third party to acquire us or increa
the cost of acquiring us, even if doing so wouldnedit our stockholders and may prevent attemptsdoy stockholders to replace or remove ¢
current management.

Some provisions of our charter documents and Defaeav may have antakeover effects that could discourage an acqoisitif us by other
even if an acquisition would be beneficial to otockholders and may prevent attempts by our stddein® to replace or remove our cur
management. These provisions include:

< authorizing the issuance of “blank cheglkeferred stock, the terms of which may be establisand shares of which may be is:
without stockholder approval which could be usednttitute a “poison pill"that would work to dilute the stock ownership «
potential hostile acquirer, effectively preventeguisitions that have not been approved by ourdbodirectors;

« allowing the authorized number of our directorbéochanged only by resolution of our board of does

< limiting the removal of director

e creating a staggered board of direct

* requiring that stockholder actions must be effeetied duly called stockholder meeting and prohibistockholder actions by writt
consent;

« eliminating the ability of stockholders to callgesial meeting of stockholders; ¢

« establishing advance notice requirements for notiing for election to the board of directors or fwoposing matters that can
acted upon at duly called stockholder meetings.

The amendment of any of these provisions, with gkeeption of the ability of our board of directdmsissue shares of preferred stock
designate any rights, preferences and privilegeeetb, would require the affirmative vote of thddewos of at least 66 2/3% of the voting powe
all of our then outstanding common stock.

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any giterby our stockholders to replace or remove ourect management by making it m
difficult for stockholders to replace members of bdward of directors, which is responsible for apping the members of our managemen
addition, we are subject to Section 203 of the Dala General Corporation Law, which generally podkia Delaware corporation from engag
in any of a broad range of business combinatiorth an interested stockholder for a period of thyears following the date on which
stockholder became an interested stockholder, sislesh transactions are approved by our boardeftdrs. This provision could have the ef
of delaying or preventing a change of control, Wketor not it is desired by or beneficial to owrcktholders. Further, other provisions of Delav
law may also discourage, delay or prevent somemme &cquiring us or merging with us.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters are located at 2505dMarParkway, Suite 340, Durham, North Carolinal®rin a facility we lease encompass
approximately 21,000 square feet of office spadee Teases for this facility expire in June 2015 &mtbruary 2018. We separately leas
additional 7,925 square feet of laboratory spadeurham, North Carolina. The lease for this fagiékpires in June 2018.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

None.
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ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information
Our common stock began trading on The NASDAQ Gldbatket on April 11, 2013 under the symbol “CMRRtior to such time, there was
public market for our common stock. The followiralplke sets forth the high and low sales prices lparesof our common stock as reported on

NASDAQ Global Market for the periods indicated. Buguotations represent in-dealer prices without retail markup, markdown omaassior
and may not necessarily represent actual transactio

Year Ended December 31, 2014

High Low
First Quarter $ 27.1¢ % 15.5¢
Second Quarter $ 23.2¢ % 14.22
Third Quarter $ 30.0: % 19.3¢
Fourth Quarter $ 40.8¢ % 29.0¢

Year Ended December 31, 2013

High Low
Second Quarter (beginning April 11, 2013) $ 2510 $ 15.11
Third Quarter $ 27.0C % 15.31
Fourth Quarter $ 2250 $ 12.9¢

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph shows a comparison from Apfil 2013 through December 31, 20if4he cumulative total return for our common staitk
NASDAQ Biotechnology Index (NBI) and the NASDAQ Cpuosite Index (CCMP). The graph assumes as initildstment of $100 on April 1
2013. The comparisons in the graph are not intetml&atrecast or be indicative of possible futurefganance of our common stock.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return*
Among Chimerix, Inc., the NASDAQ Biotechnology Inde and the NASDAQ Composite Index

$250.00
£200.00
e Chimerix, Inc.

$150.00

MASDAQ Biotechnology
£100.00 - Index

NASDAQ Composite

£50.00 Index
20.00 T T T

04/11/13 1213113 12131114

(1) This section is not “soliciting materials not deemed “filed” with the SEC and is not tarmorporated by reference in any of our filings
under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act whathede before or after the date hereof and irrdiygeaf any general incorporation languag
any such filing.

(2) *$100 invested on 4/11/2013 in stock oreird
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Stockholders

As of December 31, 2014 , there weres38ckholders of record of our common stock, whigblwes stockholders whose shares were he
nominee or street name by brokers. The actual numbeommon stockholders is greater than the nunaberecord holders, and incluc
stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whbsees are held in street name by brokers and ntiramees. This number of holders of rec
also does not include stockholders whose sharesomagld in trust by other entities.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsio common stock. We currently intend to retdimeailable funds and any future earni
to support our operations and finance the growthdevelopment of our business. We do not intengbfpocash dividends on our common s
for the foreseeable future. Any future determinatielated to our dividend policy will be made at tiscretion of our board of directors and
depend upon, among other factors, our results efatipns, financial condition, capital requirememisntractual restrictions, business prosg
and other factors our board of directors may deslavant.

The following table provides certain informationtivrespect to all of our equity compensation plareffect as of December 31, 2014 .

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of
Number of * Weighted- securities remaining
securities to be average available for
issued upon exercise price issuance under
exercise of outstanding equity compensation
of outstanding options, plans (excluding
options, warrants warrants securities reflected
and rights and rights in column (a))
Plan Category (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrsid 1,859,971 $ 15.7¢ 2,092,12! (1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechadtglers n/e n/e n/e
Total 1,859,971 $ 15.7¢ 2,092,12! (1)

(1)Of the 2,092,125 shares available for issuance5994vere reserved for issuance under our 2013 EmplSy@ek Purchase Ple
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

Information about our equity compensation planisésrporated herein by reference to Item 12 of Ridf this Annual Report.
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Afiated Purchasers

We did not purchase any of our securities durirgpériod covered by this Annual Report.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial dateould be read together with our consolidated firenstatements and related notes
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan@aindition and Results of Operationappearing elsewhere in this Annual Report.
selected financial data in this section are narided to replace our consolidated financial statésnend the related notes. Our historical re
are not necessarily indicative of the results thay be expected in the future.

We derived the following selected consolidatedesteant of operations data for the years ended Degegih 2014 , 2013 , 2012 , and 2Giik

the selected consolidated balance sheet dataesceimber 31, 2014 and 20ft8m our audited consolidated financial statemeanis related not
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Years Ended December 31,

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data 2014 2013 2012 2011
Revenues:
Contract revenue $ 4,04C % 437C % 16,27F $ 12,04¢
Collaboration and licensing revenue — — 17,44: 55
Total revenues 4,04( 4,37( 33,72( 12,10:
Operating expenses:
Research and development 45,37¢ 24,66: 30,10¢ 30,10¢
General and administrative 17,527 8,321 6,391 6,98t
Total operating expenses 62,90¢ 32,98¢ 36,50: 37,09
Loss from operations (58,86¢) (28,619 (2,789 (24,99))
Other expense:
Interest expense, net (44%) (1,239 (77€) (212)
Fair value adjustments to preferred stock ararliability — (6,590 (847) (38E)
Loss on disposition of assets ()] 4) — —
Net loss (59,317 (36,44%) (4,406 (25,589
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock — (34,109 (4,357) (9,565
Net loss attributable to common shareholders $ (59,31) (70,557 (8,767) (35,159
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ 21.80 $ (3.65 $ (.75 $ (23.49)
Weighted-average shares outstanding, basic anedilu 33,003,71 19,307,42 1,524,62 1,496,26.

Years Ended December 31,

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data 2014 2013 2012 2011

Cash and cash equivalents $ 128,46. $ 109,97¢ $ 19,90¢ $ 13,60"
Short-term investments, available-for-sale (1) 106,11- — 9,84¢ 5,91¢
Working capital 220,39 102,80: 23,93 18,01(
Long-term investments (1) 52,97 — — —
Total assets 291,87t 113,38 32,03: 25,43
Loan payable, net, current portion (2) 4,29¢ 5,57: 4,75 16C
Loan payable, net, less current portion (2) — 4,29¢ 9,867 2,441
Redeemable convertible preferred stock warranilitiab — — 7,512 6,491
Redeemable convertible preferred stock — — 107,72: 103,36t
Accumulated deficit (222,04 (162,73() (101,03) (93,679
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ 274,63t $ 98,53¢ $ (101,03) $ (93,68()

(1) Further details of investments is availabléNiotes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Nokair Value of Financial Instrumentsh
Item 8 of this Annual Report.
(2) Loan payable is net of debt discol
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The following discussion and analysis should ba rieeconjunction with “Selected Financial Datahd our financial statements and related n
included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Thisulson and analysis and other parts of this AnrRgbort contain forwardeoking statemen
based upon current beliefs, plans and expectattbas involve risks, uncertainties and assumpticgh as statements regarding our pli
objectives, expectations, intentions and projectio®ur actual results and the timing of selectednév could differ materially from thc
anticipated in these forward-looking statementaassult of several factors, including those sethfainder “Risk Factors”and elsewhere in tt
Annual Report. You should carefully read “Risk Factors” section of this Annual Report to gaan understanding of the important factdnsi
could cause actual results to differ materially froour forward-looking statements. Please also $ee dection entitled “Forward-ooking
Statements.”

Overview

Chimerix, Inc. is a biopharmaceutical company daigid to discovering, developing and commercializiogel, oral antivirals to address un
medical needs. We were founded in 2000 based oprtmise of our proprietary lipid conjugate tectogyl to unlock the potential of some of
most broadspectrum antivirals by enhancing their antiviraivaty and safety profiles in convenient, orallyraihistered dosing regimens. Ba
on our proprietary lipid conjugate technology, tead compound, brincidofovir (BCV, CMX001), is im&se 3 clinical development. In additi
we have an active discovery program focusing oal W@rgets for which limited or no therapies arerently available.

Recent Developmen
Interim Results from Phase 3 AdVise T

Our AdVise trial is a Phase 3 study of brincidofofor the treatment of adenovirus (AdV) infectiom allogeneic HCT recipients and ot
immunocompromised patients. In February 2015, vesgmted preliminary results from the first 85 satgeenrolled in the AdVise trial at t
annual BMT Tandem Meetings. Patients with localipedlisseminated adenovirus infection receive lisfovir for 12 weeks and are follow
for a minimum of 12 weeks after they complete tresit. Preliminary results showed a mortality rdt8 @6 (20 of 54) amongst allogeneic H
recipients with disseminated disease; this moytatite has clinical implications for the potentiaility of brincidofovir in these patients, giv
published mortality rates of up to 80 percent fibogeneic transplant recipients with disseminatdérmvirus disease. Notably, the alloge
transplant recipients who began brincidofovir wibalized or asymptomatic adenovirus infection hadbbserved mortality rate of 11 percer
of 18 subjects). Median observation in this analygas 10 weeks following the first dose (rangeo B4 weeks). In addition to these impor
clinical outcomes, a median decrease of greater @®apercent in the amount of AdV in the blood decreased to undetectable levels)
observed in the majority of patients. Over halftleé patients enrolled in AdVise had more than osBNA viral infection at the time

enrollment. These results were consistent withrésellts observed in the first 45 subjects in th&/iad trial as presented at the October :
annual Infectious Disease Society of America meggtiDWeek®).

The preliminary safety and tolerability data instlaicutely ill patient population showed a low ratevithdrawal due to brincidofoviassociate
adverse events (3/85, 4 percent), with three patieithdrawing from therapy due to lower gastrostiteal events.

Although adenovirus infection has been mostly dbedrin a pediatric population, approximately dhigel of subjects enrolled in AdVise were
years of age or older, with the oldest patient 88 years old. Importantly, over half of the pat'ewho qualified for AdVise had a seci
significant dsDNA (doublestranded DNA) viral infection in addition to adeiros; these infections included BK virus (BKV) (4&rcent)
cytomegalovirus (28 percent) and Epstein Barr vifupercent).

Later in 2015, we will formally review with the U.Sood and Drug Administration (FDA) a strategyNew Drug Application (NDA) submissit
for brincidofovir that will include efficacy and ey data from both the AdVise and SUPPRESS trials.

Selection of CMX669 as Clinical Candidate
On October 15, 2014, we announced the selectiannivel clinical candidate, CMX669, for BKV and eytegalovirus (CMV). This new prodi

candidate has demonstrated pofantitro activity against CMV and BKV. We are currently evating CMX669 in preclinical testing. We are
the process of considering future studies involviMgX669 including the potential for initiating clzal studies in 2015.
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ContraVir Commercial Agreement

On December 17, 2014, the Company entered intceade agreement with ContraVir Pharmaceuticals (NX3: CTRV) for the developme
and commercialization of CMX157 for certain antiiindications. Under the terms of the agreemeont@Vir has sole responsibility w
respect to the control of the development and comiadezation of CMX157. In exchange for the license CMX157 rights, we received
upfront payment consisting of 120,000 shares oft@dfir Series B Convertible Preferred Stock witbtated value of $1.2 million. In addition,
are eligible to receive up to approximately $20lionil in clinical, regulatory and initial commercialilestones in the United States and Europ
well as royalties and additional milestones basedammercial sales in those territories.

Intellectual Property

On January 12, 2015, the United States Patent eamemark Office issued a Notice of Allowance fguadent application covering a methot
synthesis and the commercial morphic form of bdofdvir. On February 24, 2015, this patent issue@himerix as U.S. Patent No. 8,962,¢
With the addition of this most recent patent, cosifian of matter coverage for brincidofovir in theS. is expected to extend to October 2034.

Financial Overview
Revenue:

To date, we have not generated any revenue froduptsales. All of our revenue to date has beeivebfrom government grants and contr
and the receipt of up-front proceeds under ouraboltation and license agreement.

In February 2011, we entered into a contract wikRBA, a U.S. governmental agency that supportsattieanced research and developn
manufacturing, acquisition, and stockpiling of noadicountermeasures. The contract originally ceadisf an initial performance period, refet
to as the base performance segment, which endbthgr31l, 2013, plus up to four extension periodapgdroximately one year each, referred 1
option segments. Subsequent option segments @otiieact are not subject to automatic renewal aadat exercisable at Chimerixdiscretior
The contract is a cost plus fixed fee developmentract. Under the contract as currently in effea,may receive up to $75.8 million in expe
reimbursement and $5.3 million in fees if all remag option segments are exercised. We are cuyrgetiforming under the first and sec
option segments of the contract during which we megive up to a total of $5.3 million and $17.0liom in expense reimbursement and f
respectively. The first option segment is exped¢tednd on March 31, 2015 and the second option segjim scheduled to end on Novembel
2015. As of December 31, 2014 , we had recognigednue in aggregate of $ 36.7 milliaith respect to the base performance segment est
and second extension periods.

In July 2012, we entered into a collaboration acensing agreement with Merck, Sharp & Dohme Capon (Merck). The agreement provi
for various types of payments, including a $17.8iom non-refundable upfront license fee, contingeventbased milestone payments and fu
royalties on net product sales. We recognized gfient license fee payment from Merck as revenuéHe year ended December 31, 2012, a
remaining performance obligations under the cohtrere not considered substantive. We did not neieegany revenue under this agreemer
the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014. Tresécagreement with Merck was terminated in Mayt201

On December 17, 2014, the Company entered intdlabooation and licensing agreement with Contra®fiarmaceuticals (NASDAQ: CTRV).
exchange for the license to CMX157 rights, we nemgian upfront payment consisting of 120,000 shafeGontraVir Series B Convertik
Preferred Stock with a stated value of $1.2 millibnaddition, we are eligible to receive clinicedgulatory and initial commercial milestone
the United States and Europe, as well as royadties additional milestones based on commercial salésose territories. We recognized
upfront license fee payment from ContraVir as defg@revenue for the year ended December 31, 2@1dumaperformance obligations were
completed as of December 31, 2014 .

In the future, we may generate revenue from a coatioin of product sales, license fees, milestongneats and royalties from the sale!
products developed under licenses of our intelgiuoperty. We expect that any revenue we genevriit@uctuate from quarter to quarter a
result of the timing and amount of license feedestone and other payments, and the amount andgiofipayments that we receive upon the
of our products, to the extent any are successb@ulymercialized. If we fail to complete the develemt of our product candidates in a tin
manner or obtain regulatory approval for them, ahitity to generate future revenue, and our resfligperations and financial position, woulc
materially adversely affected.
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Research and Development Expen:

Since our inception, we have focused our resowneasur research and development activities, inolgidonducting preclinical studies and clin
trials, manufacturing development efforts and dtitis related to regulatory filings for our producandidates. We recognize research
development expenses as they are incurred. Costseftain development activities are recognizecethasn an evaluation of the progres
completion of specific tasks using information aeta provided to us by our vendors. We cannot ohéter with certainty the duration a
completion costs of the current or future clinistldies of our product candidates. Our researcidandlopment expenses consist primarily of:

« fees paid to consultants and contract researcmaéoons (CROSs), including in connection with qareclinical and clinical trial
and other related clinical trial fees, such as iforestigator grants, patient screening, laborateork, clinical trial databa:
management, clinical trial material managementsatistical compilation and analysis;

« salaries and related overhead expenses, whichdimaltock option and employee stock purchase progeampensation and benet
for personnel in research and development functions

« payments to thirgharty manufacturers, which produce, test and packag drug substance and drug product (includingicoec
testing of process validation and stability);

« costs related to legal and compliance with regwyatequirements; at

« license fees for and milestone payments relatéddnsed products and technolog

From our inception through December 31, 2014 , eseehincurred approximately $ 199.0 millionresearch and development expenses, of \
$ 165.6 millionrelates to our development of brincidofovir. Werpta increase our research and development expéarste foreseeable futt
as we continue development of brincidofovir for irevention of CMV infection in HCT recipients, ftre treatment of AdV infections, for 1
prevention of CMV in kidney transplant recipientsdafor other indications, and to advance the dearaknt of our other product candida
subject to the availability of additional funding.

The table below summarizes our research and dawelapexpenses for the periods indicated (in thalsa®ur direct research and developr
expenses consist primarily of external costs, aglfees paid to investigators, consultants, celabaratories and CROSs, in connection with
clinical trials, preclinical development, and payrseto thirdparty manufacturers of drug substance and drugugtode typically use o
employee and infrastructure resources across reutggearch and development programs.

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Direct research and development expenses $ 31,40 $ 13,18 $ 22,01
Research and development personnel costs 10,74 9,34« 5,91«
Indirect research and development expenses 3,23¢ 2,13¢ 2,17¢
Total research and development expenses $ 4537¢ % 24,66: $ 30,10¢

The successful development of our clinical and Ipre@l product candidates is highly uncertain.tAis time, we cannot reasonably estimate
nature, timing or costs of the efforts that will becessary to complete the remainder of the demedap of any of our clinical or preclinic
product candidates or the period, if any, in whichterial net cash inflows from these product caaigisl may commence. This is due to
numerous risks and uncertainties associated withlévelopment of our product candidates, including:

« the uncertainty of the scope, rate of progresseapeinse of our ongoing, as well as any additicsiaical trials and other reseal
and development activities;

« the potential benefits of our candidates over otherapies

« the ability to market, commercialize and achievekegacceptance for any of our product candiddtaswe are developing or i
develop in the future;

¢ the results of ongoing or future clinical tri:

< the timing and receipt of any regulatory approvaig

« the filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcingafent claims and other intellectual property tsgland the expense of doing

A change in the outcome of any of these variabligls iespect to the development of a product candidauld mean a significant change in
costs and timing associated with the developmethaifproduct candidate. For example, if the FDAmother regulatory authority were to req
us to conduct clinical trials beyond those thatoweently anticipate will be required for the
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completion of clinical development of a product digiate in the United States or in Europe, or ifexperience significant delays in enrollmer
any of our clinical trials, we could be requiredetgpend significant additional financial resouraesl time with respect to the development of
product candidate.

Brincidofovir

The majority of our research and development ressuare currently focused on our Phase 3 triatintidofovir for prevention of CMV in HC
recipients, SUPPRESS, our Phase 3 trial of bridoidoas a treatment for AdV, AdVise, and our otpanned clinical and preclinical studies
other work needed to provide sufficient data supipgrthe safety, tolerability and efficacy of bridafovir for approval in the United States i
equivalent health authority approval outside théé¢hStates. We have incurred and expect to comtiauncur significant expense in connec
with these efforts, including expenses related to:

« manufacturing to produce, test and package our sluibgtance and drug product for brincidofovir;
e initiation, enrollment, and conduct of SUPPRE

¢ initiation, enrollment, and conduct of AdVise; i

< initiation, enroliment, and conduct of a kidneynisplant trial

In addition, pursuant to our contract with BARDAgware evaluating brincidofovir for the treatmentsafallpox. During the base performa
segment of the contract, we incurred significangemse in connection with the development of ortlkopaus animal models, the demonstratio
efficacy and pharmacokinetics of brincidofovir iretanimal models, the conduct of an open labeicairsafety study for subjects with DNA vi
infections, and the manufacture and process vaidatf bulk drug substance and brincidofovir 100 tablets. During the first option segmen
the contract, we performed additional animal testifi brincidofovir. In September 2014, we initiatpdrformance under the second of
segment of the contract with BARDA and performeditonal animal testing of brincidofovir.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist prynafi salaries and related costs for employeesxacetive, finance, marketing, inves
relations, information technology, legal, humarotegses and administrative support functions, inclgdharebased compensation expenses
benefits. Other significant general and administeaexpenses include the pgeatnch activities for brincidofovir, accounting afedjal service:
cost of various consultants, director and offiéahility insurance, occupancy costs and informatpstems.

We expect that our general and administrative esgmvill continue to increase due to the potestahmercialization of our product candida
We believe that these increases will likely incluldereased costs for director and officer liabilitgurance, costs related to the hiring of additl
personnel and increased fees for outside conssltiautyers and accountants.

Interest Income (Expense), Ni
Interest income consists of interest earned orcasin, cash equivalents, short-term investmentsoagdterm investments.

Interest expense consists primarily of interestwent or paid on amounts outstanding under our lasehSecurity Agreement (LSA) with Silic
Valley Bank (SVB) and MidCap Financial SBIC, LP @@ap). In January 2012, we borrowed $3.0 milliodemthe LSA, and in Septem|
2012, we borrowed an additional $12.0 million. ADecember 31, 2014, the balance of the loan wa& ridlion.

Revaluation of Warrants

In conjunction with various financing transactiomg issued warrants to purchase shares of ourrpedfand common stock. The underly
security of the warrants related to the Series&riting and to our term loan was redeemable aifitien of the security holder. As a result, tt
warrants were classified as a liability and werekad-tomarket at each reporting date. The fair value eggmof these warrants were determ
using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model and lzeed, in part, on subjective assumptions. besth changes in the fair value of the wau
liability were recorded as fair value adjustmemtsmarrant liability. The final revaluation of theawants occurred just prior to our April 2(
initial public offering of common stock (IPO). Updhe IPO these warrants converted into warrantcéonmon stock and therefore no lor
require revaluation.
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Share-based Compensation

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASBhauitative guidance requires that shhesed payment transactions with employee
recognized in the financial statements based dnftie value and recognized as compensation expewsr the vesting period. Total consolid;
share-based compensation expense of $4.4 mili8rl, million and $1.4 million was recognized in §fears ended December 31, 2014 , 2848
2012 , respectively. The sharesed compensation expense recognized includechs&xer stock options, restricted stock units (RS&l ou
employee stock purchase plan purchase rights.

We estimate the fair value of our share-based avar@mployees and directors using the Bl@ckeoles pricing model. This estimate is affe
by our stock price as well as assumptions includiregexpected volatility, expected term, rfse interest rate, expected dividend yield, exge
rate of forfeiture and the fair value of the unglery common stock on the date of grant.

For performance-based stock options and performbased RSUs, we begin to recognize the expense whesndeemed probable that
performance-based goal will be met. We evaluatetbbability of achieving performance-based goalai@uarterly basis.

Equity instruments issued to nemployees are periodically revalued as the eqogriuments vest and are recognized as expensehaevezlate
service period.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgmats and Estimates

Our managemerg’discussion and analysis of financial conditiod eesults of operations is based on our auditedal@lated financial statemer
which have been prepared in accordance with gdperaepted accounting principles in the Unitede&dt@f America (GAAP). The preparatior
these consolidated financial statements requirdse usake estimates and judgments that affect therted amounts of assets, liabilities, reve
and expenses. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate #stisnates and judgments. We base our estimatésstamical experience and on vari
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable uhdeaircumstances. These estimates and assumfitiomshe basis for making judgments at
the carrying values of assets and liabilities dmal recording of revenues and expenses that areeadily apparent from other sources. Ac
results and experiences may differ materially ftbese estimates. In addition, our reported findro@adition and results of operations could \
if new accounting standards are enacted that goléecaple to our business.

Our significant accounting policies are describedNote 1 to our audited consolidated financialestants for the year end&bcember 31, 20:
included in this Annual Report. We believe that aacounting policies relating to revenue recognitiesearch and development prepaids
accruals, investments and shhesed compensation are the most critical to uraletsig and evaluating our reported financial resife hav
identified these policies as critical because theth are important to the presentation of our fai@ncondition and results of operations
require us to make judgments and estimates on medtiat are inherently uncertain and may changgitiure periods. For more informati
regarding these policies, you should refer to Nlote our audited consolidated financial statemextisided in this Annual Report.

Revenue Recognitio

We derive our revenues from two sources: contractsgrants, and collaborations and licensing. @ehgind grant revenue is revenue gene
pursuant to federal contracts and other awardedtgra&ollaboration and licensing revenue is reverelated to license and collaboral
agreements. We recognize revenue in accordancethgtieriteria outlined in the Securities and Exge@Commission (SEQ)’ Topic 13 an
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 685-and by the Financial Accounting Standards Boaotlowing these accounting pronounceme
revenue is recognized when all four of the follogvioriteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of margement exists; (ii) delivery of the prodt
and/or services has occurred and risk of loss assagl; (iii) the selling price is fixed or deteratbite; and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured

For arrangements that involve the delivery of mibi@n one element, each product, service and/ot tighise assets is evaluated to deter
whether it qualifies as a separate unit of accognfrhis determination is based on whether thevelelble has “stand-alone value’the custome
The consideration that is fixed or determinabl¢hisn allocated to each separate unit of accouttiérsgd on the relative selling prices of ¢
deliverable. The consideration allocated to eadh afnaccounting is recognized as the related gaous services are delivered, limited to
consideration that is not contingent upon futurbvdeables. If the arrangement constitutes a singli of accounting, the revenue recogni
policy must be determined for the entire arrangeraed the consideration received is recognized theeperiod of inception through the date
last deliverable within the single unit of accougtiis expected to be delivered. Revisions to thienated period of recognition are reflecte:
revenue prospectively.
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Non-refundable upfront fees are recorded as defeeednue and recognized into revenue as licenseff@@scollaborations on a straiglihe
basis over the estimated period of our substam@réormance obligations. If we do not have substarerformance obligations, we recogi
non+efundable upfront fees into revenue through the tlee deliverable is satisfied. Analyzing the agement to identify deliverables requ
the use of judgment, and each deliverable may bebdigation to deliver services, a right or licerteeuse an asset, or another perform
obligation.

Milestone payments are recognized when earned,idadvthat (i) the milestone event is substantivig, tiiere is no ongoing performar
obligation related to the achievement of the milestearned, and (iii) it would result in additiopalyments. Milestone payments are consic
substantive if all of the following conditions ameet: the milestone payment is nmefundable; achievement of the milestone was redaeabl
assured at the inception of the arrangement; sufbstaeffort is involved to achieve the milestorsgid the amount of the milestone app
reasonable in relation to the effort expended,attier milestones in the arrangement and the rel&&dassociated with the achievement ol
milestone. Contingent based event payments we e@gjvie under a license or collaboration agreeméhb&recognized when received.

From our inception through December 31, 20i¥ have not generated any revenue from prodles.sgor the same period, we have gene
$74.2 millionin grant and contract revenue. We recognize revemaer government grants and contracts as qualifg@search activities ¢
conducted based on invoices received from compangers. Any amounts received in advance of perfoomare recorded as deferred rev
until earned.

In July 2012, we entered into a collaboration acensing agreement with Merck, Sharp & Dohme Capon (Merck). The agreement provic
for various types of payments, including a $17.8iom non-refundable upfront license fee, contingeventbased milestone payments and fu
royalties on net product sales. We recognized ffient license fee payment from Merck as revenueHe year ended December 31, 2012, a
remaining performance obligations under the cohtvegre not considered substantive. The contingeahtbased payments pursuant to
agreement with Merck did not meet the definitionaofnilestone as achievement of the triggering ef@nsuch payments was based on
performance of Merck and not our performance. Tioeeethe milestone method was not applied to amch gayments. We did not recognize
revenue under this agreement for the years endedniitger 31, 2014 and 2013. The license agreememivégtck was terminated in May 2014.

On December 17, 2014, we entered into a collalmradnd license agreement with ContraVir Pharmacalsti In exchange for the license
CMX157 rights, we received an upfront payment cstirtgj of 120,000 shares of ContraVir Series B Cadildle Preferred Stock with a sta
value of $1.2 million. In addition, we are eligibte receive up to approximately $20 million in @tal, regulatory and initial commerc
milestones in the United States and Europe, asagalbyalties and additional milestones based amuercial sales in those territories.

The upfront payment of 120,0@8Dares of ContraVir Series B Convertible PrefeBamtk was valued at $1.5 million at the time of dgeeemen
We recorded this amount as a long-term investmedtdeferred revenue. Upon completion of the transfehe IND and technical knowew
related to CMX157, we will recognize the upfronypeent as revenue. As of December 31, 2014, thisfea had not been completed.

Research and Development Prepaids and Accrt

As part of the process of preparing financial stests, we are required to estimate our expensehingsfrom our obligation under contracts v
vendors and consultants and clinical site agreesrierdonnection with our research and developmiotte. The financial terms of these contri
are subject to negotiations which vary contraatdotract and may result in payment flows that domatch the periods over which material
services are provided to us under such contracts.

Our objective is to reflect the appropriate reseaand development expenses in our financial stattsriey matching those expenses with
period in which services and efforts are expend¥d.account for these expenses according to therggegf our research and developr
efforts. We determine prepaid and accrual estintatesigh discussion with applicable personnel antdide service providers as to the progre
state of communication of clinical trials, or otlearvices completed. We adjust our rate of resemmndhdevelopment expense recognition if a
results differ from our estimates. We make estismafeour prepaid and accrued expenses as of edaicbasheet date in our financial staterr
based on facts and circumstances known at that #ftleough we do not expect our estimates to beerally different from amounts actua
incurred, our understanding of status and timinges¥/ices performed relative to the actual statgsteming of services performed may vary
may result in us reporting amounts that are tot leigtoo low for any particular period. Through Betber 31, 2014 there had been no mate
adjustments to our prior period estimates of pikpaid accruals for research and development expe®sg research and development prej
and accruals are dependent upon the timely andateaeporting of contract research organizatiovsather third-party vendors.
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Investments

Investments consist primarily of corporate bondskéred certificates of deposit, U.S. Treasury gées, commercial paper, and preferred s
of an unconsolidated affiliate. We invest in higledit quality investments in accordance with oawwvestment policy which minimizes 1
probability of loss.

Available-forsale securities are carried at fair value as démeinby quoted market prices, with the unrealizathg and losses, net of t
reported as a separate component of stockholdéist.dRealized gains and losses are determinedgusie specific identification method ¢
transactions are recorded on a settlement date imasiterest income or expense, net. Investmeiitsaviginal maturities beyond three month
the date of purchase and which mature on, or less tivelve months from, the balance sheet datelassified as shoterm. Investments with
maturity beyond twelve months from the balance sde¢e are classified as long-term. We periodicedlyiew available-foisale securities fi
other-tharntemporary declines in fair value below the cosidaad whenever events or changes in circumstandisite that the carrying amo!
of an asset may not be recoverable. We evaluatengmther things, the duration and extent to whighfair value of a security is less thar
cost; the financial condition of the issuer and ahgnges thereto; and our intent to sell, or whretleewill more likely than not be required to s
the security before recovery of our amortized dustis. Any such declines in value judged to be rethen-temporary on available-fegle
securities are reported in interest income or egpenet. There were no such declines in valuehtoyéars ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 .

We also analyze our investments in unconsolidatfiiates for impairment. This analysis consistsd&termining whether an expected los
market value of an investment is other than temydog evaluating the length of time and the extenwhich the market value has been less
cost, the financial condition and nearm prospects of the unconsolidated affiliate, andintent and ability to retain our investment &operiot
of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated ce@ry in market value. As the factors used in #malysis are difficult to predict and are subje
future events that may alter the assumptions, we lbearequired to recognize future impairment lossesour investments in unconsolide
affiliates.

Valuation of Share-Based Compensation

We record the fair value of stock options issue@rtployees as of the grant date as compensati@nsgpWe recognize compensation exg
over the requisite service period, which is eqoahe vesting period. For n@mployees, we also record the fair value of stqaioas as of th
grant date as compensation expense. We then paailydiemeasure the awards to reflect the current fairevatueach reporting period until
nonemployee completes the performance obligation erddite on which a performance commitment is readbegense is recognized over
related service period.

Share-based compensation expense includes stacki®pind RSUs granted to employees, stock opticargted to noremployees and employ
stock purchase plan purchase rights and has bperted in our Consolidated Statements of OperamusComprehensive Loss as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Income Statement Classification:
Research and development expense:
Employee $ 1,08 $ 1,908 $ 33¢
Non-employee — 67 8C
General and administrative expense:
Employee 3,32¢ 1,017 921
Non-employee — 82 59
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 4411 % 3071 $ 1,39

We calculate the fair value of RSU based compemsdtased on the closing price of our common stocthe date the RSU vests.
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We calculate the fair value of share-based compemsawards using the Black-Scholes option-priaimgdel. The Black-Scholes optigmicing
model requires the use of subjective assumptiomdyding volatility of our common stock, the expettterm of our stock options, the risk 1
interest rate for a period that approximates thmeeted term of our stock options and the fair valuthe underlying common stock on the dat

grant. In applying these assumptions, we considdre¢bllowing factors:

We have limited operating history to estimate tbéatility of our common stock price. We calculatgected volatility based or
blend of company specific historical data and augrof similar publicly traded companies for whidte thistorical information
available. For the purpose of identifying peer canips, we consider characteristics such as induistngth of trading histor
similar vesting terms and in-thmeney option status. We plan to continue to useythéeline peer group volatility information ui
the historical volatility of our common stock ideeant to measure expected volatility for futurd¢iap grants.

Prior to our IPO, we determined the average expedt of stock options based on the simplified Invet in accordance with Sl
Staff Accounting Bulletin Nos. 107 and 110. We etge use the simplified method until we have sidint historical exercise d:
to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estiegbected term.

We determine the riskee interest rate by reference to implied yieldailable from U.S. Treasury securities with a ramreg tern
equal to the expected life assumed at the dateaot.g

The assumed dividend yield is based on our expentaf not paying dividends for the foreseeableife

We estimate forfeitures based on our historicalyemaof actual stock option forfeitur:

The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes opti@ingrmodel for the years ended December 31, 2@D4.3 , and 2012 are set forth below:

Employee Stock Optiol

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected volatility 71.81% 76.4(% 80.55%
Expected term (in years) 6.C 6.1 6.C
Weighted-average risk-free interest rate 1.92% 1.4% 0.8€%
Expected dividend yield —% —% —%
Weighted-average fair value per option 140C $ 252 % 1.9¢

Nor-employee Stock Options

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected volatility 68.6% 79.6% 81.7%
Expected term (in years) 5.7 6.2 5.8
Weighted-average risk-free interest rate 1.87% 1.3(% 0.7¢%
Expected dividend yield —% —% —%
Weighted-average fair value per option 14.1: % 5.01 $ 3.4¢

Employee Stock Purchase Pl

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected volatility 74.2% 51.22% *
Expected term (in years) 0.8 1.2 *
Weighted-average risk-free interest rate 0.0% 0.25% *
Expected dividend yield —% —% *
Weighted-average option value per share 9.9 % 4.2C *

*Employee stock purchase plan initiated in 2013.




Common Stock Fair Value

Prior to our IPO, the fair value of our common &téar purposes of determining the exercise prigestock option grants was determined on
grant date by our board of directors, or by a cottemiof our board of directors acting under delegauthority, with input from management.
options to purchase shares of our common stock iwereded to be granted with an exercise priceshare no less than the fair value per she
our common stock underlying those options on the dégrant, determined in good faith and basetherinformation known to us on the dat
grant. In the absence of a public trading markebto common stock prior to our IPO, on each gdaté, our board of directors, or a committe
our board of directors acting under delegated aiffhaonsidered various objective and subjectaetdrs, along with input from managemen
determine the fair value of our common stock, idoig:

« external market conditions affecting the bioteclbgglindustry

e trends within the biotechnology indus

« the prices at which we sold shares of prefestedk to thirdparty investor:

« the superior rights and preferences of the predesteck relative to our common stock at the timeauth gran

e ourresults of operations, financial positiom@tss of our research and development effortsestdgevelopment and business
strategy;

¢ the lack of an active public market for our comnaml our preferred stock; &

« the likelihood of achieving a liquidity eventlight of prevailing market conditions, such asi@itial public offering or sale of our
company.

Our board of directors, or a committee of our baafrdirectors acting under delegated authorityo @lsnsidered and relied upon appraisals c
value of our stock from an independent thpaity valuation specialist who conducted a thoroaghlysis using methodologies, approache:
assumptions consistent with the American Instiaft€ertified Public Accountants (AICPA) Audit anccéounting Practice Aid Series: Valuat
of Privately Held Company Equity Securities IssasdCompensation (AICPA Practice Guide). The indépenthirdparty valuation speciali
provided appraisals containing the valuation aresyts the fair value of our common stock.

For all grants of stock options made following ttwempletion of our IPO in April 2013, we have detareud, and will determine in the future, 1
value based on the closing price of our commorkstocThe NASDAQ Global Market on the date of deteation.

Fair Value Adjustments to Warrant Liability

We issued warrants to purchase shares of our Sefpesferred stock in connection with (i) a loam @ecurity agreement entered into with £
and MidCap in January 2012, and (ii) an equityriting agreement with certain investors for the sélSeries F preferred stock, which occu
in February 2011. As discussed in Note 6 to ouitaddinancial statements for the year ending Ddzem31, 2014ncluded in this Annual Repao
the warrants to purchase shares of our SeriesfErprd stock were classified as a liability and evezquired to be measured at fair value fo
year ending December 31, 2012. Upon completionuoflBO in April 2013, these warrants were adjustea fair value of $14.1 million. Tl
warrant liability was reclassified as common sta@rants and therefore no longer required revaloati

The adjustment to the fair valuation of the warsargsulted in other expense of $0 million , $6.@iom and $0.8 millionfor the year ende
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2Q¥2spectively. The warrants were valued using@dtage process. Using a contingent claims mollelfdi
value of total equity and all components of ouritzstructure, including the warrants, was deteedi as of the time of our sale of Seri¢
preferred stock. Using this value as a startinghpa series of equity values and associated pilithes were calculated using simulat
methodologies that incorporated both Monte Carld ask neutral frameworks. Using a contingent ckiiframework, each equity value in
array was allocated to the various components efctpital structure including the warrants. Eachrava value was weighted by its respec
probability to determine the final fair value ofethvarrants as of December 31, 2012 and 2011. Upmpletion of our IPO, all outstandi
warrants to purchase redeemable convertible pegfestock were converted into common stock warramtsno longer required to be remeasured.

Utilization of Net Operating Loss Carryforwards

At December 31, 2014 , we had net operating losyfoawards for federal and state tax purposesppireximately $192.6 million an$156.¢
million , respectively. At December 31, 2013 , waslmet operating loss carryforwards for federal state tax purposes of approximat8il7.:
million and $106.0 million , respectively. In addit, we had tax credit carryforwards for federad pairposes of approximately $6.1 millias o
December 31, 2014 , which begin to expire in 202t future utilization of net
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operating loss and tax credit carryforwards mayiroged due to changes in ownership. In generaldfexperience a greater than 50% aggr:
change in ownership of certain significant stockleo or groups over a three-year period (a Se88@ownership change), utilization of our pre-
change net operating loss carryforwards is sulife@en annual limitation under Section 382 of thal€dand similar state laws). The ani
limitation generally is determined by multiplyiniget value of our stock at the time of such ownershgnge (subject to certain adjustments) b
applicable long-term tax-exempt rate. Such limitasi may result in expiration of a portion of the-phange net operating loss carryforwi
before utilization and may be substantial. We hdetermined that a Section 382 ownership changer@xtun 2002 and 2007 resulting
limitations of at least $64,000 and $762,000, respely, of losses incurred prior to the respeciwvenership change dates. In addition, we
determined that another Section 382 ownership @awgurred in 2013 with our initial public offeringur private placement and ot
transactions that have occurred since 2007, raguli a limitation of at least $6.7 million of lessincurred prior to the ownership change
We may also experience ownership changes in thieefats a result of subsequent shifts in our steakeoship. As a result, if we earn net taxi
income, our ability to use our podrange net operating loss carryforwards to offseitdd States federal taxable income may be sulby
limitations, which could potentially result in irased future tax liability to us.

JOBS Act

On April 5, 2012, the Jumpstart Our Business SparfJOBS) Act was enacted. Section 107 of the JB&$rovides that anémerging growt
company”can take advantage of the extended transition ghgniovided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securithest for complying with new ¢
revised accounting standards. In other words, ametging growth companytan delay the adoption of certain accounting statsdantil thos
standards would otherwise apply to private com@aniée have irrevocably elected not to avail oueslef this extended transition period ant
a result, we will adopt new or revised accountitemdards on the relevant dates on which adoptisuch standards is required for other pt
companies.

We are in the process of evaluating the benefiteelying on other exemptions and reduced repontggirements provided by the JOBS .
Subject to certain conditions set forth in the JOBS, as an “emerging growth companyyk intend to rely on certain of these exempti
including without limitation, (i) providing an audr’'s attestation report on our system of internal mdstover financial reporting pursuant
Section 404(b) of the Sarban@siey Act, and (i) complying with any requiremetiiat may be adopted by the Public Company Accog
Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm tiotaor a supplement to the audi®report providing additional information about tuedi
and the financial statements, known as the audismussion and analysis. We will remain an emergjrayvth company until the earlier of
December 31, 2018, (b) the lakty of the fiscal year in which we have total arirgrass revenue of at least $1.0 billion, (c) tastlday of th
fiscal year in which we are deemed to be a largelacated filer, which means the market value afammmon stock that is held by naffiliates
exceeds $700.0 million as of the prior Junar30and (d) the date on which we have issued mome $20 billion in noneonvertible debt durir
the prior three-year period.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2014 Radember 31, 2013

The following table summarizes our results of opers for the years ended December 31, 2014 anctrbieer 31, 2013 together with th
changes in those items in dollars and percentagbdusands, except percentages):

Dollar
Years Ended December 31, Change % Change
2014 2013 Increase/(Decrease)
Revenues:
Contract revenue $ 4,04C $ 437C % (330 (7.©%
Total revenues 4,04( 4,37( (330 (7.€)%
Operating expenses:
Research and development 45,37¢ 24,66: 20,717 84.C( %
General and administrative 17,52% 8,321 9,20( 110.5%
Total operating expenses 62,90¢ 32,98¢ 29,917 90.7 %
Loss from operations (58,86¢) (28,619 30,24° 105.7%
Other expenses:
Interest expense, net (44%) (1,239 (787) (63.9%
Fair value adjustments to preferred stock ardrliability — (6,590 (6,590 (200.0%
Loss on disposition of assets D (@) (©)] 75.C%
Net loss $ (59,31) $ (36,44%) $ 22,86 62.7%

Contract Revenue

For the year ended December 31, 2014 , contraentes decreased to $4.0 million compared to $4.4omifor the year ende®ecember 3:
2013 . The decrease of $0.3 million , or 7.6% , medeted to a decline in reimbursable expensetedtla our contract with BARDA.

Research and Development Expen:

For the year ended December 31, 2014 , our reseatldevelopment expenses increased to $45.4 mdbmpared to $24.7 milliofor the yea
ended December 31, 2013 . The increase of $20libmijlor 84.0% , was primarily related to the éoliing:

e anincrease in clinical trial expenses of $Imilion primarily related to the ongoing Phase 3RRRESS trial, which was in stant-
mode in 2013, and the initiation of our Phase 3 i&d\trial;

e anincrease in drug manufacturing costs of $1.8anitue to ongoing commercial process validatmntfrincidofovir and CMX66
manufacturing development;

e anincrease in animal studies of $1.4 million exao work under the BARDA contract and precliniCM X669 development; ai

e an increase in cash compensation expense of $2lidnmdue to the addition of 23 employees in 20pdrtially offset by th
reduction in non-cash shabased compensation of $0.9 million primarily retate the effect of an out of period adjustment®14
to properly state additional paid in capital retbte RSUs.

General and Administrative Expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2014 , our gearchhdministrative expenses increased to $17.5omitlompared to $8.3 milliofor the yea
ended December 31, 2013 . The increase of $9.bmijllor 110.5% , was related to the following:

e anincrease of $4.7 million in compensation castsisisting of an increase in cash compensationnsepef $1.9 million primaril
related to the addition of 6 new employees in 2@G180.6 million ondime severance charge in 2014 for the former CEM,a
increase in non-cash share-based compensationdffion;

« anincrease of $3.2 million of commercializatioperses in preparation of the launch of brincidafcanc

e anincrease of $0.6 million of external servicetsamd $0.5 million of insurance and taxes attebléd to the growth of busine:
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Interest Expense, Ne

For the year ended December 31, 2014 , our netestteexpense decreased to $0.4 million comparefiltd million for the year ende
December 31, 2013 . The decrease of $0.8 million§3.9%, was attributable to a $0.6 million decrease berigst expense as we continue
make principal payments on our existing debt withadlditional borrowing in 2014 and a $0.2 milliarciiease in interest income related tc
increased cash and investment balances we helillif 2

Fair Value of Warrant Adjustment

Our outstanding Series F preferred warrants weesned to be derivative instruments that requirebilita classification and mark-tmarke
accounting. As such, the applicable fair value o tvarrants was determined using a stage, contingent claims model, resulting in
recognition of additional expenses of $6.6 millifum the year ended December 31, 2Q1Bhis expense was primarily due to the incre
likelihood of the occurrence of a liquidity evestwaell as the underlying stock price. Upon the cletign of our IPO in April 2013, these warrs
converted to common stock warrants and were noeloognsidered to be a derivative instrument anflrtber expense was incurred.

Comparison of the Years ended December 31, 20132012

The following table summarizes the results of querations for the years ended December 31, 2012@h2i, together with the year-over-year
changes in those items in dollars (in thousandsegbfor percentages):

Dollar
Years Ended December 31, Change % Change
2013 2012 Increase/(Decrease)
Revenues:
Contract revenue $ 437C % 16,27 $ (11,909 (73.)%
Collaboration and licensing revenue — 17,44 (17,44%) *
Total revenues 4,37( 33,72( (29,35() (87N)%
Operating expenses:
Research and development 24,66: 30,10¢ (5,449 (18.%
General and administrative 8,321 6,397 1,93( 30.2%
Total operating expenses 32,98¢ 36,50: (3,519 (9.€)%
Loss from operations (28,619 (2,789 25,83t *
Other expenses:
Interest expense, net (1,237 (77€) 45¢ 58.¢ %
Fair value adjustments to preferred stock ararliability (6,590 (847) 5,74 *
Loss on disposition of assets (4 — 4 *
Net loss $ (36,44H $ (4,400 $ (32,039 727.2%

* Not meaningful or not calculable
Contract Revenue

Contract revenue for the years ended December@®13 and 2012 , was $4.4 million and $16.3 milliorespectively. The decrease $if1.¢
million , or 73.1%, was related to a decline in reimbursable experaated to our contract with BARDA. During the yemded December :
2012, in connection with our performance underlihse segment of the BARDA contract, we were fufigaged in clinical trials, drug prod
manufacturing and animal studies. For the yeaee@rdecember 31, 2013we completed performance of the base segmentieoBARDA
contract in May and commenced performance undéiirdteoption segment in June.

Collaboration and Licensing Revenue

Collaboration and license fee revenue for the pealed December 31, 2012, consisted of revenue droompfront license payment related to
exclusive collaboration and license arrangemertt Mierck for the rights to CMX157. The upfront licenpayment
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was fully recognized in the quarter in which exémubf a definitive agreement took place. We did Imave any collaboration and license reve
for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Research and Development Expen:

For the year ended December 31, 2013 , our reseactilevelopment expenses decreased to $24.7mubimpared to $30.1 milliofor the yea
ended December 31, 2012. The decrease of $5.4mjlbr 18.1% , was primarily related to the foliog

« adecrease in clinical trial expenses of $5.1 arillielated to the completion of multiple Phase d Bhase 2 clinical studies in
year ended December 31, 2013 , combined with tttettiat our activities associated with our PhaSJPPRESS trial were in start-
up mode in 2013;

» adecrease in consulting fees of $1.4 million ashired 4 additional employees in 20

e adecrease in BARDA contracted work of $1.3 millretated to drug manufacturing validation and ahistadies

» adecrease in license fee expenses of $875,00®dhe payment of fees to University of Californgan Diego (UCSD) associa
with the exclusive license of CMX157 to Merck iryJa012; and

» offset by an increase in compensation expense df Bfllion due to the addition of 4 employees inl20and a full year
compensation for 7 employees who joined in the séd¢wlf of 2012 and the one-time, non-cash shased compensation expe
of $1.4 million related to the vesting of RSUs upampletion of our IPO.

General and Administrative Expenses

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 262 general and administrative expenses were i#8lidn and $6.4 million, respectively
representing an increase of $1.9 million , or 30.2Phis increase in general and administrative pgps was related to the following:

e an increase in non-cash share-based compendatithe onetime expense of $560,000 related to the vestinR®f)s upon tr
completion of our IPO;

e an increase of $489,000 for professional fees @&®ocwith the registration and sale of share af @mmmon stock by existil
shareholders in October 2013; and

e anincrease in legal and external service aiftibutable to the growth of business and preparatassociated with operating as a
public company.

Interest Expense, Ne

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 26LR interest expense, net was $1.2 million an® #dllion , respectively, The increase
$0.5 million was attributable to the increasednesgt expense associated with the larger outstadargbalance for the year endedcember 3:
2013, compared to the year ended December 31,284 @e drew upon the second tranche of our tent the third quarter of 2012.

Fair Value of Warrant Adjustment

Some of our outstanding warrants during the yeade@& December 31, 2013 and 204€re deemed to be derivative instruments that re
liability classification and mark-tmarket accounting. As such, at the end of eachrtiagoperiod, we determined the fair value of tharsant:
using a two-stage, contingent claims model, resylih the recognition of additional losses of $6illion and $0.8 millionfor the years end:
December 31, 2013 and 201Respectively. These losses were primarily duthéoincreased value of the warrants due to inceehiselihood o
the occurrence of a liquidity event.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We have incurred losses since our inception in 2800, as of December 31, 2014 , we had an accusdubgficit of $222.0 million We
anticipate that we will continue to incur losses &b least the next several years. We expect thatesearch and development and genera
administrative expenses will continue to increasd, as a result, we will need additional capitafund our operations, which we may ob
through one or more of equity offerings, debt ficiags, government or other thighrty funding, strategic alliances and licensingataboratiol
arrangements.

On May 27, 2014, we completed an underwritten putifiering of 8,395,000 shares of common stocKuitiag 1,095,000 shares sold pursual
the full exercise of an option previously grantedte underwriters to purchase additional sharemofmon stock. All of the shares were offe
by us at a price to the public of $14.22 per sh@he. net proceeds from this offering, after dedgctinderwriting discounts and commissions
other offering expenses payable by us, were apmprabely $111.8 million.
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The securities described above were offered byussuant to a shelf registration statement declafésttive by the SEC on May 16, 2014. -
shelf registration statement allows us to issugeshaf our common stock and preferred stock, vareries of debt securities and warran
purchase any of such securities, up to a totaleggge offering price of $200.0 million from time tione in one or more offerings. As
December 31, 2014 , we had sold approximately $1dfllion of our common stock under this shelf sgition statement.

On November 5, 2014, we completed an underwrittdslip offering of 4,197,500 shares of common staekluding 547,500 shares sold pursi
to the full exercise of an option previously grahte the underwriters to purchase additional shafesommon stock. All of the shares w
offered by us at a price to the public of $29.00 pleare. The net proceeds from this offering, afteducting underwriting discounts ¢
commissions and other offering expenses payablesbyvere approximately $114.0 million. The secesitdescribed above were offered by
Company pursuant to an automatic shelf registrattatement which immediately became effective by ofithe SEC on October 29, 2014. Fc
long as we continue to satisfy the requirementbealeemed a weknown seasoned issuer, this shelf registratioreistant allows us to iss
shares of our common stock up to a total aggrezféeeing price of $150.0 million from time to time one or more offerings. As &fecember 3:
2014 , we had sold approximately $121.7 millioroof common stock under this shelf registrationestesnt.

We cannot assure you that adequate funding wiliMa@lable on terms acceptable to us, if at all. Adgitional equity financings will be dilutive
our stockholders and any additional debt may inv@perating covenants that may restrict our businéadequate funds are not available thre
these means, we may be required to curtail sigmiflg one or more of our research or developmengnams, our préaunch expenses, and i
launch and other commercialization expenses foranyur products that may receive marketing apdroée cannot assure you that we
successfully develop or commercialize our productder development or that our products, if succdlgstleveloped, will generate reven
sufficient to enable us to earn a profit.

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivaletisrt-term investments, and lotegm investments will enable us to fund our curiguerating
expenses and capital requirements into 2016. Spetatng and capital requirements do not conteraptairemental expenses associated w
full scale commercial launch of brincidofovir. Hoves, changing circumstances beyond our control ocaagse us to consume capital more ra|
than we currently anticipate.

Since our inception through December 31, 20k have funded our operations principally witt8%46 million (net of issuance costs of $:
million) from the sale of common stock and prefdrstock, $37.4 million of research funding from earious National Institute of Allergy a
Infectious Diseases awards, $36.7 million in rexefrom our BARDA contract, debt financings totali#g1.0 million, $17.5 million of licensir
revenue, and $8.4 million from stock option and namt exercises. As of December 31, 2Q02e had capital available to fund operation
approximately $285.8 million. Cash in excess of idliate requirements is invested in accordance aithinvestment policy, primarily with
view to liquidity and capital preservation.

During 2012, we entered into a loan and securitgement with SVB and MidCap allowing for borrowings to $15.0 million. In January 20.
we borrowed $3.0 million under this agreement whield an interest only period for twelve monthslofeed by a thirty month principal a
interest period at a rate of 8.25%. In Septembd&22@e borrowed an additional $12.0 million undgs tagreement which had an interest
period of six months, followed with a thirty-two mith principal interest period at a rate of 8.25%. % December 31, 2014the balance of ti
loan was $4.3 million .

Cash Flows

The following table sets forth the significant sces and uses of cash for the periods (in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

Cash sources and uses: 2014 2013 2012
Net cash used in operating activities $ (47,077 $ (25,559 $ (1,876
Net cash (used in) provided by investing diotis (159,701) 9,46: (4,139
Net cash provided by financing activities 225,26. 106,16 12,31«

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 18,48t $ 90,07¢ $ 6,29¢

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities$47.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2844 primarily the result of our $59 milliamet loss
offset by the add-back of non-cash expenses of @dllibn for stock based compensation and $1.2iomllof amortization of discounts
investments. The change in operating assets dititiess includes an increase in accounts payable
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and accrued liabilities of $6.2 millioprimarily related to increased research and dewedop activities for our Phase 3 SUPPRESS clinigal,
an increase in prepaid expenses and other ass$@lomillion , offset by a decrease of $0.1 millio accounts receivable due to a decrea
reimbursable expenses related to our contractBARDA.

Net cash used in operating activities$25.6 million during the year ended December 31,32@as primarily the result of our $36.4 millioe!
loss, offset by the add-back of non-cash expenf$6.6 million related to the revaluation of ournamt liability and $3.1 milliorfor stock base
compensation. The change in operating assets ahilities includes an increase in prepaid expemsesother assets of $1.8 milligmimarily
related to start-up activities of our Phase 3 SUPPRclinical trial, offset by a decrease of $0.8iom in accounts receivable due to a decrea
reimbursable expenses related to our contractBARDA and an increase in accounts payable and addrabilities of $1.8 million .

Net cash used in operating activities$1.9 million during the year ended December 312204s primarily the result of our $4.4 millioret loss
offset by the add-back of non-cash expenses of 8llli®n related to the revaluation of our warrdiatility and $1.4 millionfor stock base
compensation.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities$159.7 million during the year ended December 8142was primarily the result of purchases of shemt-
and long-term investments, offset by maturitiestudrt-term investments. Net cash provided in inmgsactivities of $9.5 milliorduring the yee
ended December 31, 2013 was the result of matofitertain short-term investments. Net cash useadviesting activities of $4.1 millioduring
the year ended December 31, 2012 was primarilyetbalt of the purchases of securities offset byunités of short-term investments.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities$225.3 million for the year ended December 31, 20&4 primarily the result of approximate$g25.¢
million in net proceeds from the completion of two publifeings and $5.0 million from the exercise of &aptions, warrants and purcha
under the ESPP, offset by $5.7 million in debt yepant. Net cash provided by financing activities$df06.2 millionduring the year end
December 31, 201®as primarily the result of approximately $107.6lion in net proceeds from the completion of ou®IBnd $3.5 million fror
the exercise of stock options and warrants, offge$5.0 million in debt repayment. Net cash prodidhy financing activities of $12.3 milliofor
the year ended December 31, 20025 primarily the result of loan proceeds from filg and second tranche of our loan, offset byrépgaymer
of our previous loan.

On April 16, 2013, we completed our IPO of commtotk pursuant to a registration statement thatdestared effective on April 10, 2013."
sold 7,320,000 shares of our common stock at & pfi®14.00 per share. The underwriters exerclseid doverallotment option on April 16, 201
selling an additional 1,098,000 shares at $14.0GIpare. As a result of the IPO, we raised a wit&l107.6 million in net proceeds after deduc
underwriting discounts and commissions of $8.2iamlland offering expenses of $2.1 million. Costeediy associated with our IPO w
capitalized and recorded as deferred IPO costs fwrithe completion of the IPO. These costs hawenlyecorded as a reduction of the proc
received in arriving at the amount to be recordeddditional paida capital. Upon completion of the IPO, all outstany shares of our prefert
stock were converted into 14,480,088 shares of camstock. In addition, we issued 1,076,002 shafemmon stock related to the accr
accumulated Series F dividends.

On October 23, 2013, we completed an underwrittéaring of shares of our common stock held by éxgsshareholders. In connection with
offering, existing stockholders sold 2,476,995 skanf our common stock at $16.50 per share; therioff did not result in proceeds to
company.

On May 27, 2014, we completed an underwritten putifiering of 8,395,000 shares of common stocKuitiag 1,095,000 shares sold pursual
the full exercise of an option previously grantedhe underwriters to purchase additional shareoofmon stock. All of the shares were offe
by us at a price to the public of $14.22 per shahe. net proceeds from this offering, after dedwgctinderwriting discounts and commissions
other offering expenses payable by us, were apmately $111.8 million. The securities describedvabavere offered by us pursuant to a <
registration statement declared effective by th€ $i8 May 16, 2014. The shelf registration statenadloivs us to issue shares of our com
stock and preferred stock, various series of detarities and warrants to purchase any of suclrisiesyup to a total aggregate offering pric
$200.0 million from time to time in one or more @ffhgs. As of December 31, 2014ve had sold approximately $119.4 million of oonemor
stock under this shelf registration statement.

On November 5, 2014, we completed an underwritténip offering of 4,197,500 shares of common stackluding 547,500 shares sold pursi
to the full exercise of an option previously grahte the underwriters to purchase additional shafesmmon
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stock. All of the shares were offered by us at iaepto the public of $29.00 per share. The net geds from this offering, after deduct
underwriting discounts and commissions and othfariofy expenses payable by us, were approximatklyt® million. The securities descrit
above were offered by the Company pursuant to sanatic shelf registration statement which immesliabecame effective by rule of the S
on October 29, 2014. For so long as we continugatisfy the requirements to be deemed a wadlwn seasoned issuer, this shelf registr
statement allows us to issue shares of our comtook sip to a total aggregate offering price of $05@illion from time to time in one or mc
offerings. As of December 31, 2014 , we had sofgr@xmately $121.7 million of our common stock unttés shelf registration statement.

Future Funding Requirements

To date, we have not generated any revenue froduptaales. We do not know when, or if, we will geate any revenue from product sales
do not expect to generate significant revenue fpooduct sales unless and until we obtain regulaapproval of and commercialize brincidofc
or any of our other product candidates. At the sdime, we expect our expenses to increase in cdonewith our ongoing developme
activities, particularly as we continue the resbadevelopment and clinical trials of, and seekulaigry approval for, our product candida
Additionally, we expect to continue to incur addlital costs associated with operating as a publipemy. Furthermore, subject to obtair
regulatory approval of any of our product candidat@e expect to incur significant commercializatiexpenses for product sales, marke
manufacturing and distribution. We anticipate thatwill need substantial additional funding in cention with our continuing operations. Ba
upon our current operating plan, we believe thatexisting cash, cash equivalents and sterrtz investments, will enable us to fund our opeg
expenses and capital requirements into 2016. We baged our estimates on assumptions that may pooke wrong, and we may use
available capital resources sooner than we cuyrexibect. Because of the numerous risks and uitgetaassociated with the development
commercialization of our product candidates, we @mable to estimate the amounts of increased tapitdays and operating expenditL
necessary to complete the development of our ptadualidates.

Our future capital requirements will depend on meagyors, including:

« the progress, costs, results and timing of SUPPRE&Sthe clinical development of brincidofovir father potential indicatior

« the willingness of the FDA to accept SUPPRESS, ek as our other completed and planned clinical pretlinical studies at
other work, as the basis for review and approvérisfcidofovir for the prevention of CMV and forhar potential indications;

« the willingness of the FDA to accept AdVise, aslvesl our other completed and planned clinical amtlmical studies and otF
work, as the basis for review and approval of hdafovir for the treatment of adenovirus infection;

e the outcome, costs and timing of seeking and oioigiRDA and any other regulatory approv

« the ability to continue to receive government fungg

« the achievement of milestones under our agreemiémiGentraVir

« the number and characteristics of product candsctatt we pursue, including our product candiditgseclinical developmer

« the ability of our product candidates to progréssugh clinical development successft

e our need to expand our research and developmewitiast

e the costs associated with securing, establishidgraintaining commercialization and manufacturingabilities

« the costs of acquiring, licensing or investing usimesses, products, product candidates and texdjiaes

e our ability to maintain, expand and defend the scopour intellectual property portfolio, includilge amount and timing of a
payments we may be required to make, or that we meegive, in connection with the licensing, filiqgrosecution, defense ¢
enforcement of any patents or other intellectuapprty rights;

« our need and ability to hire additional managenaict scientific and medical personi

< the effect of competing technological and marketettgpments

< our need to implement additional internal systemiafrastructure, including financial and repogtisystems; ar

« the economic and other terms, timing and succesaioexisting licensing arrangements and any coltaton, licensing or oth
arrangements into which we may enter in the future.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate sulisfarevenue from product sales, we expect torfieaour cash needs through a combinatic
equity offerings, debt financings, government oneotthirdparty funding, marketing and distribution arrangaise or other collaboratior
strategic alliances or licensing arrangements.hoeixtent that we raise additional capital throtighsale of equity or convertible debt securi
the ownership interests of our common stockholdelisoe diluted, and the terms of these securitiesy include liquidation or other preferen
that adversely affect the rights of our common ldtotders. Debt financing, if available, may involgreements that include covenants limitin
restricting our ability to take specific actionsich as incurring additional debt, making capitgbenditures or declaring dividends. If we ri
additional funds through government or other thgedty funding, marketing and distribution arrangatseor other collaborations, strate
alliances or
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licensing arrangements with third parties, we mayehto relinquish valuable rights to our technadsgifuture revenue streams, research prog
or product candidates or to grant licenses on ténaitsmay not be favorable to us.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS

The following table summarizes our contractual gddions at December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

Less Than 1
Total Year 1-3Years 3-5Years More Than5 Years
Operating leases (1) $ 1,69t $ 541 $ 1,027 $ 12¢ % —
Loan payable (2) 4,68¢ 4,68¢ — — —
Minimum royalties (3) 1,55(C — 15C 40C 1,00(C
Other (4) 247 247
Total $ 8,17¢ $ 547 % 1,177 % 52¢ $ 1,00(

(1)Consists of our corporate headquarters leases grassing 21,000 square feet of office space thatekpJune 2015 and February 2018,
our laboratory lease encompassing 7,925 squaré¢hietxpires in June 2018, both of which are ledan Durham, North Carolina.

(2)Consists of our loan and security agreement witB 8%d MidCap, pursuant to which we have borrowesl @ nillion in principal which bea
interest at a rate of 8.25% and is repayable 5201

(3)Consists of amounts payable under a license agreaemiin the University of Michigan for certain itlectual property related to the Chime
Chemical Library.

(4)Consists of severance payable to our former ¢

In addition to the amounts set forth in the talilewee, we have payment obligations under licenseesments that are contingent upon future e'
such as our achievement of specified developmegylatory and commercial milestones. Under oumbeeagreement with UCSD, we m
milestone and sublicense payments totaling apprately $1.2 million through December 31, 201%Ve will be required to make additio
payments when certain milestones are achieved anarevobligated to pay royalties based on futuoelyet sales. As of December 31, 2Q14de
were unable to estimate the timing or likelihoodhohieving the milestones or making future prodades and, therefore, any related paymen
not included in the table above. In connection lig development and commercialization of brinaddafand CMX157 (which we have licens
to ContraVir Pharmaceuticals), in addition to rdigsl on product sales, we could be required to p@yup to an aggregate of $3.4 millior
milestone payments, assuming the achievement aipalicable milestone events under the licenseeageat. Under our license agreement
the University of Michigan, we are required to pajnimum royalties from 2016 through the expiratiointhe last licensed patent (which
estimate will occur in 2024) which are includedtive table above, but any additional royalties tinaly be payable under the University
Michigan agreement are not estimable and thereforéncluded in the table above.

Additionally, we enter into contracts in the nornealurse of business with CROs for clinical triatel eclinical supply manufacturing and w
vendors for preclinical research studies and o#ewices and products for operating purposes, whmerally provide for termination
cancellation within 30 days of notice, and therefare not included in the table above. We also lagveements with our executive officers
require the funding of specific payments, if certavents occur, such as a change in control aeti@nation of employment without cause. Tt
potential payment obligations are not includechia table above.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

During the periods presented, we did not havedonawre currently have, any off-balance sheet arnaeges as defined under SEC rules.
JOBS Act

In April 2012, the JOBS Act was enacted. Section &0the JOBS Act provides that an emerging groedmpany can take advantage of
extended transition period provided in Section(2)4B) of the Securities Act for complying with new revised accounting standards. Thus
emerging growth company can delay the adoption esfan accounting standards until those standardsldvotherwise apply to prive

companies. We have irrevocably elected not to amaitelves of this extended transition period asda result, we will adopt new or revi
accounting standards on the relevant dates on valtioption of such standards is required for otbenpanies.
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ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSUR ES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our primary exposure to market risk is interesbme sensitivity, which is affected by changes mdleneral level of U.S. interest rates. Due t
shortterm duration of our investment portfolio and tbevlrisk profile of our investments, an immediate02@ change in interest rates would
have a material effect on the fair market valuewf portfolio. Accordingly, we would not expect auyperating results or cash flows to be affe
to any significant degree by the effect of a sudtleange in market interest rates on our investipertfolio.

We do not believe that our cash, cash equivalamtsasailable-forsale investments have significant risk of defaulliuidity. While we believ
our cash and cash equivalents and certificategpbgit do not contain excessive risk, we cannotigeoabsolute assurance that in the future
investments will not be subject to adverse changetarket value. In addition, we maintain signifitamounts of cash and cash equivalents ¢
or more financial institutions that are in excesfederally insured limits.

Inflation generally affects us by increasing oustoof labor and clinical trial costs. We do notibed that inflation has had a material effect or
results of operations for the years ended DeceBibe2014 or 2013 .
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Chiménis.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated talsineets of Chimerix, Inc. as of December 31, 2012013 and the related consolida
statements of operations and comprehensive losgnstnts of redeemable convertible preferred sémek stockholdersequity (deficit), an
statements of cash flows for each of the threesyathe period ended December 31, 20These financial statements are the responsilofitie
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion on these financial statements b@asedr audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBo(United States). Those stand
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the finastateiments are free of material misstater
We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Gmyip internal control over financial reporting. Oudés included consideration of inter
control over financial reporting as a basis forigleimg audit procedures that are appropriate indineumstances, but not for the purpos
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of thim@anys internal control over financial reporting. Accimgly, we express no such opinion.
audit also includes examining, on a test basislesde supporting the amounts and disclosures ifirthecial statements, assessing the accot
principles used and significant estimates made bpagement, and evaluating the overall financidestant presentation. We believe that
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredbove present fairly, in all material respedis,¢onsolidated financial position of Chimerix,.

at December 31, 2014 and 2018nd the consolidated results of its operatiortsitsncash flows for each of the three years ingbgod ende
December 31, 2014 , in conformity with U.S. gerlgratcepted accounting principles.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Raleigh, North Carolina
March 6, 2015
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CHIMERIX, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,

2014 2013
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 128,46. $ 109,97¢
Short-term investments, available-for-sale 106,11- —
Accounts receivable 10€ 24¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,77¢ 2,78¢
Total current assets 237,45 113,00
Long-term investments 52,97 —
Property and equipment, net of accumulated deprecia 1,31( 33¢
Other long-term assets 13¢ 4C
Total assets $ 291,87t $ 113,38
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 593t $ 2,21¢
Accrued liabilities 6,83: 2,42(
Loan payable, net, current portion 4,29¢ 5,57:
Total current liabilities 17,06" 10,20
Loan payable, net, less current portion — 4,29¢
Other long-term liabilities 17t 347
Total liabilities 17,24 14,84¢
Commitments and contingencies — —
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,0000@0es authorized at December 31, 2014 and
2013; no shares issued and outstanding agadrber 31, 2014 and 2013 — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 200,000,0@Beshauthorized at December 31, 2014 and
2013; 41,031,770 and 26,664,972 shares issugdutstanding at December 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively 41 26
Additional paid-in capital 496,60: 261,24:
Accumulated other comprehensive gain 35 —
Accumulated deficit (222,04 (162,73()
Total stockholders’ equity 274,63t 98,53¢
Total liabilities and stockholdeesjuity $ 20187 $ 11338

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdinsolidated financial statements.
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CHIMERIX, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHE NSIVE LOSS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenues:
Contract revenue
Collaboration and licensing revenue
Total revenues
Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other expenses:
Interest expense, net
Fair value adjustments to preferred stock ararliability
Loss on disposition of assets
Net loss
Other comprehensive loss:
Unrealized gain on investments, net
Comprehensive loss
Net loss
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Per share information:
Net loss, basic and diluted

Weighted-average shares outstanding, basidiartdd

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ 4,040 $ 437C $ 16,27t
— — 17,44t
4,04 4,37 33,72
45,37 24,66 30,10¢
17,52 8,321 6,397
62,90¢ 32,08¢ 36,50:
(58,86¢) (28,619 (2,789
(44E) (1,237) (776)
— (6,590) (847)
(2) (4) —
(59,31) (36,44%) (4,406)
35 2 2
$  (59.27) $  (3644) $ (4,400
$ (59319 $ (36,44 $ (4,400)
— (34,109 (4,357
$ (59319 $  (7055) $ (8,769
$ (180 $ (3.65 $ (5.75)
33,003,71 19,307,42 1,524,62:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdimsolidated financial statements.
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Balance, December 31, 2011
Share-based compensation
Exercise of stock options
Dividends on redeemable preferred stock

Adjustment of redeemable preferred stock demeption
value

Comprehensive loss:
Unrealized gain on investments, net
Net loss
Total comprehensive loss
Balance, December 31, 2012
Share-based compensation
Exercise of stock options
Dividends on redeemable preferred stock

Adjustment of redeemable preferred stock tieneption
value

Exercise of warrants

Issuance of 8,418,000 shares of common sto$k400
per share, net

net of issuance costs of $10,217,696

Conversion of redeemable preferred stockéntmmon
stock

Reclassification of redeemable preferred steakant
liability to

additional paid in capital

Comprehensive loss:

Unrealized gain on investments, net

Net loss

Total comprehensive loss
Balance, December 31, 2013

Share-based compensation

Exercise of stock options

Exercise of warrants

Employee stock purchase plan purchases

Issuance of 8,395,000 shares of common stiogk422
per share, net

of issuance costs of $7,531,172

Issuance of 4,197,500 shares of common sto$R%A00
per share, net

net of issuance costs of $7,633,815
Comprehensive loss:

Unrealized gain on investments, net
Net loss

Total comprehensive loss

Balance, December 31, 2014

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdimsolidated financial statements.

CHIMERIX, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE P REFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(DEFICIT)

(in thousands)

Accumulated

Redeemable Additional Other Total

Convertible Common Paid- Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Preferred Stock Stock in Capital Gain (Loss) Deficit Equity (Deficit)
$ 103,36t 2 $ — 4 $ (93679 $ (93,680()

— — 1,39¢ — — 1,39¢

— 1 13 — — 14

3,60( — (1,409 — (2,19) (3,600

757 — — — (757) (757)

— — — 2 — 2

— — — — (4,40¢) (4,406

(4,409

107,72 3 — @) (101,03) (101,03)

— — 3,071 — — 3,071

— — 1,94¢ — — 1,94¢

97€ — (349 — (627) (97¢€)

33,13: — (8,50€6) — (24,62¢) (33,13)

— — 1,53 — — 1,537

— 23 107,61 — — 107,63

(141,83) — 141,83: — — 141,83:

— — 14,10: — — 14,10:

— — — 2 — 2

— — — — (36,445 (36,44

(36,44))

— 26 261,24 — (162,73() 98,53¢

— — 4,411 — — 4,411

- 2 4,591 — — 4,59¢

— — 6 — — 6

— 1 42t — — 42¢

— 8 111,83 — — 111,84!

— 4 114,08¢ — — 114,09:

— — — 35 — 35
- - — —  (931) _ (5931)

(59,277

$ — 41 $ 496,60 $ 35 (222,04) $ 274,63
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CHIMERIX, INC .
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (59,31) $ (36,44%) $ (4,40¢)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net ags#d in operating activities:
Depreciation of property and equipment 28:¢ 25¢ 28(
Amortization of debt costs 14¢ 24¢ 23¢
Amortization of premium/discount on intregnts 1,17¢ 19¢ 84
Loss on disposition of assets 1 4 —
Share-based compensation 4,417 3,071 1,39¢
Amortization of deferred lease obligation (19 1C —
Fair value adjustments to preferred stwakrant liability — 6,59( 847
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 14z 53t 3,40¢
Prepaid expenses and other assets (208 (1,790 65
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 6,20z 1,76¢ (3,789
Net cash used in operating actisitie (47,07°) (25,559 (1,876
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (1,019 (199) (12¢)
Purchases of short-term investments (155,43)) (1,852 (9,907
Purchases of long-term investments (55,33Y) — —
Sales of short-term investments 3,49¢ 75C —
Maturities of short-term investments 48,58¢ 10,757 5,89¢
Net cash (used in) provided by invgsactivities (159,701 9,46: (4,139
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 4,59 1,94¢ 14
Proceeds from employee stock purchasegiteck purchases 42¢€ — —
Proceeds from exercise of warrants 6 1,53 —
Proceeds from issuance of debt — — 15,00(
Proceeds from public offerings, net dedhg costs 225,93¢ 107,63: —
Debt discount — — (75)
Repayments of debt (5,700 (4,950 (2,607
Payments for stock offering and defefiedncing costs — — (24)
Net cash provided by financing atitg 225,26 106,16 12,31«
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 18,48¢ 90,07( 6,29¢
Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of period 109,97t 19,90¢ 13,60
End of period $ 128,46. $ 109,97t $ 19,90¢
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest $ 614 $ 1,09: % 44¢
Non-cash acquisition of investmentiiS. corporation $ 154§ — § —

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdinsolidated financial statements.
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CHIMERIX, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. The Business and Summary of Significant Aoanting Policies
Description of Busines:

Chimerix, Inc. (the Company) is a biopharmaceutozahpany dedicated to discovering, developing amdnoercializing novel, oral antivirals
address unmet medical needs. The Company was fadun@900 based on the promise of its proprietgig kechnology to unlock the potential
some of the most broapectrum antivirals by enhancing their antivirativaty and safety profiles in convenient, orallyraithistered dosin
regimens. Based on the Companyipid conjugate technology, its lead compoundndidofovir (BCV, CMX001), is in Phase 3 clinic
development. In addition, the Company has an adliseovery program focusing on viral targets forickhlimited or no therapies are currel
available.

Basis of Presentatiol

The consolidated financial statements include tmants of the Company, and its wholly owned subgi&s. The accompanying consolid:
financial statements have been prepared in accoedaith accounting principles generally acceptethenUnited States of America (GAAP). 1
preparation of the Comparsyconsolidated financial statements requires etgnand assumptions that affect the reported ammafnasset
liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the disosf contingent assets and liabilities in thesmidated financial statements and accompat
notes. Although these estimates are based on kdge/lef current events and actions the Company mdgrtake in the future, actual results |
ultimately differ from these estimates and assuomsti

Reclassifications

Certain prior period amounts in the accompanyingsotidated financial statements have been rediedsid conform to the current year
presentation. These reclassifications had no effiegreviously reported net income or stockholdegsity (deficit).

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers any highly liquid instrumaith an original maturity of three months or lessequisition to be a cash equivalent. C
equivalents consist of money market accounts.

Investments

Investments consist primarily of corporate bondskbéred certificates of deposit, U.S. Treasury gées, commercial paper, and preferred s
of a U.S. corporation. The Company invests in higkdit quality investments in accordance with itgeistment policy which minimizes 1
probability of loss.

Available-forsale securities are carried at fair value as démeinby quoted market prices, with the unrealizathg and losses, net of t
reported as a separate component of stockholdéist.dRealized gains and losses are determinedgusie specific identification method ¢
transactions are recorded on a settlement date imassiterest income or expense, net. Investmeiitsaviginal maturities beyond three month
the date of purchase and which mature on, or less tivelve months from, the balance sheet datelassified as shoterm. Investments with
maturity beyond twelve months from the balance slde¢e are classified as long-term. The Companjogieally reviews available-fosale
securities for other-thatemporary declines in fair value below the costidhasd whenever events or changes in circumstandesate that th
carrying amount of an asset may not be recover@ble. Company evaluates, among other things, th&tidarand extent to which the fair value
a security is less than its cost; the financialditton of the issuer and any changes thereto; h@@Cbmpanys intent to sell, or whether it will mc
likely than not be required to sell, the securigfdve recovery of its amortized cost basis. Anyhsdeclines in value judged to be other-than-
temporary on available-for-sale securities are egoin interest income or expense, net. There wemich declines in value for the years er
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@npany to concentrations of credit risk consistagh, cash equivalents, shiatm investment
long-term investments and accounts receivable.Gdrapany is exposed to credit risk, subject to faldgeposit
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insurance, in the event of default by the finaniriatitutions holding its cash and cash equivalémthie extent of amounts recorded on the ba
sheets. Accounts receivable represent amountsrdioreahn agency of the federal government.

Accounts Receivabl

Accounts receivable at December 31, 2014 and Deeefih 2013 consisted of amounts billed under the@anys contract with the Biomedic
Advanced Research and Development Authority (BARORgceivables under the BARDA contract are recoatedualifying research activit
are conducted and invoices from the Compamgndors are received. The Company carries itsuats receivable at cost less an allowanc
doubtful accounts. On a periodic basis, the Compawgluates its accounts receivable and establiaheallowance based on its history
collections and writeffs and the current status of all receivables. Thenpany does not accrue interest on trade redesalh accounts becor
uncollectible, they will be written off through éarge to the allowance for doubtful accounts. Tlen@any has not recorded a charg
allowance for doubtful accounts as managementusdiall receivables are fully collectible.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of certain financial instrutserincluding accounts receivable, notes receivadteounts payable and accrued expe
approximate their fair values due to the shertn nature of such instruments. The carrying arh@fnborrowings under loans paya
approximates its fair value based on the deterioindahat the stated rate on such loans payablerisistent with current interest rates for sin
borrowing arrangements available to the Company.

For assets and liabilities recorded at fair vaitués the Companyg policy to maximize the use of observable inputd minimize the use
unobservable inputs when developing fair value measents, in accordance with the fair value hignar&air value measurements for asset:
liabilities where there exists limited or no obsde market data are based primarily upon estimatesare often calculated based on
economic and competitive environment, the chareties of the asset or liability and other factoreerefore, fair value measurements cann
determined with precision and may not be realizedn actual sale or immediate settlement of thetamsliability. Additionally, there may |
inherent weaknesses in any calculation techniqdechanges in the underlying assumptions used,dimgudiscount rates and estimates of ft
cash flows, could significantly affect the calcelkhicurrent or future fair values. The Company zé#ifair value measurements to record fair \
adjustments to certain assets and liabilities araktermine fair value disclosures.

The Company groups assets and liabilities at faiue in three levels, based on the markets in wtiiehassets and liabilities are traded ani
reliability of the assumptions used to determiriefalue. An adjustment to the pricing method uséithin either Level 1 or Level 2 inputs co!
generate a fair value measurement that effectfiadlly in a lower level in the hierarchy. These levare:

« Level 1— Valuations based on unadjusted quoted pricestineamarkets for identical assets or liabilitibattthe Company has the
ability to access.

* Level 2— Valuations based on quoted prices for similaetsssr liabilities in active markets, quoted prié@sidentical or similar
assets or liabilities in markets that are not a;tand models for which all significant inputs abservable, either directly or
indirectly.

» Level 3— Valuations based on inputs that are unobservalleigmificant to the overall fair value measuren

The determination of where an asset or liabilitysfan the hierarchy requires significant judgmehhe Company evaluates hierarchy disclos
and, based on various factors, it is possible dinafsset or liability may be classified differerfilgm period to period. However, the Comp
expects that changes in classification betweerideviél be rare.

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had egsivalents, consisting of money market accouats] short-term and longrn
investments consisting of U.S. Treasury securitidgse value is based on using quoted market piaEordingly, these securities are class
as Level 1.

At December 31, 2014, the Company had cash equigalshort-term investments and Iaegm investments comprised of corporate bc
commercial paper and brokered certificates of diefpaswhich quoted prices are not available thatealued using independent pricing mode
other model-based valuation techniques such agisent value of future cash flows, adjusted fa $ecuritys credit rating, prepayme
assumptions and other factors such as credit ksswptions. Accordingly, these securities are ifladsas Level 2.

The warrants issued for Series F redeemable cableefreferred stock included in the Compan2012 consolidated financial statements
categorized as Level 3 as there are significanbseiwable inputs. The valuation of the warranBetember 31,
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2012 reflected a two stage process. Using a caminglaims model in combination with the Compan§eries F financing, which occurrec
February 2011, the fair value of total equity atficcamponents of the Comparsytapital structure, including the warrants, wamheined as «
the time of the financing event. Using this valgeaastarting point, a series of equity values assbeated probabilities were calculated u
simulation methodologies that incorporate both MoBarlo and risk neutral frameworks. Based on assests of expected returns and volatil
consistent with market practice, a distributioreqtiity values was produced which covered the rahgalues that an informed market particiy
might expect. These outcomes were organized imgesand a probability calculated based on theepenf the total falling into each range. 1
process created a range of equity values. Usimenangent claims framework, each equity value wilscated to the various components of
capital structure including the warrants. Each amtrivalue was weighted by its respective probabitit determine the final fair value of 1
warrants as of December 31, 2012. The key unobiskeraputs used in the determination of the falugawvere (i) volatility — 79% (ii) range o
implied fair value of the Series F redeemable cadihle preferred stock — $2.19 to $2.85 , (iiipé to liquidity — 8 months to 5 yearand (iv
range of probabilities of liquidity event outcomes2% to 31% . The warrants were valued again ail AP, 2013, just prior to the Compasy’
IPO, using a Black-Scholes valuation model. The kegbservable inputs used in determination of #ievialue at that time were (i) volatility —
79% , (i) fair value of the Series F redeemablevestible preferred stock — $3.94 , (iii) expectidd — 2.5 years , (iv) risk-free interest rate —
0.24% , and (v) dividend yield — 0%As the warrants for Series F redeemable conventiteferred stock converted to warrants for comstoc
upon the IPO, no future valuations are necessary.

The Company’s preferred stock investment in Contrd®harmaceuticals (NASDAQ: CTRYV) (ContraVir), inded in the Company’ 201:
consolidated financial statements is categorizeldeas!| 3 as there are significant unobservabletsipthe Company performed a valuation of
investment at December 17, 2014, which was thectfte date of the licensing agreement upon whieéh@ompany acquired its investmen
ContraVir. The value of the Preferred Series B Gutible shares was calculated on an as if convea@dmmon share basis with a discoun
lack of marketability applied due to the 18 mongktriction from the date of the agreement on gglihe converted common shares. An of
pricing model was used to determine the discountaitk of marketability of 25%. The key unobsenealriputs used in the option pricing mc
were (i) exercise price - $1.79 , (ii) dividendIdie 0% , (iii) expected holding period - 1.5 ygar(iv) risk-free rate - 0.43% , and (v) volayilit
66%. The Preferred Series B Convertible shares wdteeslaagain at December 31, 2014, using a similkrat@n model. The key unobserva
inputs used in determination of the discount faklaf marketability at that time were (i) exercisece - $2.22 , (ii) dividend yield - 0%(iii)
expected holding period - 1.5 years , (iv) riskefrrate - 0.44% , and (v) volatility - 65%0 he increase in valuation of the Preferred Sel
Convertible shares from the effective date of tgeeament to yeaend was recorded as an unrealized gain in investinetme Consolidate
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.

There was no material re-measurement to fair valdimancial assets and liabilities that are noameed at fair value on a recurring basis.
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Below is a table that presents information abottiage assets measured at fair value on a recubasgs (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements
December 31, 2014

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Significant Other Unobservable Inputs
for Identical Assets Observable Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents
Money market funds $ 125,60t $ 125,60t $ — 8 —
Certificates of deposit 48C — 48( —
Total cash equivalents 126,08t 125,60t 48C —
Short-term investments
Certificates of deposit 16,98 — 16,98: —
Corporate bonds 69,89: — 69,89: —
Commercial paper 11,24( — 11,24( —
U.S. Treasury securities 8,00( 8,00( — —
Total short-term investments 106,11 8,00( 98,11 —
Long-term investments
Certificates of deposit 10,99¢ — 10,99¢ —
U.S. Treasury securities 40,19 40,197 — —
Preferred stock of U.S. corporation 1,781 — — 1,781
Total long-term investments 52,97¢ 40,19° 10,99¢ 1,781
Total assets $ 285,170 $ 173,80: $ 109,59 $ 1,781

Fair Value Measurements
December 31, 2013

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Significant Other Unobservable Inputs
for Identical Assets Observable Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents
Money market funds $ 107,34¢ $ 107,34¢ $ — 3 —
Total cash equivalents $ 107,34¢ $ 107,34¢ § — $ —
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Below is a table that presents a reconciliatiothef beginning and ending balances
basis using significant unobservable inputs (L&)ein thousands):

of assets abitities measured at fair value on a recur

Fair Value
Measurements
(Level 3)

Redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liabity:

Fair value at January 1, 2012 $ 6,491
Issuance 174
Fair value increase recorded in other expense 847

Fair value at December 31, 2012 7,51z
Fair value increase recorded in other expense 6,59(
Reclassification of warrant liability to addial paid-in capital (14,107

Fair value at December 31, 2013 $ —

Preferred stock of U.S. corporation:

Fair value at January 1, 2014 $ =
Investment acquired 1,54t
Fair value increase recorded in other compreilie loss 23¢

Fair value at December 31, 2014 $ 1,781

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Ass

Prepaid expenses and other current assets cohtist following (in thousands):

December 31,

2014 2013
Prepaid research and development expenses $ 1,68 $ 2,43:
Interest receivable 558 —
Prepaid insurance 342 17¢
Other prepaid expenses and current assets 19t 17¢
Total prepaid expenses and other currentssset $ 2,77 $ 2,78t

Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are stated at cost, lessradated depreciation. Depreciation is determinedacstraightine basis over the estima
useful lives of the assets, which generally ramgenfthree to five years . Leasehold improvemergsaarortized over the shorter of the useful
of the asset or the term of the related lease ntdaance and repairs are charged against expeimsauagd.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates lofiged assets for impairment whenever events or ghsiuin circumstances indicate that the carryingevalf an ass
may not be recoverable. If the estimated futurén ¢desvs (undiscounted and without interest chardesh the use of an asset are less tha
carrying value, a write-down would be recordededuce the related asset to its estimated fair valoelate, no such write-downs have occurred.

Deferred Lease Obligatio

The Company recognizes rent expense on a straightlhsis over the norencelable term of its operating lease and rectirdsdifferenc
between cash rent payments and the recognitiorrdf expense as a deferred rent liability. The Compalso records landlorfiinded leas
incentives, such as reimbursable leasehold impremsnas a deferred rent liability, which is anmti as a reduction of rent expense ove
non-cancelable term of its operating lease.
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Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following (indhsands):

December 31,

2014 2013
Accrued compensation $ 3,051 $ 1,77¢
Deferred revenue 1,54t —
Accrued research and development expenses 1,11¢€ 35C
Other accrued liabilities 1,11¢ 291
Total accrued liabilities $ 6,837 $ 2,42(

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant Ll

Freestanding warrants for shares that are eithebfgior redeemable are classified as liabilitistiee balance sheet at fair value. As fur
discussed in Note 6, the preferred stock underlgargain warrants was redeemable in certain cirtamess, and as such the freestanding wa
that are related to the purchase of the Compa8gries F preferred stock were liabilities thatusth be recorded at the estimated fair value. 2
end of each reporting period, changes in the estiair value during the period are recorded heoincome.

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stc

The Company classified its redeemable convertibdéepred stock, for which the Company did not conthe redemption, outside of permar
equity. The Company recorded redeemable convertitdferred stock at fair value upon issuance, hanhg offering costs, and the carrying ve
was adjusted to the redemption value at the erdd reporting period. These adjustments weretetfebrough charges against additional paid-
in capital and accumulated deficit.

Revenue Recognitio

The Company’s revenues generally consist of (iYremh and grant revenuerevenue generated under federal contracts and attemded grant
and (i) collaboration and licensing revenue — reverelated to norefundable upfront fees, royalties and milestongnEnts earned under licel
agreements. Revenue is recognized in accordantethnat criteria outlined in the Securities and Exaea Commission (SEQ)'Topic 13 an
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 685-and by the Financial Accounting Standards Boaotlowing these accounting pronounceme
revenue is recognized when all four of the follogvriteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of margement exists; (ii) delivery of the prodt
and/or services has occurred and risk of loss assadl; (iii) the selling price is fixed or deteratite; and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured

For arrangements that involve the delivery of mityi@n one element, each product, service and/ot tighise assets is evaluated to deter
whether it qualifies as a separate unit of accagnfThis determination is based on whether theveligble has “stand-alone value’the custome
The consideration that is fixed or determinabl¢hisn allocated to each separate unit of accouttéregd on the relative selling prices of ¢
deliverable. The consideration allocated to eadh afnaccounting is recognized as the related gaou$ services are delivered, limited to
consideration that is not contingent upon futurbvdeables. If the arrangement constitutes a singli¢ of accounting, the revenue recogni
policy must be determined for the entire arrangeraed the consideration received is recognized theeperiod of inception through the date
last deliverable within the single unit of accougtiis expected to be delivered. Revisions to thienated period of recognition are reflecte:
revenue prospectively.

Non-refundable upfront fees are recorded as defeednue and recognized into revenue as licenseff@@scollaborations on a straiglie
basis over the estimated period of the Compasybstantive performance obligations. If the Camgpdoes not have substantive performi
obligations, the Company recognizes mefundable upfront fees into revenue through thte dae deliverable is satisfied. Analyzing
arrangement to identify deliverables requires the af judgment and each deliverable may be anatiig to deliver services, a right or licens
use an asset, or another performance obligation.

Milestone payments are recognized when earned,iqedvthat (i) the milestone event is substantivig; tllere is no ongoing performar
obligation related to the achievement of the milestearned; and (iii) it would result in additiopalyments. Milestone payments are consic
substantive if all of the following conditions areet: the milestone payment is non-refundable;
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achievement of the milestone was not reasonablyredsat the inception of the arrangement; subsergffort is involved to achieve t
milestone; and the amount of the milestone appeasonable in relation to the effort expended,other milestones in the arrangement; ant
related risk associated with the achievement ofntlilestone. Contingent based event payments thep@oynmay receive under a license
collaboration agreement will be recognized wheriras.

For the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 al®l, 2@ntract and grant revenue consisted only ofmegdrom the BARDA contract as th
was no grant revenue. The Company recognizes cordral grant revenue as qualifying research aiedviare conducted based on inva
received from the Compars/vendors. Changes in fringe and indirect ratesearegnized as a change in estimate in the petiold sate chang
are approved by BARDA.

Research and Development Prepaids and Accrt

As part of the process of preparing financial stetets, the Company is required to estimate its resgee resulting from its obligation un
contracts with vendors and consultants and clirsital agreements in connection with its researchdmvelopment efforts. The financial term
these contracts are subject to negotiations which gontract to contract and may result in paynflemts that do not match the periods over wi
materials or services are provided to the Compaugieusuch contracts.

The Companys objective is to reflect the appropriate reseanntht development expenses in its financial statesngntmatching those expen
with the period in which services and efforts axpemnded. The Company accounts for these expenseslaq to the progress of its research
development efforts. The Company determines prepadl accrual estimates through discussion withiegige personnel and outside ser
providers as to the progress or state of commuaitatf clinical trials, or other services complet&the Company adjusts its rate of researct
development expense recognition if actual resutterdrom its estimates. The Company makes estsaf its prepaid and accrued expenses
each balance sheet date in its financial stateniestsd on facts and circumstances known at that #ithough the Company does not expe
estimates to be materially different from amourdtially incurred, its understanding of status amdng of services performed relative to
actual status and timing of services performed ey and may result in the Company reporting an®timat are too high or too low for ¢
particular period. Through December 31, 2014 ,ghed been no material adjustments to the Compagmyor period estimates of prepaid
accruals for research and development expensesCompanys research and development prepaids and accrgatiependent upon the tim
and accurate reporting of contract research org#aoizs and other third-party vendors.

Research and Development Expen:

Major components of research and development oodtsde cash compensation, stock based compensatiealinical studies, clinical trial ar
related clinical manufacturing, drug developmengtemials and supplies, legal, regulatory compliarmsel fees paid to consultants and ¢
entities that conduct certain research and devedopmctivities on the Comparsybehalf. Research and development costs, inclugifrgnt fee
and milestones paid to contract research orgaoizstiare expensed as goods as received or sergiwgsred. Costs incurred in connection
clinical trial activities for which the underlyingature of the activities themselves do not direlate to active research and development, st
costs incurred for market research and focus grtinked to clinical strategy as well as costs tddthe Companys brand, are not included
research and development costs but are reflectgdrasal and administrative costs.

Interest Income (Expense), N

Interest income (expense), net includes interesieglaon short-term and lortgrm investments, interest incurred on loans payabk amortizatic
of deferred financing costs related to fees paidttorneys and other ndender entities in order to acquire debt, and tmeréization of det
discount related to fees paid to the lender ino@eacquire debt.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determbeesbd on differences between the financial andeparting bases of assets and liabilities an
measured using enacted tax rates and laws thaixpeeted to be in effect when the differences ape&ed to reverse. Valuation allowances
established when the Company determines thatibi® likely than not that some portion of a defernex asset will not be realized. The Comg
has incurred operating losses from April 7, 200@€ption) through December 31, 201dnd therefore has not recorded any current pmvier
income taxes.

Additionally, the Company recognizes the tax berfedm an uncertain tax position only if it is mdikely than not that the tax position will
sustained on examination by the taxing authorhizesed on the technical merits of the position. fBlxebenefit
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recognized in the financial statements for a paldictax position is based on the largest benkét is more likely than not to be realized u
settlement. Accordingly, the Company establishesres for uncertain tax positions.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company measures and recognizes compensati@msx for all sharbased payment awards made to employees and dgeotoluding
employee stock options, restricted stock units thedemployee stock purchase plan purchase righsgdoon estimated fair values. The fair v
of share-based awards is estimated on the graetudang the BlaclScholes valuation model. The value of the portibrthe award that
ultimately expected to vest is recorded as expewsethe requisite service periods.

The Company also accounts for equity instrumersiseid to noremployees using a fair value approach. The Compalues equity instrumen
stock options and warrants granted to lenders anduitants using the Black-Scholes valuation motleé measurement of non-employee share
based compensation is subject to periodic adjussrenthe underlying equity instruments vest angdsgnized as an expense over the tel

the related financing or the period over which B@v are received.

Basic and Dilutive Net Loss Per Share of Common &

Basic net loss per share of common stock is cordpweldividing net loss by the weightesterage number of shares of common stock outstg
during the period, excluding the dilutive effectsconverting redeemable convertible preferred stegkrants to purchase redeemable conve
preferred stock and common stock, nasted restricted stock, stock options, and empl®sgeck purchase plan purchase rights. Dilutedass
per share of common stock is computed by dividiagloss by the sum of the weightaderage number of shares of common stock outstg
during the period plus the potential dilutive effeof redeemable convertible preferred stock andamés to purchase redeemable convel
preferred stock and common stock, n@sted restricted stock, stock options, and emplayeck purchase plan purchase rights outstandirigg
the period calculated in accordance with the tmgastock method, but are excluded if their effecttidilutive. Because the impact of th
items is antidilutive during the periods of net loss, there wes difference between basic and diluted loss peresiof common stock
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .

The calculation of weightedverage diluted shares outstanding excludes théwdileffect of converting redeemable convertiblefgrred stocl
warrants to purchase convertible preferred stoak @mmon stock, nowested restricted stock, stock options to purctsemon stock, ar
employee stock purchase plan purchase rights asnibect of such items are amlilutive during periods of net loss. Potential coomrshare
excluded from the calculations were 2,170,660 57,860 and 15,694,862 for the years ended DeceBih@014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

Segment

The Company operates in only one segment. The opirfating decision-maker, who is the Compar@hief Executive Officer, and managen
use cash flows as the primary measure to manadgritieess and do not segment the business fonatterporting or decision making.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standar

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09: Rereefrom Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). TH&UAestablishes a principlésse!
approach for accounting for revenue arising fromti@axts with customers and supersedes existingnoeveecognition guidance. The A
provides that an entity should apply a fstep approach for recognizing revenue, includingdéntify the contract with a customer; (2) idéy
the performance obligations in the contract; (3eduine the transaction price; (4) allocate thega&tion price to the performance obligatior
the contract; and (5) recognize revenue when, othasentity satisfies a performance obligatiorsdilthe entity must provide variodisclosure
concerning the nature, amount and timing of reveange cash flows arising from contracts with custané@his ASU is effective for fiscal yea
and interim periods within those years, beginniftgraDecember 15, 2016 and early application is permitted. The Company is currer
analyzing the impact of this new accounting guidanc

81




Note 2. Investments

The following table summarizes the Company's stesrtt and long-term investments as of December @14 2in thousands):

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Corporate bonds $ 69,947 $ — 3 (56) $ 69,89:
Certificates of deposit 28,03¢ 1 (62) 27,97¢
U.S. Treasury securities 48,27 — (82 48,19’
Commercial paper 11,24: — 2 11,24(
Preferred stock of U.S. corporation $ 154 $ 23€ % — % 1,781
Total investments $ 159,05: $ 237 % (202) $ 159,08

The Company had no short-term or long-term investmat December 31, 2013 .

The following table summarizes the scheduled migtéor the Company's investments at December 314 Zih thousands):

December 31, 2014

Maturing in one year or less $ 106,11
Maturing after one year through two years 52,97
Total investments $ 159,08

Note 3. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net of accumulated degreciaonsists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2014 2013

Lab equipment $ 1,04¢ $ 87:
Leasehold improvements 777 78
Computer equipment 51z 324
Office furniture and equipment 34: 22z
Property and equipment 2,681 1,49
Less accumulated depreciation (1,379 (1,159
Property and equipment, net of accumdldepreciation $ 131C ¢ 33¢

Note 4. Loan Payable

On January 27, 2012, the Company entered into & boa Security Agreement (LSA) with Silicon Vall@ank (SVB) and MidCap Financ
SBIC, LP (MidCap) allowing for borrowings up to $@5million , split between a first tranche of $3lllion borrowed at the time of t
agreement, and a second tranche of up to $12.bmilat was available to be drawn by December 31, 2(ith meeting one of three ste
financial and/or operational goals. The borrowingder the LSA are collateralized by a securityregein all of the Company's assets, exclu
its intellectual property.

The first tranche was used to repay the remainimgipal balance outstanding of $2.6 milliander a previous loan. This repayment was de
a modification of debt and therefore the remainielated deferred financing costs totaling $0.1 iomllremained in deferred financing costs
are being amortized over the term of the LSA thioungerest expense. The first tranche has an stterdy period of twelve montHsllowed by ¢
30 months principal and interest amortization prigth interest being charged at 8.25% per yeattferfull period of the LSA.
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The Company met one of the financial and/or openali goals mentioned above and, in September 2D&2remaining $12.0 milliorwas
borrowed in the second tranche. The second tramafi@ 6 months interest-only period followed by ar®nthsrincipal and interest amortizati
period with interest being charged at the sameasitihe first tranche. There are certain fees @oraance with the LSA which are being recol
as discounts or other long and shertm liabilities depending on the nature of thesfeBhe fees are being accreted through interestnse
Approximately $0.1 million , $0.1 million , and $0million was included in interest expense in the Consolid&mtements of Operations
Comprehensive Loss for the years ended Decemb@034,, 2013 , and 2012 , respectively.

Concurrently with entering into the LSA, the Compaaiso granted SVB a warrant to purchase shar&eoés F preferred stock at a pric
$2.045 per share equal to 2%the aggregate amount of the advances made ©Wdh®any pursuant to the LSA, divided by the exergrice. |
relation to the first tranche, the warrant becamer@sable to purchase an aggregate of 29sBées of Series F preferred stock, and in relat
the second tranche, the warrant became exercigaplachase an additional 117,38tares of Series F preferred stock. As discusshidie 1, th
warrant is classified as a liability and is reqdite be measured at fair value. Therefore, theamarmvas recorded as a debt discount at its faire
at the time of grant and accreted over the lifehef LSA using the effective interest method. Uplo& tompletion of the Comparsy1PO, thi:
warrant was converted into a warrant to purchasg@28lshares of common stock at an exercise prigal ég $7.26 In May 2013, SVB exercis
the warrant in full and it is no longer outstanding

At December 31, 2014, the remaining principal anmatfir$4.4 millionunder the LSA is due and payable throughout 2048 e such is includ
in current liabilities in the Consolidated Balar@ieeets.

Note 5. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Company leases its facilities and certain eféquipment under long-term noancelable operating leases that expire at vadates throug

2018. The Company has the following minimum remi@yments under noncancelable operating lease tbligathat existed december 3:
2014 (in thousands):

Minimal
Rental
Years Ending December 31, Payment
2015 $ 541
2016 511
2017 51€
2018 12¢
Total future minimum rental payments $ 1,69¢

Rent expense under non-cancelable operating leaskesther month-toaonth equipment rental agreements, including comarea maintenan
fees, totaled approximately $0.4 million , $0.5liof , and $0.4 million for the years ended Decengie 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

Significance of Revenue Sourc

The Company is the recipient of federal researcttraot funds from BARDA. Periodic audits are reqdiunder the grant and contract agreen
and certain costs may be questioned as appropriater the agreements. Management believes thatasuohnts in the current year, if any,
not significant. Accordingly, no provision for refdable amounts under the agreements has been siafl®acember 31, 2014 and 2013 .

Note 6. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

In February 2011, the Company issued 22,004,89&sha $0.001 par value Series F redeemable cableepreferred stock at $2.04fr shar
and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 5,50k24es of Series F redeemable convertible prefetak at an exercise price of $2.0gdé&
share for proceeds of $45.0 million , less issuarosts of $0.2 million . Upon the completion of thempanys IPO in April 2013, these warra
were converted into warrants to purchase an agtrerfd 549,628 shares of common stock at an eseepmice of $7.2@er share. The warral
are exercisable at any time and expire on Febrig?918 .
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In January 2012, the Company issued a warrant #® ®\purchase a number of shares of Series F reat#dernonvertible preferred stock af
exercise price of $2.045 per share equal too2%he aggregate amount of the advances made Gdhgany pursuant to the LSA, divided by
exercise price. Following the first and seconddhes of the LSA, the warrant was exercisable tahmse an aggregate of 146, &b@res of Serir
F redeemable convertible preferred stock. Uporctmapletion of the Company’IPO in April 2013, this warrant was convertediatwarrant t
purchase 41,323 shares of common stock at an sggrdce of $7.2@er share. In May 2013, SVB exercised the warmafull and it is no longe
outstanding.

Upon the completion of the Company’s IPO in Aprl13, the Compang’ outstanding shares of redeemable convertiblesipesf stock ar
dividends accrued on Series F redeemable conwenitdferred stock were automatically converted entoaggregate of 15,556,08hares ¢
common stock.

Warrants

As discussed in Note 1, the warrants exercisabil¢him Companys Series F preferred stock were classified ashditinand were required to

measured at fair value. Therefore, such warrante wexorded at the full fair value with the Compan$eries F preferred stock being record:
the residual value at the time of issuance. At eapbrting date prior to the Company’s IPO, therasits exercisable for the CompasBeries

preferred stock were recorded to fair value whigswharged to other income. For the years endedrnilegr 31, 2013 and 20]12he Compan
recorded expense of $6.6 million and $0.8 millioespectively, related to the valuation of thenaats. These amounts are stated as the fair
adjustments to warrant liability on the ConsolidaBtatements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.

Upon the completion of the ComparyiPO, all outstanding warrants to purchase redblEm@onvertible preferred stock were converted
warrants to purchase 1,613,395 shares of commak atal are no longer required to be measuredratdhie.

Warrants for the purchase of common stock of 726#46d 1,337,845 were issued, outstanding and esdilei at December 31, 2014 and 2013
respectively.

Note 7. Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Common Stock

The Company’s common stock consists of 200.0 milkmithorized shares at December 31, 2014 and 2a&d 41.0 million an®6.7 millior
shares issued and outstanding at December 31,&@ilBecember 31, 2013 , respectively.

On March 25, 2013, the Company’s board of direcamgroved and implemented a 3.55 -for-1 reverseksdplit of the Companyg’ outstandin
common stock. The reverse stock split resultednimdjustment to the preferred stock conversionepticreflect a proportional decrease in
number of shares of common stock to be issued apowersion. The accompanying financial statememdsnetes to the financial statements
retroactive effect to the reverse stock split ibpariods presented.

On April 10, 2013, the Company completed the ihpiablic offering (IPO) of its common stock purstam a registration statement on Forni.S-
In the IPO, the Company sold an aggregate of 70820shares of common stock under the registration retté at a public offering price
$14.00 per share. Net proceeds were approxima@dy3$million , after deducting underwriting discésimand commissions of $7.1 millianc
offering expenses of $2.1 million . Upon the contipke of the IPO, all outstanding shares of the Canys redeemable convertible preferred s
and dividends accrued on Series F redeemable ddiegepreferred stock were converted into 15,556,8Bares of common stock and
outstanding warrants to purchase redeemable cdpieepreferred stock were converted into warrantpurchase 1,613,3%hares of commc
stock. On April 16, 2013, the underwriters exerdiiee full over-allotment option pursuant to whitle Company sold an additiorihl098,00i
shares at $14.00 per share. Net proceeds fromvéireatlotment shares were approximately $14.3 amillifter deducting underwriting discou
and commissions of $1.1 million .

On October 23, 2013, the Company completed an wumiiem secondary public offering of 2,476,98%ares of common stock held by certai
the Companys existing stockholders. The Company did not issue shares of common stock and received no prodeemtsnection with suc
offering. The principal purposes of the offeringrevéo facilitate an orderly distribution of shaeexd to increase the Company’s public float.

On May 27, 2014, the Company completed an undeenrjhublic offering of 8,395,000 shares of commiartls including 1,095,008hares sol
pursuant to the full exercise of an owaletment option previously granted to the undetsvs. All of the shares were offered by the Compeatne
price to the public of $14.22 per share. Net prdsde the Company from this offering,
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after deducting underwriting discounts and comroissiand other offering expenses payable by the @oympvere approximately $111.8 million
The securities described above were offered byCtmapany pursuant to a shelf registration staterdealared effective by the SEC on May
2014.

On November 5, 2014, the Company completed an wmittem public offering of 4,197,500 shares of coamrstock, including 547,50€hare
sold pursuant to the full exercise of an optionvjmasly granted to the underwriters to purchasetma@l shares of common stock. All of
shares were offered by the Company at a pricedtiblic of $29.0@er share. The net proceeds from this offeringrafeducting underwritir
discounts and commissions and other offering exgepsayable by us, were approximately $114.0 millidime securities described above v
offered by the Company pursuant to an automatitf ségistration statement which immediately becaeffective by rule of the SEC on Octo
29, 2014.

Shares Reserved for Future Issuan

The Company has reserved shares of common stofltéoe issuances as follows:

December 31,

2014 2013
For exercise of common stock warrants 726,60: 1,337,84!
For exercise of outstanding common stock options 1,859,97! 1,946,82.
For future equity awards under the 2013 Equity mhtige Plan 1,147,520 1,681,93.
For future purchases under the 2013 Employee Fraothase Plan 944,59¢ 704,22!
Total shares of common stock reserved foréuissuances 4,678,691 5,670,82!

Stock Options

In connection with the Compars/IPO, the Company adopted the 2013 Equity InceriRlan (the 2013 Plan). The 2013 Plan providethfagran
of incentive stock options (ISOs), nonstatutorycktoptions (NSOs), stock appreciation rights, fetetd stock awards, restricted stock unit (R
awards, performandeased stock awards, and other forms of equity cosgi®mn (collectively, stock awards), all of whiokay be granted
employees, including officers, n@mployee directors and consultants of the Companlyita affiliates. Additionally, the 2013 Plan pides fol
the grant of performance cash awards. ISOs maydeegl only to employees. All other awards may faatgd to employees, including office
and to noremployee directors and consultants. Initially, #ggregate number of shares of common stock thatlbmeagsued pursuant to st
awards under the 2013 Plan is the sum of (i) 148@Bshares, plus (ii) 244,7%hares, which was the number of shares reservassfmnce und
the Companys 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2012 Plan) attitne the 2013 Plan became effective, plus (iily ahares subject to outstanc
stock options or other stock awards that would hatherwise returned to the 2012 Plan (such as tiperexpiration or termination of a stc
award prior to vesting). Additionally, the numbédrsbares of common stock reserved for issuancerihde2013 Plan will automatically incre
on January 1 of each year, beginning on Janua®p14 and continuing through and including JanuargQ0R3, by 2.5%of the total number
shares of capital stock outstanding on Decembesf3he preceding calendar year, or a lesser numbsehares determined by the Company’
board of directors. The maximum number of share$ thay be issued upon the exercise of ISOs undeR®i3 Plan is 2,816,90ghares
Following the effectiveness of the 2013 Plan iniAp013, no further grants were made under the 2Blaa. At the Company's annual mee
held on June 20, 2014, shareholders approved ggehanthe annual automatic increase in the numbeommon shares to be reserved
issuance under the 2013 Plan by changing the pageincrease to 4.0%or a lesser number of shares determined by tmep@oy's board
directors.

The Company estimates the fair value of its shaseth awards to employees, directors and consultiaittg the Black-Scholes optigmicing
model. The Blackscholes model requires the input of highly com@e’ subjective assumptions, including (a) the ebgukestock price volatilit
(b) the calculation of expected term of the awéelithe risk-free interest rate and (d) expectatitidnds. Due to the Compasyimited operatin
history and historical and implied volatility datdne Company has based its estimates of expectediliyp on a blend of Company speci
historical data and a group of similar public trdd®mpanies. When selecting these public compamieshich it has based its expected s
price volatility, the Company selected companiethwbomparable characteristics to it, including gntee value, risk profiles, positions within
industry, and with historical share price informatisufficient to meet the expected life of its &taptions. For employee stock options
Company uses the “simplifiedhethod for estimating expected life, whereby, tkpeeted life equals the arithmetic average of thsting terr
and the original contractual term of the option tlués lack of sufficient historical data. The exped term for share-based compensation
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granted to non-employees is the contractual lifee Miskfree interest rates for the periods within the exge life of the option are based on
U.S. Treasury instrument with a life that is simila the expected life of the option grant. The @amy has never paid, and does not expect tc
dividends in the foreseeable future.

The following table illustrates the assumptionstfar Black-Scholes model used in determining tireviue of the stock options granted:

Employees
Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Expected volatility 71.81% 76.4(% 80.5%%
Expected term (in years) 6.C 6.1 6.C
Weighted-average risk-free interest rate 1.92% 1.4% 0.86%
Expected dividend yield —% —% —%
Weighted-average fair value per option $ 14.0C $ 25z % 1.9¢

Non-Employees
Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected volatility 68.6% 79.6% 81.71%
Expected term (in years) 5.7 6.2 5.8
Weighted-average risk-free interest rate 1.87% 1.3(% 0.7&%
Expected dividend yield —% —% —%
Weighted-average fair value per option $ 14.1: $ 5.01 $ 3.4¢

The Company is also required to estimate forfetatethe time of grant, and revise those estimatesbsequent periods if actual forfeitures d
from its estimates. The Company uses historica taestimate pre-vesting option forfeitures arabre shardsased compensation expense
for those awards that are expected to vest. Tettent that actual forfeitures differ from the Canp’s estimates, the difference is recorded
cumulative adjustment in the period the estimatesewevised. For the years ended December 31, 20043 and 2012the Company appliec
forfeiture rate based on the Company’s historiodikitures.
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A summary of activity related to the Company’s &toptions is as follows:

Weighted-
Average

Number of Weighted- Remaining

Options Average Contractual
Outstanding Exercise Price Life (in Years)
Balance, January 1, 2013 2,593,42. $ 2.4F 7.3¢€
Granted 292,90t 10.62 —
Exercised (801,049 2.4% —
Expired or Canceled (2,816 1.57 —
Forfeited (135,64 4.5t —
Balance, December 31, 2013 1,946,82. $ 3.54 7.0
Granted 1,385,37! 21.5i —
Exercised (1,287,88) 3.57 —
Expired or Canceled — — —
Forfeited (184,340) 15.3( —
Balance, December 31, 2014 1,859,971 $ 15.7¢ 8.4¢€
Exercisable at December 31, 2014 589,14. $ 9.0¢ 7.17
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2014 1,816,05 $ 15.7¢ 8.4t

At December 31, 2014 , the aggregate intrinsicevalioptions outstanding and exercisable was $h8lén . The total intrinsic value of optio
exercised was $30.4 million , $12.4 million , ari8P00 for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 20d2012 , respectively.

As of December 31, 2014 , there was approximaté&.% million of total unrecognized compensationtagdated to non-vested shdrase!
compensation arrangements granted under the 2@t3 Phat compensation cost is expected to be rézegjover a weightedverage period
approximately 3.14 years .

The following table summarizes, at December 31420% price range: (1) for stock option awards taunding under the 2013 Plan, the numb:
stock option awards outstanding, their weighésdrage remaining life and their weighted averageaise price; and (2) for stock option aw:
exercisable under the Plan, the number of stodbmpiwards exercisable and their weighted-averagecise price:

Outstanding Exercisable
Weighted-
Average

Remaining Weighted- Weighted-

Contractual Average Average
Range Number Life (in years) Exercise Price Number Exercise Price
$1.421t03.71 395,87: 6.0 2.3t 355,01° 2.3t
3.72t0 15.96 368,48" 8.4 9.7¢ 49,37: 9.8¢4
15.97 to 18.93 423,57 9.1 18.61 88,98¢ 18.7¢
18.94 to 24.00 362,99( 9.3 22.4¢ 82,51« 22.6¢
24.01to 36.75 309,05( 9.8 28.3¢ 13,25( 34.8¢

$1.42t0 36.75 1,859,97! 85 $ 15.7¢ 589,147 g 9.0:

In 2012, the Company modified option grants forrfodividuals. Three of the modifications extendld term to exercise the option resultin
$30,000 in additional compensation expense. Onieroptas modified to continue vesting after the iggraint’s termination and to extend the ti
to exercise such option resulting in additional pemsation expense of $0.3 million .
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On April 9, 2014, the Comparg/former President and Chief Executive Officergaed. The Company entered into a severance agréevith
the former officer that provides for severance fis¢o him in connection with his resignation. Angpother benefits, he received accelet
vesting of all of his outstanding stock optionsfase had continued service for an additional 15theperiod. In addition, his vested options w
modified to extend his exercise period to Decendier2014. The Company recorded a charge of $1lmitb compensation expense on the
of his resignation related to the accelerationasfting and the modification.

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

In February 2013, the Compasyboard of directors adopted the 2013 EmployeekStacchase Plan (ESPP), which was subsequentfiedaliy
stockholders and became effective in April 2013 Phrpose of the ESPP is to retain the serviceswfemployees and secure the services o
and existing employees while providing incentives $uch individuals to exert maximum efforts tow#ind Companys success and that of
affiliates. The ESPP initially authorized the issc& of 704,225 shares of common stock pursuantitchpse rights granted to the Company’
employees or to employees of any of its designaféliates. The number of shares of common stodemead for issuance will automatic:
increase on January 1 of each calendar year, fesmaly 1, 2014 through January 1, 2023 by the &fagt) 1%o0f the total number of shares
common stock outstanding on December 31 of theepieg calendar year, (b) 422,535 shares, or (QJraber determined by the Compasny’
board of directors that is less than (a) and (hg ESPP is intended to qualify as an “employeekgpocchase planivithin the meaning of Secti
423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. On Jgnlia?014, the common stock reserved for futureasse under the ESPP was automati
increased by an additional 266,649 shares bringiedotal number of shares of common stock that beagurchased under the ESPP to 970,874 .

The Company has reserved a total of 970,874 slsiremmmon stock to be purchased under the ESPRhich 944,59%hares remain availal
for purchase at December 31, 2014. Eligible emm@eymay authorize up to 15% of their salary to pasehcommon stock at the lower of 85%
the beginning price at the participants' plan edtate or 85% of the ending price at eachmsbath purchase interval. The ESPP also provide
an automatic reset feature to start participanta naw twentyfour month participation period in the event tha tommon stock market value
a purchase date is less than the common stock valtiee first day of the twenty-four month offeripgriod. The Company issued 26,XtHare
of common stock pursuant to the ESPP for the yeded December 31, 2014. Compensation expense fongae rights under the ESPP relate
the purchase discount and the “look-back” optiomendetermined using a Black-Scholes option priciraglel.

The following table illustrates the assumptionstfar Black-Scholes model used in determining tirevidue of the ESPP purchase rights:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Expected volatility 74.2% 51.22%
Expected term (in years) 0.8 1.2
Weighted-average risk-free interest rate 0.0% 0.25%
Expected dividend yield —% —%
Weighted-average option value per share $ 9.9: $ 4.2(

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had a ltgitfi $296,000 representing employees' contribstionthe ESPP.

Restricted Stock Unit

In 2012 and 2013the Company issued Restricted Stock Units (R$&Jsgrtain employees which vest based on spedifopnance criteria. E
their terms, the RSUs became immediately vested upe effective date of the registration statenfentthe Companys common stock

connection with the IPO, subject to the continuserwice with the Company at the vesting event. Wikested, the RSU represented the right -
issued the number of shares of the Company’s constomk that is equal to the number of RSUs granted.
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A summary of activity related to the Company’s RS&Jas follows:

Number of
Restricted
Stock Units
Outstanding

Balance, December 31, 2012 43,19¢
Granted 59,34¢
Share issuance (102,54

Balance, December 31, 2013 -

In June 2014, the Company recorded an immateriabbperiod adjustment of $1.4 million to propedtate additional paid-inapital with
resulting decrease in compensation expense refatbé RSUs that vested in 2013 in connection thighlPO.

Stock-based Compensation

For awards with only service conditions and gradeskting features, the Company recognizes compensatipense on a straiglimie basis ove
the requisite service period. Total stock-basedpmeation expense was as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Income Statement Classification:
Research and development expense:
Employee $ 1,08 $ 1,908 $ 33¢€
Non-employee — 67 8C
General and administrative expense:
Employee 3,32¢ 1,017 921
Non-employee — 82 59
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 4411 $ 3071 % 1,39¢

Cash received from exercises under all share-lzesgaient arrangements for 2014 , 2013 and 2012 wasrillion , $1.9 million and $14,000
respectively. There was no actual tax benefit zedlifor the tax deductions from exercises of tteresthased payment arrangements during 2014
2013 or 2012 .

The Company continues to account for stock optisssed to noemployees using a fair value approach. The comtienseosts of the:
arrangements are subject to re-measurement oveestiag terms as earned. Compensation cost fiorpeancebased awards is recognized w
it is probable that the performance criteria wél fnet.

Fair Value Estimate

Prior to the Company’s IPO, the Company was reduice estimate the fair value of the common stocHeunlying shardsased awards wh
performing the fair value calculations with the &eScholes option-pricing model. The fair valuetloé common stock underlying shdrase:
awards was determined on each grant date by thep&uyis board of directors, with input from managemerit.ofstions to purchase shares
common stock were intended to be granted with @noise price per share no less than the fair vyadwieshare of common stock underlying tt
options on the date of grant, based on the infaom&nown on the date of grant.

The Company was privately held with no active pubtiarket for its common stock. Therefore, managerhad for financial reporting purpos
periodically determined the estimated per shareviie of the Compang’common stock and redeemable convertible prefestiazk at variot
dates using contemporaneous valuations consistéhttiie American Institute of Certified Public Aagttants Practice Aid,Vfaluation o
Privately-Held Company Equity Securities IssuedCampensation,also known as the Practice Aid. These valuationse werformed with tr
assistance of a thirparty valuation specialist. The Company perforntexbé contemporaneous valuations as of Februar3013, December 3
2011, and September 30, 2012 and December 31, BO&@nducting these contemporaneous valuationsagement considered all objective
subjective factors that it believed to be relevianeach valuation conducted, including managemergst estimate of the Compasybusines
condition,
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prospects and operating performance at each vatudéite. Within the contemporaneous valuationsopadd, a range of factors, assumptions
methodologies were used. The significant factoduoted external market conditions affecting thetdgbnology industry, trends within 1
biotechnology industry, the prices at which the @any sold shares of preferred stock, the supeigbis and preferences of the preferred <
relative to common stock at the time of each gridnet,results of operations, financial positionfisaf research and development efforts, sta
development and business strategy, the lack ofcéimeapublic market for the common and preferreatist and the likelihood of achieving
liquidity event such as an IPO or sale of the Camygr light of prevailing market conditions.

The dates of the Company’s contemporaneous vahgtiad not always coincided with the dates ofhitrasbased compensation grants. In ¢
instances, management’s estimates had been badhd orost recent contemporaneous valuation of traganys shares of common stock i
its assessment of additional objective and subjedtictors management believed were relevant anchwhay have changed from the date o
most recent contemporaneous valuation throughdbeaf the grant. In addition, the Company perfametrospective valuations as of certain
option grant dates using similar methodologies asewused in the contemporaneous valuations. Aswtrehe Company concluded cer
options granted in 2012 had reassessed valuesetifidrom the grant date. The reassessed values wsrd to determine shdvase:
compensation expense for the year ended Decemb2032.

Note 8. Income Taxes

No income tax expense or benefit has been recdatatie years endeDecember 31, 2014 , 2013 or 2012his is due to the establishment
valuation allowance against the deferred tax aggaierated during those periods. At December 314 2the Company has concluded that
more likely than not that the Company may not eeathe benefit of its deferred tax assets duestbistory of losses. Accordingly, the net defe
tax assets have been fully reserved.

A reconciliation of the difference between the berfer income taxes and income taxes at the stayut).S. federal income tax rate is as foll
for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 2@b@ (in thousands):

2014 2013 2012
% of Pretax % of Pretax % of Pretax
Amount Earnings Amount Earnings Amount Earnings
Income tax benefit at statutory rate  $ (20,16¢) 34(% $ (12,39 34(% $ (1,499 34.C%
State income taxes (1,349 2.3% (852) 2.3% (100) 2.3%
Research and development credits (2,577) 4.3% (2,265.() 6.2 % — — %
Permanent items 1,52t (2.6)% 3,06( (8.9% 86¢ (19.9)%
Provision to return adjustments 64 (0.1)% 32C (0.99% 2 — %
Effect of change in state tax rate 2 — % () — % 60¢ (13.9%
Increase in unrecognized tax benefits 42t (0.1% 566.( (1.5)% — — %
Change in valuation allowance 22,07( (37.9% 11,56 (31.9)% 12C (2.1%
Net benefit $ — —% $ — —% $ — —%
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The components of deferred tax assets and ligsilét December 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follovthdimsands):

December 31,

2014 2013
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 59,31: $ 40,72:
Research and development expenses 40t 127
Capitalized Section 174 expenses 57 69
Research and development credits 4,572 2,64(
Accrued bonuses 1,06¢ 40t
Share-based compensation 1,04t 267
Other 13t 23C
Total gross deferred tax assets 66,59: 44,45¢
Valuation allowance (66,479 (44,409
Total deferred tax assets 117 54

Deferred tax liabilities:
Other (1179) (54)
Total deferred tax liabilities (1179) (54)
Total deferred tax assets #atdllities, net $ — % —

At December 31, 2014 , the Company has net opgraiss carryforwards for federal and state tax pseg of approximately $192.6 milli@mc
$156.9 million , respectively. At December 31, 201the Company has net operating loss carryforwémdsfederal and state purposes
approximately $117.5 million and $106.0 millionespectively. The federal losses begin to expir2020and the state losses begin to expi
2018 . The Company’s federal and state net operdbiss carryforwards include approximately $31.3iom of excess tax benefits relatec
deductions from the exercise of stock options. Ehebenefit of these deductions has not been révedrnn deferred tax assets. If utilized,
benefits from these deductions will be recordeddjastments to additional paid-capital. In addition, the Company has tax creditryforward
for federal tax purposes of approximately $6.1 iollas of December 31, 2014 , which begin to exir@022. The future utilization of n
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards mayirbgged due to changes in ownership. Managementréeasded a valuation allowance for al
the deferred tax assets due to the uncertaintytofd taxable income.

The Company incorporated a subsidiary in the Unitedydom during the year. However, the subsidiaag ho activity as dbecember 31, 20:
and as such, has no undistributed earnings.

In general, if the Company experiences a greatan 0% aggregate change in ownership of certamfisignt stockholders over a thrgeal
period (a Section 382 ownership change), utilizatié its preehange net operating loss carryforwards is sulifeetn annual limitation und
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code (and ainstiate laws). The annual limitation generallgésermined by multiplying the value of
Company’s stock at the time of such ownership chatsubject to certain adjustments) by the appledbhg-term taxexempt rate. Suu
limitations may result in expiration of a portiohthe net operating loss carryforwards before zdtion and may be substantial. The ability of
Company to use its net operating loss carryforwandy be limited or lost if the Company experienced or more Section 382 owners
changes in connection with past offerings of itxktor as a result of future changes in its stogkeyship. Losses from a specific period ma
subject to multiple limitations, and would geneydike limited by the lowest of those limitations.

The Company has determined that a Section 382 eWipechange occurred in 2002nd as such, losses incurred prior to that dateswabject t
an annual limitation of at least $64,000 . Additihy, the Company has determined that a Sectiono88%rship change occurred in 200&hd a
such, losses incurred prior to that date are stlbgean annual limitation of at least $762,000he Company evaluated Section 382 owne
changes subsequent to 2007 through 2014 and centchhdt a Section 382 ownership change occurr@f13as a result of the initial pub
offering, the Company' private placement and other transactions tha¢ loacurred since 2007. As such, losses incurrext prithat date a
subject to an annual limitation of at least $6.Hiam .

The Company had unrecognized tax benefits of apmately $0.2 millionas of January 1, 2013. As the 2012 R&D tax credi wot yet enact
into current law, no R&D credit was reflected om t012 provision. As a result, the Company recaghian increase in the unrecognizec
benefit associated with the federal R&D credit gaver in the year ended December 31, 2@18ted to the periods ending December 31, 201
2013. As of December 31, 2014 , the total unrecaghtax benefits were
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approximately $1.0 million and of this total, nomeuld reduce the Compargyeffective tax rate if recognized. The Companysduat anticipate
significant change in total unrecognized tax bdasefi the Companyg’effective tax rate due to the settlement of gualitthe expiration of statu
of limitations within the next twelve months. Fuetimore, the Company does not expect any cashraetitewith the taxing authorities as a re
of these unrecognized tax benefits as the Compasigtifficient unutilized carryforward attributesofifset the tax impact of these adjustments.

The Company has determined that there may be &efiitnitation on the Compang’ability to utilize its entire federal R&D creditirryover
Therefore, the Company recognized an uncertaitemefit associated with the federal R&D credit gaver during the year end&kcember 3:
2014 , as follows (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 207
Increases related to 2013 197
Increases related to prior periods 177

Balance at December 31, 2013 581
Increases related to 2014 42~
Increases related to prior periods —

Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 1,00¢

The presentation of the above rollforward of theartain tax benefit was updated in the current yeamnclude the benefit to the net operating
if a portion of the federal R&D credit were to bieallowed. This change in presentation ties theeturyear increase to the amount included ii
rate reconciliation. As this was merely a changgereésentation there is no effect on prior yeamavision.

The Company has determined that it had no otheenmhtincertain tax benefits for the year endeddbduer 31, 2014As of January 1, 2015, ¢
to the carry forward of unutilized net operatingdes and research and development credits, the agmp subject to U.S. Federal and ¢
income tax examinations for the tax years 2000utino2014. The Company recognizes accrued interest relateshtecognized tax benefits
interest expense and penalties in operating exp&ltsamounts were accrued for the payment of istexred penalties at January 1, 2014.

Note 9. Significant Agreements
The Regents of the University of California

In May 2002, the Company entered into a licenseeagent with The Regents of the University of Catifa (UC) under which the Compe
obtained an exclusive, worldwide license to UC’¢eparights in certain inventions (the UC Patengt®s) related to lipidtconjugated antivir:
compounds and their use, including certain patexiéting to brincidofovir and CMX157. The licensgreement was amended in September
in order to expand the scope of the license anthagdbecember 2010 in order to modify certain finel terms. The agreement was amenc
third time in September 2011 to add additional pisteelated to certain metabolically stable lipa@hjugate compounds. A fourth amendment
executed in July 2012 to alter the rights and atians of the parties in light of the Compasgurrent business plans. As partial considerdtc
the rights granted to the Company under the liceagseement, the Company is required to pay cecash milestone payments in connection
the development and commercialization of compouth@d$ are covered by the UC Patent Rights. In caiomeavith the development a
commercialization of brincidofovir and CMX157, ti@mpany could be required to pay UC up to an aggeegf $3.4 millionin mileston
payments, assuming the achievement of all appkcatilestone events under the license agreement.

Under the license agreement, the Company is peuintti research, develop, manufacture and commieeciptoducts utilizing the UC Pat
Rights for all human and veterinary uses, and biigense such rights. UC retained the right, oralfedf itself and other noprofit institutions, t
use the UC Patent Rights for educational and relgarrposes and to publish information about theRag@nt Rights.

In consideration for the rights granted under ibense agreement, the Company has issued UC aagaggrof 64,788hares of common stock.
additional consideration, the Company is required pay certain cash milestone payments in connectiith the development a
commercialization of compounds that are coveredhieyUC Patent Rights, plus certain annual feesdmtain such patents until the Comp
commercializes a product utilizing UC Patent Rigltsaddition, upon commercialization of any produtilizing the UC Patent Rights (whi
would include the commercialization of brincidofoer CMX157), the Company will be required to paylsingle digit royalties on net sales
such product.
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In the event the Company sublicenses a UC Patagiit Rincluding UC Patent Rights relating to brirafiavir or CMX157) the Company
obligated to pay to UC a fee, which amount will waepending upon the size of any upfront paymeatGompany receives and the clin
development stage of the compound being sublicemsgdvhich could be up to approximately 5@¥the sublicense fee in certain circumstar
In addition, the Company will also be required &y po UC a low single digit sublicense royalty at sales of products that use the sublice
UC Patent Rights, but in no event will the Compéaeyrequired to pay more than 5@¥othe royalties it receives in connection with tieéevan
sublicense. Any such royalty payment will be redlibg other payments the Company is required to nakieird parties until a minimum roya
has been reached.

As a result of meeting certain milestones and sahbe fees related to this license agreement, ahgpény recognized expenses of $0.1 million
$0 million , and $0.9 million for the year endedd@mber 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012 , respectively.

Biomedical Advanced Research and Development AuitlydiBARDA)

In February 2011, the Company entered into a conwih BARDA for the advanced development of bitodovir as a medical countermeas
in the event of a smallpox release. Under the estitBARDA will reimburse the Company, plus payxed fee, for the research and developr
of brincidofovir as a broadpectrum therapeutic antiviral for the treatmensmfllpox infections. The contract consists of rtidl performanc
period, referred to as the base performance segmkrs up to four extension periods of approximatehe yeareach, referred to as opt
segments, each of which may be exercised at BARBAle discretion. The Company must complete theealgupon milestones and delivera
in each discrete work segment before the next ogegment is eligible to be exercised. Under threraot as currently in effect, the Comp
may receive up to $75.8 million in expense reimborent and $5.3 million in fees.

The Company is currently performing under the faistl second option segments of the contract duvinigh the Company may receive up -
total of $5.3 million and $17.0 million in expens@mbursement and fees, respectively. The firsbapegment is expected to endMarch 31
2015 and the second option segment is scheduleddt@n November 30, 2015 . As of December 31, 2@d Company has recognized reve
in aggregate of $36.7 million with respect to tlasd performance segment and first and second etquesiods.

ContraVir Pharmaceuticals

On December 17, 2014, the Company entered intceade agreement with ContraVir Pharmaceuticals (NX3: CTRV) for the developme
and commercialization of CMX157 for certain antiiindications. Under the terms of the agreemeont@Vir has sole responsibility w
respect to the control of the development and comialezation of CMX157.

In exchange for the license to CMX157 rights, th@mPany received an upfront payment consisting &,d@0 shares of ContraVir Series
Convertible Preferred Stock with a stated valu&X® million . In addition, the Company is eligiliereceive up to approximately $20 million
clinical, regulatory and initial commercial milestgs in the United States and Europe, as well aaltrey and additional milestones base!
commercial sales in those territories. Either pargy terminate the license agreement upon the @owe of a material breach by the other
(subject to standard cure periods), or upon cegaénts involving the bankruptcy or insolvency loé bther party. ContraVir may also termir
the license agreement without cause on a countigebmtry basis upon sixty ( 60 ) days’ prior writteotice.

The upfront payment of 120,000 shares of Contr&®¢éiries B Convertible Preferred Stock was value®lléd millionat the time of the agreeme
The Company recorded this amount as a l@mgy investment and deferred revenue, which isuged in accrued liabilities in the Consolid:
Balance Sheets. Upon completion of the transféh@fiND and technical knowew related to CMX157, the Company will recognilze tipfron
payment as revenue. As of December 31, 2014, rdnisfier had not been completed. As of Decembe2@14, the fair value of the investm
was $1.8 million .
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Note 10. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudid)

The following financial information reflects all moal recurring adjustments, which are, in the apinof management, necessary for a
statement of the results of the interim periodsn®arized quarterly data for 2014 and 2013 are l&safe (in thousands, except per share data):

2014 Quarters

Fourth Third Second First
Total revenues $ 1,15¢ $ 1,188 $ 91¢ $ 78C
Operating loss (20,2296 (16,86() (11,599 (10,189
Net loss (20,24°) (16,957 (12,739 (10,380
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted $ (0.52) % 0.47) $ (0.39) $ (0.39)
Weighted-average shares outstanding, basic andlilu 39,128,29 35,845,79 30,111,38 26,762,26

2013 Quarters

Fourth Third Second First
Total revenues $ 87¢ $ 91z $ 80¢ $ 1,771
Operating loss (7,979 (6,436 (7,656 (6,549
Net loss (8,174 (6,706 (12,459 (9,107
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted $ 0.3)) % (0.2¢) $ 0.90) $ (22.5%)
Weighted-average shares outstanding, basic andlilu 26,416,78 25,866,10 23,067,20 1,534,01

Net loss per share is computed independently foh edthe quarters presented. Therefore, the sutimeofjuarterly per share calculations will
necessarily equal the annual per share calculabidoted weighted-average shares outstanding astiichl to basic weightedverage shar
outstanding and diluted net loss per common slsadentical to basic net loss per common sharelfauarters of 2014 and 2013 .

Note 11. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events thtibegdsuance date of these financial statemergadore that this filing includes appropr
disclosure of events both recognized in the finainstatements as of December 31, 20&4d events which occurred subsequently but wet
recognized in the financial statements.

ITEM. 9 CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUN TANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our principal executive officer and principal fircal officer, after evaluating the effectivenessanir disclosure controls and procedures
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of theuStes Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Exgphakct) as of December 31, 201 Aave
concluded that, based on such evaluation, ouratiged controls and procedures were effective tarerthat information required to be disclc
by us in the reports we file or submit under thelange Act is recorded, processed, summarizedegroiited within the time periods specifie

the rules and forms of the SEC, and is accumulateldcommunicated to our management, including oocipal executive and principal financ
officers, or persons performing similar functioas,appropriate to allow timely decisions regardiguired disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing raathtaining adequate internal control over finaheoggporting, as such term is definec
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 186(f). Our internal control system was designegraovide reasonable assurance to our manageme

Board of Directors regarding the preparation amdpi@sentation of published financial statements.
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Our internal control over financial reporting indks those policies and procedures that:

i. pertain to the maintenance of records, that, isgeable detail, accurately and fairly reflect ttesactions and dispositions of our as

ii. provide reasonable assurance that transactioneeweded as necessary to permit preparations ahdial statements in accordance !
generally accepted accounting principles, anddhateceipts and expenditures are being made ardgdordance with authorizations
our management and directors; and

iii. provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, wsedisposition of our assets t
could have a material effect on the financial stegts.

All internal control systems, no matter how welbimed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, etfmse systems determined to be effective
provide only reasonable assurance with respetandial statement preparation and presentation.

In making the assessment of internal controls éwancial reporting, our management used the ditissued by the Committee of Sponso
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO)niernal Control-Integrated FrameworlBased on that assessment and those cr
management has concluded that our internal cooveal financial reporting was effective as of Decembl, 2014.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No change in our internal control over financighaging (as defined in Rules 1-15(d) and 15dt5(d) under the Exchange Act) occurred du
the last fiscal quarter that has materially affdcte is reasonably likely to materially affectraunternal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable
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PART lll
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORP ORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item and not sath below will be set forth in the section head&tection of Directors” and Executive
Officers” in our Proxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meetirfigstockholders (Proxy Statement), to be filed with SEC within 120 days af
the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2@hd is incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted a code of ethics for directordgca® (including our principal executive officertinzipal financial officer and princip
accounting officer) and employees, known as theeG@fBusiness Conduct and Ethics. The Code of BgsitConduct and Ethics is available
our website ahttp://www.chimerix.conunder the Corporate Governance section of our tové&elations page. We will promptly disclose om
website (i) the nature of any amendment to thecpdhat applies to our principal executive offigerincipal financial officer, principal accounti
officer or controller, or persons performing simifanctions and (ii) the nature of any waiver, irdihg an implicit waiver, from a provision of 1
policy that is granted to one of these specifiatividuals that is required to be disclosed purst@ar8EC rules and regulations, the name of
person who is granted the waiver and the dateeofviver.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item will be setth in the section headed “Executive Compensatiom@ur Proxy Statement and is incorpor:
herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIA L OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item will be setth in the section headed “Security Ownership eft&n Beneficial Owners and Management”
in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated hergireference.

The information required by Item 201(d) of ReguwatiS-K will be set forth in the section headed “Bixtve Compensationin our Prox
Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANS ACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item will be setth in the section headed “Transactions With Reld®ersonsin our Proxy Statement anc
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item will be setth in the section heade®atification of Selection of Independent Registdpedblic Accountin:
Firm” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporateceheby reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDU LES

1. Financial Statement§.he financial statements and reports of independagistered public accounting firm are filed ast pdithis Annual
Report (see "Index to Consolidated Financial Statest at Item 8).

2. Financial Statement Schedulé®ne.
3. Exhibits.The following exhibits have been or are being fimdewith and are numbered in accordance with @@inof Regulation S-K:
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description of Document
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatif the Registrant.
3.2(1) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant.
4.1(1) Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Registr
Form of Warrant to Purchase Stock issued to ppétits in the Registrant's Series F Preferred Sioakcing dated
4.2(1) February 7, 2011.
Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreementldabruary 7, 2011 by and among the Registrantartdin of
4.3(1) its stockholders.
Amendment to Amended and Restated Investor Rightsement dated October 29, 2014 by and among the
4.4(2) Registrant and certain of its stockholders.
10.1+(1) Form of Indemnity Agreement by and betweenRkgistrant and its directors and officers.
Chimerix, Inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan and Farhistock Option Agreement, Notice of Exercise andnfof
10.2+(2) Stock Option Grant Notice thereunder.
Chimerix, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan and Farfiittock Option Agreement, Notice of Exercise andnfof
Stock Option Grant Notice and Form of RestricteacktUnit Award Agreement and Form of Restrictedc8tonit
10.3+(2) Award Grant Notice thereunder.
10.4+(1) Form of Stock Option Agreement, Notice of Exeecand Form of Stock Option Grant Notice.
10.5+(3) Chimerix, Inc. 2013 Equity Incentive Plan, aseaded.
10.6+(1) Chimerix, Inc. 2013 Employee Stock Purchase.Pla
10.7+ Chimerix, Inc. Non-Employee Director Canpation Policy.
10.8+ Chimerix, Inc. Officer Change in ContBsverance Benefit Plan, as amended.
10.9+(1) Employment Offer Letter to Timothy W. Trost ddtMarch 16, 2011.
10.10+@) Employment Offer Letter to M. Michelle Berray,D., M.P.H. dated November 7, 2012.
10.11+@1) Employment Offer Letter to Michael D. Rogerh,[P. dated March 4, 2013.
10.12+(8) Employment Offer Letter to Linda M. Richardsdeted December 13, 2013
10.13 4) Employment Offer Letter to William Garret NidspM.D., M.S., dated August 19, 2014.
10.14+(1) Directorship Offer Letter to Ernest Mario, Phdated January 31, 2013.
10.15(5) Directorship Offer Letter to Lisa Ricciardi ddtMarch 27, 2014.
10.16+ Directorship Offer Letter to James MlyDaated June 6, 2014.
10.17+ Directorship Offer Letter to CatherineGilliss dated June 13, 2014.
10.18+ Directorship Offer Letter to Patrick Ntado dated May 30, 2014.
10.19+ Directorship Offer Letter to Ronald G&rRaud, Jr. dated December 12, 2014.
10.20(2) Office Lease by and between the Registrant®®@ 2505 Meridian LLC dated September 1, 2007 nasnaled.
10.21(7) Lease Agreement by and between the RegistrahiNarthwood RTC LLC dated March 10, 2014
10.22(1) Deed of Sublease Agreement by and betweeneghestRant and MDxHealth, Inc. dated March 7, 2Gklamended.
10.23(6) Fifth Amendment to Office Lease dated July@l2by and between the Registrant and AREP MerididrC.
Contract by and between the Registrant and the 8aoral Advanced Research and Development Authofitiie
10.24*(1) United States Department of Health and Human Sesvdated February 16, 2011, as amended.
Contract modification No. 14, dated May 30, 2053thte contract by and between the Registrant an@ithbmedical
Advanced Research and Development Authority ofthitged States Department of Health and Human Sesviated
10.25*(9) February 16, 2011, as amended.
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10.26(10)*

10.27(10)*

10.28(5)

10.29

10.30(6)*

10.31(6)

10.32 **

10.33

10.34

10.35
10.36*(1)
10.37(1)

10.38
10.39(5)

10.40(6)
23.1
24.1

311
31.2
32.1

32.2
101.INS***
101.SCH***
101.CAL***
101.DEF***

Contract modification No. 15, dated August 28, 2ab3he contract by and between the Registrantized
Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Aityhof the United States Department of Health anairtdn
Services dated February 16, 2011, as amended.

Contract modification No. 16, dated December 10,3@o the contract by and between the Registrahttze
Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Aityhof the United States Department of Health angirtdn
Services dated February 16, 2011, as amended.

Contract modification No. 17, dated April 14, 201glthe contract by and between the Registrantlm@iomedical
Advanced Research and Development Authority otthited States Department of Health and Human Seswviated
February 16, 2011, as amended.

Contract modification No. 18, dated May 6, 2014th® contract by and between the Registrant anBittraedical
Advanced Research and Development Authority otthitged States Department of Health and Human Sesviated
February 16, 2011, as amended.

Contract modification No. 19, dated August 27, 2ad4he contract by and between the Registrantfzed
Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Aityhof the United States Department of Health angirtdn
Services dated February 16, 2011, as amended.

Contract modification No. 20, dated October 27,204 the contract by and between the Registrashttza
Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Aitshof the United States Department of Health anairidn
Services dated February 16, 2011, as amended.

Contract modification No. 21, dated November 7,£0a the contract by and between the Registrahtlzam
Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Aityhof the United States Department of Health angirtdn
Services dated February 16, 2011, as amended.

Contract modification No. 22, dated December 11.42@o the contract by and between the Registrahttze
Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Aityhof the United States Department of Health angirtdn
Services dated February 16, 2011, as amended.

Contract modification No. 23, dated December 2242@o the contract by and between the Registrzohttze
Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Aitshof the United States Department of Health anairtdn
Services dated February 16, 2011, as amended.

Contract modification No. 24, dated February 19,500 the contract by and between the Registirzhttze
Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Aityhof the United States Department of Health angirtdn
Services dated February 16, 2011, as amended.

License Agreement by and between the RegistranThadregents of the University of California dakéay 13,
2002, as amended.

Loan and Security Agreement by and among the RagistMidcap Financial SBIC, LP and Silicon ValBgnk
dated January 27, 2012, as amended.

First Loan Modification Agreement, dated Decemi#r2013, to the Loan and Security Agreement byaandng the
Registrant, Midcap Financial SBIC, LP and Silicoall¢y Bank dated January 27, 2012, as amended.
Severance Agreement and Release by and bethe&egistrant and Kenneth I. Moch dated May 54201
Amendment No. 1 to Severance Agreement and Relbgaard between the Registrant and Kenneth |. Matbdd
July 1, 2014.

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, an IndependRegistered Public Accounting Firm.

Power of Attorney. Reference is made éosibnature page hereto.

Certification of Principal Executive Officer, puisut to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the 8ges Exchange
Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 3GBe@Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Principal Financial Officer, purot to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Bees Exchange
Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 3@BeSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Principal Executive Officer, puisut to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pur¢asection 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Principal Financial Officer, purot to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pur¢asection 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

XBRL Instance Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Do@nh

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculatidrinkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definitionihkbase Document.
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101.LAB***
101.PRE***

+

*%

*k%k

@)
&)
©)
4
®)
(6)
O
®)
©)

(10)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linklse Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentatldnkbase Document.

Indicates management contract or compensatary

Confidential treatment has been granted with rdsecertain portions of this exhibit. Omitted ports have bee
filed separately with the SEC.

Confidential treatment has been requested withedp certain portions of this exhibit. Omittedripans have bee
filed separately with the SEC.

In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulatiom She XBRL related information in Exhibit 101 tiei$ Annual Repoil
on Form 10-K is furnished and shall not be deenoeblet “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Ac
otherwise subject to the liability of the sectiamd shall not be part of any registration statenoerdther documet
filed under the Securities Act or the Exchange &gtept as shall be expressly set forth by spefierence in suc
filing.

Incorporated by reference to Chimerix, B&egistration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-487,1as amended.
Incorporated by reference to Chimerix, Inc.’s CaotrReport on Form 8-K (No. 0035867) filed with the SEC ¢
October 29, 2014.

Incorporated by reference to Chimerix, Inc.’s CaotrReport on Form 8-K (No. 0035867) filed with the SEC ¢
June 23, 2014.

Incorporated by reference to Chimerix, Inc.’s CotrReport on Form 8-K (No. 0035867) filed with the SEC
September 4, 2014.

Incorporated by reference to Chimerix, Inc.’s Qedyt Report on Form 10-Q (No. 0@BB867) filed with the SEC ¢
May 9, 2014.

Incorporated by reference to Chimerix, Inc.’s Qedyt Report on Form 10-Q (No. 0@®5867) filed with the SEC ¢
November 7, 2014.

Incorporated by reference to Chimerix, Inc.’s CaotrReport on Form 8-K (No. 0035867) filed with the SEC ¢
March 14, 2014.

Incorporated by reference to Chimerix, Inc.’s CaotrReport on Form 8-K (No. 0035867) filed with the SEC ¢
December 18, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to Chimerix, Inc.’s Qedyt Report on Form 10-Q (No. 0@®5867) filed with the SEC ¢
August 14, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to Chimerix, Inc.’s AninRaport on Form 10-K (No. 0035867) filed with the SEC ¢
March 7, 2015.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1é&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this Annual Report on
Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undgresil, thereunto duly authorized.

Chimerix, Inc.

Date: March 6, 2015 By: /s/ M. Michelle Berrey

M. Michelle Berrey, MD, MPH
President & Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persorost signature appears below constitutes and aggdintlichelle Berrey and
Timothy W. Trost, and each of them, his true amdflhattorneys-in-fact, each with full power of satibution, for him in any and all capacities, to
signh any amendments to this Annual Report on Fdi+K &nd to file the same, with exhibits thereto atiter documents in connection therewith,

with the Securities and Exchange Commission, heratifying and confirming all that each of saidoaitteys-in-fact or their substitute or
substitutes may do or cause to be done by virtveofie

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10ds been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the@#pa and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl M. Michelle Berrey President, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 6, 2015
M. Michelle Berrey, MD, MPH (Principal ExecuévOfficer)
/sl Timothy W. Trost Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer March 6, 2015
Timothy W. Trost and Corporate Secretary (RpalcFinancial and
Accounting Officer)
/sl Ernest Mario
Ernest Mario, PhD Chairman of the Board of Dioes March 6, 2015
/sl James M. Daly
James M. Daly Director March 6, 2015
/sl Martha J. Demski
Martha J. Demski Director March 6, 2015

/sl Catherine L. Gilliss

Catherine L. Gilliss, PhD, RN, FAAN Director March 6, 2015

/sl John M. Leonard

John M. Leonard, MD Director March 6, 2015

/sl C. Patrick Machado

C. Patrick Machado Director March 6, 2015

/s/  James Niedel

James Niedel, MD, PhD Director March 6,201

/s/ Ronald C. Renaud. Jr

Ronald C. Renaud, Jr Director March 6, 2015



/s/ Lisa Ricciardi

Lisa Ricciardi Director March 6, 2015

/sl Timothy J. Wollaeger

Timothy J. Wollaeger Director March 6, 2015
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CHIMERIX. INC.

June 6, 2014
Re: Member of the Board of Directors of Chimerix, Inc
Dear Jim:

It is my sincere pleasure, on behalf of Chimenng. I("Chimerix”), to offer you a position as a member of the BoarB®ioéctors (th
“Board”) of Chimerix, contingent and effective upon youmfat approval by the Board at a meeting to takeeptat June 20, 20
and your acceptance of the terms of this offer.

As compensation for your service as a member oBtherd, you will receive a $35,000 annual retairvaru will also be granted
nonqualified stock option to purchase 18,000 shafemommon stock pursuant to our 2013 Equity InieenPlan (the “Plan”)at ar
exercise price equal to the closing price of Chiriercommon stock on the date of grant, which woulklioon the later of June :
2014 and your acceptance of this offer. Gmerth of the shares subject to this option wilsven the one year anniversary of the
of grant and the balance of the shares will vest $eries of 36 equal monthly installments theeeafiuch that the option will be fu
vested on the fourth anniversary of the date afitgubject to your continued service.

With your continued service on the Board you wédldbmpensated in accordance with the terms of i &Zix, Inc. NonEmployet
Director Compensation Policy. Chimerix will alsarmdurse you for reasonable outymdeket travel expenses incurred in conner
with your attendance at Board meetings.

If the terms of this letter are acceptable to ynd gou agree to serve as a member of the Boaggbiiated, please sign and date
letter below and return it to us via PDF, retainingopy for your records.

Very truly yours,

/s/ M. Michelle Berry

M. Michelle Berrey

President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Meb@#icer
Chimerix, Inc.

Accepted and agree

/s/ James M. Daly
James M. Daly

Date:  6/9/2014



CHIMERIX. INC.

June 13, 2014
Re: Member of the Board of Directors of Chimerix, Inc
Dear Catherine:

It is my sincere pleasure, on behalf of Chimenng. I("Chimerix”), to offer you a position as a member of the BoarB®ioéctors (th
“Board”) of Chimerix, contingent and effective upon youmfat approval by the Board at a meeting to takeeptat June 20, 20
and your acceptance of the terms of this offer.

As compensation for your service as a member oBtherd, you will receive a $35,000 annual retairvaru will also be granted
nonqualified stock option to purchase 18,000 shafemommon stock pursuant to our 2013 Equity InieenPlan (the “Plan”)at ar
exercise price equal to the closing price of Chiriercommon stock on the date of grant, which woulklioon the later of June :
2014 and your acceptance of this offer. Gmerth of the shares subject to this option wilsven the one year anniversary of the
of grant and the balance of the shares will vest $eries of 36 equal monthly installments theeeafiuch that the option will be fu
vested on the fourth anniversary of the date afitgubject to your continued service.

With your continued service on the Board you wédldbmpensated in accordance with the terms of i &Zix, Inc. NonEmployet
Director Compensation Policy. Chimerix will alsarmdurse you for reasonable outymdeket travel expenses incurred in conner
with your attendance at Board meetings.

If the terms of this letter are acceptable to ynd gou agree to serve as a member of the Boaggbiiated, please sign and date
letter below and return it to us via PDF, retainingopy for your records.

Very truly yours,

/s/ M. Michelle Berrey

M. Michelle Berrey

President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Meb@#icer
Chimerix, Inc.

Accepted and agree

/sl Catherine Gilliss
Catherine L. Gilliss

Date:  6/16/14



CHIMERIX. INC.

May 30, 2014
Re: Member of the Board of Directors of Chimerix, Inc
Dear Patrick:

It is my sincere pleasure, on behalf of Chimenic. I(“Chimerix”), to offer you a position as a member of the BoarBioéctors (th
“Board”) of Chimerix, contingent and effective upon youmfiat approval by the Board at a meeting to takeeptat June 20, 20
and your acceptance of the terms of this offeiis lalso anticipated that the Board will appoint ya&l a member of the Au
Committee of the Board.

As compensation for your service as a member oBtiad, you will receive a $35,000 annual retaiaed as compensation for y
service as a member of the Audit Committee, yolredeive an $7,500 annual retainer. You will ddsogranted a nonqualified stc
option to purchase 18,000 shares of common stodupat to our 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plaat an exercise price eq
to the closing price of Chimerig’common stock on the date of grant, which woulduoon the later of June 20, 2014 and
acceptance of this offer. Oriedrth of the shares subject to this option wilstven the one year anniversary of the date of gaat
the balance of the shares will vest in a serie86oéqual monthly installments thereatfter, such thatoption will be fully vested «
the fourth anniversary of the date of grant, sutiggour continued service.

With your continued service on the Board you wéldbmpensated in accordance with the terms of ktiméZix, Inc. NonEmployet
Director Compensation Policy. Chimerix will alsomdurse you for reasonable outqadeket travel expenses incurred in conne:
with your attendance at Board meetings.

If the terms of this letter are acceptable to ynd gou agree to serve as a member of the Boapgbifiated, please sign and date
letter below and return it to us via PDF, retainingopy for your records.

Very truly yours,

/s/ M. Michelle Berrey

M. Michelle Berrey

President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Meb{@Hicer
Chimerix, Inc.

Accepted and agree

s/ C. Patrick Machado
Patrick Machado

Date:  6/1/2014



CHIMERIX. INC.

December 12, 2014
Re: Member of the Board of Directors of Chimerix, Inc

Dear Ron:

It is my sincere pleasure, on behalf of Chimenng. I("Chimerix”), to offer you a position as a member of the BoarB®ioéctors (th
“Board”) of Chimerix, contingent and effective upon youmfal approval by the Board at a meeting to takegtat December 1
2014 and your acceptance of the terms of this .offer

As compensation for your service as a member oBtherd, you will receive a $35,000 annual retairvaru will also be granted
nonqualified stock option to purchase 18,000 shafemommon stock pursuant to our 2013 Equity InieenPlan (the “Plan”)at ar
exercise price equal to the closing price of Chiriercommon stock on the date of grant, which woulduo®n the later «
December 17, 2014 and your acceptance of this.ofeefourth of the shares subject to this option wilstven the one ye
anniversary of the date of grant and the baland¢keeo§hares will vest in a series of 36 equal mgritistallments thereafter, such t
the option will be fully vested on the fourth ansisary of the date of grant, subject to your cargthservice.

With your continued service on the Board you wédldbmpensated in accordance with the terms of i &Zix, Inc. NonEmployet
Director Compensation Policy. Chimerix will alsarmdurse you for reasonable outymdeket travel expenses incurred in conner
with your attendance at Board meetings.

If the terms of this letter are acceptable to ynd gou agree to serve as a member of the Boaggbiiated, please sign and date
letter below and return it to us via PDF, retainingopy for your records.

Very truly yours,

/s/ M. Michelle Berrey

M. Michelle Berrey, M.D., M.P.H.
President and Chief Executive Offic
Chimerix, Inc.

Accepted and agree

/s/ Ronald C. Renaud, Jr.
Ronald C. Renaud, Jr.

Date:_ 12/15/2014
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8. NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR (No., street, county, State and ZIP Code) (x) [9A. AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION NO.
CHIMERIX, INC. 1377270
CHIMERIX, INC. 2505 MERIDIAN P 9B. DATED (SEE ITEM 11)
2505 MERIDIAN PKWY STE 340
DURHAM NC 277135246

X | 10A. MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT/ORDER NO.

HHS0100201100013C
CODE FACILITY CODE 10B. DATED (SEE ITEM 13)
1377270 02/16/2011
11. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO AMENDMENTS OF SOLICITATIONS

D The above numbered solicitation is amended as set forth in Item 14. The hour and date specified for receipt of Offers D is extended. D is not extended

Offers must acknowledge receipt of this amendment prior to the hour and date specified in the solicitation or as amended, by one of the following methods: (a) By completing ltems 8 and 15, and

returning copies of the amendment; (b) By acknowledging receipt of this amendment on each copy of the offer submitted; or (c) By separate letter or telegram which includes a reference

to the solicitation and amendment numbers. FAILURE OF YOUR ACKNOWLEDGEMENT TO BE RECEIVED AT

THE PLACE DESIGNATED FOR THE RECEIPT OF OFFERS PRIOR TO THE HOUR AND DATE SPECIFIED MAY RESULT IN REJECTION OF YOUR OFFER. If by
virtue of this amendment you desire to change an offer already submitted, such change may be made by telegram or letter, provided each telegram or letter makes
reference to the solicitation and this amendment, and is received prior to the opening hour and date specified.

12. ACCOUNTING AND APPROPRIATION DATA (if required)
N/A

13. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO MODIFICATION OF CONTRACTS/ORDERS. IT MODIFIES THE CONTRACT/ORDER NO. AS DESCRIBED IN ITEM 14.

CHECK ONE A. THIS CHANGE ORDER IS ISSUED PURSUANT TO: (Specify authority) THE CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THE CONTRACT ORDER NO. IN ITEM 10A.

B. THE ABOVE NUMBERED CONTRACT/ORDER IS MODIFIED TO REFLECT THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGES ( such as changes in paying office, appropriation date, etc. ) SET
FORTH IN ITEM 14, PURSUANT TO THE AUTHORITY OF FAR 43.103(b).

X
C. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT IS ENTERED INTO PURSUANT TO AUTHORITY OF:
D. OTHER ( Specify type of modification and authority )
E. IMPORTANT: Contractor D is not. is required to sign this document and return 0 copies to the issuing office.

14. DESCRIPTION OF AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION (Organized by UCF section headings, including solicitation/contract subject matter where feasible.)

Tax ID Number: 33-0903395
DUNS Number: 121785997
A. The purpose of this modification is to incorpteréhe following changes into the contract.

1. All references in the contract to the Alternat®ontracting Officer's Representative (COR) aneby deleted and replaced with the following:
Alternate COR:

Melissa Stundick, Ph.D.

Continued ...
Except as provided herein, all terms and conditions of the document referenced in Item 9A or 10A, as heretofore changed, remains unchanged and in full force and effect.
15A. NAME AND TITLE OF SIGNER (Type or print) 16A. NAME AND TITLE OF CONTRACTING OFFICER (Type or print)
ETHAN J. MUELLER
15B. CONTRACTOR/OFFEROR 15C. DATE SIGNED 16B. UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 16C. DATE SIGNED
_ /sl Ethan J. Mueller 5/6/14
(Signature of person authorized to sign) (Signature of Contracting Officer)
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REFERENCE NO. OF DOCUMENT BEING CONTINUED
HHS0100201100013C/0019
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NAME OF OFFEROR OR CONTACTOR
CHIMERIX, INC. 1377270

ITEM NO.

A

SUPPLIES/SERVICES

(B)

QUANTITY

©)

UNIT

(O)

UNIT PRICE

(E)

AMOUNT

()

Acting Branch Chief Broad Spectrum Antimicrobials

Division of CBRN Countermeasures

Biomedical Advanced Research & Development AutfidBI-ARDA)
Office of Secretary for Preparedness & Respons®@S
Department of Health and Human Services

Mailing Address:

330 Independence Avenue, S.W. Room 640 G
Washington, D.C. 20201

Office: 202-205-7479

Email: Melissa.Stundick@HHS.Gov

2. Additionally, all references to the Mailing Adds for the Contracting
Officer's Representative (COR) in the contractleeeby deleted and
replaced with

the following:

330 Independence Avenue, S.W. Room 640 G
Washington, D.C. 20201

Office: 202-60-1790

Email: Claiborne.Hughes@HHS.Gov

B. This is a unilateral, no cost administrative ffiodtion. The total
amount,

the scope and all other terms and conditions oti@on
HHS0100201100013C

remain unchanged.

Period of Performance: 02/16/2011 to 08/31/2014




NSN 7540-01-152-8067 OPTIONAL FORM 336 (4-86)
Sponsored by GSA
FAR (48 CFR) 53.110



**Text Omitted and Filed Separately
With Securities and Exchange Commissic
Confidential Treatment Requester

Under 17 C.F.R. Section 200.80(b)(

and 240.24b2

AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION/MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT 1. CONTRACT ID CODE PAGE OF FiAeEs
1 22
2. AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION NO. 3. EFFECTIVE DATE 4. REQUISITION/PURCHASE REQ. NO. 5. PROJECT NO. (if applicable)
21 See Block 16C N/A.
6. ISSUED BY CODE| ASPR-BARDA 7. ADMINISTERED BY (If other than Item 6) CODE ASPR-BARDAO02
ASPR-BARDA ASPR-BARDA
200 Independence Ave., S.W. 330 Independence Ave, SW, Rm G640
Room 640-G Washington DC 20201

Washington DC 20201

8. NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR (No., street, county, State and ZIP Code) (x) |9A. AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION NO.

CHIMERIX, INC. 1377270
CHIMERIX, INC. 2505 MERIDIAN P 9B. DATED (SEE ITEM 11)
2505 MERIDIAN PKWY STE 340
DURHAM NC 277135246

X | 10A. MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT/ORDER NO.

HHS0100201100013C
CODE FACILITY CODE 10B. DATED (SEE ITEM 13)
1377270 02/16/2011
11. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO AMENDMENTS OF SOLICITATIONS
D The above numbered solicitation is amended as set forth in Item 14. The hour and date specified for receipt of Offers D is extended. D is not extended
Offers must acknowledge receipt of this amendment prior to the hour and date specified in the solicitation or as amended, by one of the following methods: (a) By completing Items 8 and 15, and
returning copies of the amendment; (b) By acknowledging receipt of this amendment on each copy of the offer submitted; or (c) By separate letter or telegram which includes a reference

to the solicitation and amendment numbers. FAILURE OF YOUR ACKNOWLEDGEMENT TO BE RECEIVED AT
THE PLACE DESIGNATED FOR THE RECEIPT OF OFFERS PRIOR TO THE HOUR AND DATE SPECIFIED MAY RESULT IN REJECTION OF YOUR OFFER. If by

virtue of this amendment you desire to change an offer already submitted, such change may be made by telegram or letter, provided each telegram or letter makes
reference to the solicitation and this amendment, and is received prior to the opening hour and date specified.

12. ACCOUNTING AND APPROPRIATION DATA (if required)

N/A

13. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO MODIFICATION OF CONTRACTS/ORDERS. IT MODIFIES THE CONTRACT/ORDER NO. AS DESCRIBED IN ITEM 14.

S A. THIS CHANGE ORDER IS ISSUED PURSUANT TO: (Specify authority) THE CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THE CONTRACT ORDER NO. IN ITEM 10A.

B. THE ABOVE NUMBERED CONTRACT/ORDER IS MODIFIED TO REFLECT THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGES ( such as changes in paying office, appropriation date, etc. ) SET
FORTH IN ITEM 14, PURSUANT TO THE AUTHORITY OF FAR 43.103(b).

C. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT IS ENTERED INTO PURSUANT TO AUTHORITY OF:

D. OTHER ( Specify type of modification and authority )
X Bilateral: Mutual Agreement of the Parties.

E. IMPORTANT: Contractor D is not. is required to sign this document and return 0 copies to the issuing office.

14. DESCRIPTION OF AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION (Organized by UCF section headings, including solicitation/contract subject matter where feasible.)
Tax ID Number: 33-0903395

DUNS Number: 121785997

A. The purpose of this modification is to incorperavithin scope changes to Option

2/CLIN 0003 ONLY of the contract.

1. As a result, Attachment 1, Statement of Worled&1 July 2013, under PART lll, LIST OF DOCUMENTXHIBITS AND OTHER ATTACHMENTS, SECTION
— LIST OF ATTACHMENTS is hereby deleted and reptheath the attached Statement of Work dated 27 i@st@014. The efforts within Option 2/CLIN 0003 tha

involve [...***...] and [...***...] cannot be performed uritthe receipt and approval of all required Protediy BARDA inclusive of all IRB, OHRP approvalscaany

required Ethics

Continued ...
Except as provided herein, all terms and conditions of the document referenced in Item 9A or 10A, as heretofore changed, remains unchanged and in full force and effect.
15A. NAME AND TITLE OF SIGNER (Type or print) 16A. NAME AND TITLE OF CONTRACTING OFFICER (Type or print)
MICHAEL ROGERS, CHIEF DEVELOPMENT OFFICER ETHANNIUELLER
15B. CONTRACTOR/OFFEROR 15C. DATE SIGNED 16B. UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 16C. DATE SIGNED
Isl Michael Rogers 11/5/14 [s/ Ethan J. Mueller 11/7/14
(Signature of person authorized to sign) (Signature of Contracting Officer)
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REFERENCE NO. OF DOCUMENT BEING CONTINUED PAGE OF
CONTINUATION SHEET HHS0100201100013C/0019 X ”
NAME OF OFFEROR OR CONTACTOR
CHIMERIX, INC. 1377270
ITEM NO. SUPPLIES/SERVICES QuanTITY [uniT|  uNiT PRICE AMOUNT
(A (B) © |10 (E) (F)

Approvals for any clinical trials/studies and aeguired approved OLAV|
Assurances and IIA approvals from OLAW for any mtinical animal
studies.

2. The incorporation of the attached Statement ofRYSOW) changes i
the paragraph above also result in the incorparaifahe attached chang
into the contract into WBS Milestones/Deliverabdesl Technical
Deliverables and Contract Milestones and Go/No @oiflon Gates datg
27 October 2014 under Article F.2. Deliverables.

3. The total amount, scope and period of performarfi®ption 2/CLIN
0003 remains unchanged. The total amount, scopeenimt of
performance of all other CLINs that are currentiyny performed under
the contract remain unchanged. This modificatioesduot exercise any
unexercised Option CLINs under the contract and e authorize any
performance of efforts under any unexercised OpfibiNs under the
contract. In addition, the total amount scope agribp of performance of
all unexercised Option CLINs under the contractaenunchanged.

B. This is a no cost bilateral modification. Alher terms and conditions
contract number HHS0100201100013C remain unchanged.

Period of Performance: 02/16/2011 to 11/30/2015
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BARDA Broad Agency Announcement (BAA)

(CBRN-BAA-10-100-SOL-00012)
Advanced Research and Development of ChemicalpBichl, Radiological, and
Nuclear Medical Countermeasures
DEVELOPMENT OF CMX-001 FOR THE TREATMENT OF SMALLPO X
Topical Area of Interest No. 3, Antimicrobial Drugs

Contractual Statement of Work

1. PREAMBLE

Independently and not as an agency of the Governtiem Contractor shall be required to furnishth#® necessa
services, qualified personnel, material, equipmand facilities, not otherwise provided by the Gowveent, as needed
perform the Statement of Work submitted in respdogbe BARDA Broad Agency Announcement (BAA) CB-BAA-
10-100-SOL-00012.

In accordance with FAR 52.243-2, Chan@&sst Reimbursement (Alt. V), the Government resetiie right to modify tr
milestones, progress, schedule, budget, or to addlete deliverables, process, or schedules ihdesl arises. Because
the nature of this research and development (R&fract and the complexities inherent in this andrgrograms, ¢
designated milestones the Government will evaludtether work should be redirected, removed, or hdreschedule
budget adjustments should be made.

1.0 Overall Objectives and Scope

The overall objective of this contract is to adwatice development of CMX-001 as a bragmbctrum therapeutic antivi
for the treatment of smallpox infections and dsDMAuses. The scope of work for this contract inelsigpreclinica
clinical and manufacturing development activitibattfall into the following areas: naniical efficacy studies; clinic
activities; manufacturing activities; and all asated regulatory, quality assurance, managemert, administrativ
activities. The Research and Development (R&D)réfiar the antiviral will progress in specific segthat cover the be
performance segment and four (4) option segmentpeasified in this contract. The Contractor mushptete specifi
tasks required in each of the five discrete worggnsents. The scope of work has been broken intdathewing five
phases which are discrete work segme

Lo [ ]
[

]
ML [ oo ]
V. [ ]
V. [ ]




. PHASE I: [ .=, ]

Research and development of CNIRA for the treatment of smallpox and dsDNA virusesnclude the followin
activities: [..==.. ]. The contractor shall carry out the following tasksl subtasks and in accordance with an a
upon Integrated Master Schedule and Integratedévidan (defined in 2.1.8 and 2.1.9 below) whichlisfurthel
detail the conduct of the specific tasks and sikistas

Program Managemen

The Contractor shall provide for the following aglmed below and in the contract deliverables(Wsticle F.2):

2.1.1The overall management, integration and coordinaticall contract activities, including a technieald
administrative infrastructure to ensure the effitiplanning, initiation, implementation, and diieatof all
contract activities;

2.1.2A Principal Investigator (PI) responsible for prdjenanagement, communication, tracking, monitoend
reporting on status and progress, and modificabidhe project requirements and timelines, inclggnoject:
undertaken by subcontractors; The contract delblesdist (reference), identifies all contract defiables and
reporting requirements for this contract.

2.1.7Project Manager(s) with responsibility for monitagiand tracking day-to-day progress and timelines,
coordinating communication and project activitiessts incurred; and program management; The cantrac
deliverables list (reference), identifies all cantrdeliverables and reporting requirements fa tiointract.

2.1.2.A BARDA Liaison with responsibility for effectiveaanmunication with the Project Officer and Contragti
Officer.

2.1.EAdministrative and legal staff to provide developref compliant subcontracts, consulting, and otegal
agreements, and ensure timely acquisition of alppetary rights, including IP rights, and repogtiall
inventions made in the performance of the project.

2.1.€cAdministrative staff with responsibility for finarad management and reporting on all activities cmteld by the
Contractor and any subcontractors.

2.1.iContract Review Meetinc

**Confidential Treatment Requested




2.1.7.1

2.1.7.2

The Contractor shall participate in regul@etings to coordinate and oversee the contffiot as
directed by the Contracting and Project OfficersctBmeetings may include, but are not limited to,
meeting of the Contractors and subcontractorssouds clinical manufacturing progress, product
development, product assay development, scale npfagturing development, clinical sample assays
development, preclinical/clinical study designs agglulatory issues; meetings with individual
contractors and other HHS officials to discusstéwodnical, regulatory, and ethical aspects of the
program; and meeting with technical consultandiscuss technical data provided by the Contra

The Contractor shall participate in teldecences every two weeks between the Contractbr an
subcontractors and BARDA to review technical pregré eleconferences or additional face-to-face
meetings shall be more frequent at the requesAGIBA.

2.1.tIntegrated Master Sched

2.18.1

Within 30 calendar days of the effective date @f tbntract, the Contractor shall submit a firsftdvhan
updated Integrated Master Schedule in a formatagupon by BARDA to the Project Officer and the
Contracting Officer for review and comment. Theefyrated Master Schedule shall be incorporated into
the contract, and will be used to monitor perforoeaaf the contract. Contractor shall include thg ke
milestones and Go/No Go decision gates. The IM$h@iperiod of performance will be mutually agr
upon at the PMBR

2.1.¢ntegrated Master Pl

2.19.1

2.19.2

2.1.9.3

Work Breakdown Structure: The Contrackallautilize a WBS template agreed upon by BARDA fo
reporting on the contact. The Contractor shall edpand delineate the Contract Work Breakdown
Structure (CWBS) to a level agreed upon by BARDAvad of their Integrated Master Plan for contract
reporting. The CWBS shall be discernable and cter#tisBARDA may require Contractor to furnish
WABS data at the work package level or at a lowesllé there is significant complexity and risk
associated with the task.

GO/NO-GO Decision Gates: The IntegrategtbtaPlan outlines key milestones with “Go/No Go”
decision criteria (entrance and exit criteria facle phase of the project). The project plan shdiide,
but not be limited to, milestones in manufacturingn-clinical and clinical studies, and regulatory
submissions.

Earned Value Management System Plan: &utioj¢he requirements under HHSAR Clause 352.234-4
the Contractor shall use principles of Earned Vallamagement System (EVMS) in the management of
this contract. The Seven Principles are:

I. Plan all work scope for the program to comple’

2




[I. Break down the program work scope into firpieces that can be assigned to a responsible
person or organization for control of technicahestule, and cost objectives.

lll. Integrate program work scope, schedule, avgt objectives into a performance measurement
baseline plan against which accomplishments maydssured. Control Changes to the
baseline.

IV. Use actual cost incurred and recorded in acconiptisthe work performe

V. Objectively assess accomplishments at the worlopeence leve

VI. Analyze significant variances from the plan, fostdenpacts, and prepare an estimate at
completion based on performance to date and woble teerformed.

VII. Use earned value information in the companyanagement proces:

Elements of EVMS shall be applied to all Cost Phised Fee CLINs as part of the Integrated M
Project Plan, the Contractor shall submit a writtemmary of the management procedures that i
establish, maintain and use to comply with EVMSuiegments.

2.1.1(Decision Gate Reporting: On completion of a stagih® product development, as defined in the agugeh
Integrated Master Schedule and Integrated Maséger, ie Contractor shall prepare and submit tdtiogec
Officer and the Contracting Officer a Decision GReport that contains (i) sufficient detail, docunagion
and analysis to support successful completion®fthge according to the predetermined qualitainge
quantitative criteria that were established forKBn/Go decision making; and (ii) a description of tiext
stage of product development to be initiated arebaest for approval to proceed to the next sthgecaluct
development.

2.1.11Risk Management Plan: The Contractor shall devalapk management plan within 90 days of contractre
highlighting potential problems and/or issues thay arise during the life of the contract, theipamnt on
cost, schedule and performance, and appropriatediation plans. This plan should reference releVEBS
elements where appropriate. Updates to this plath Isé included every three months (quarterlyia t
monthly Project Status Report.




2.1.17Performance Measurement Baseline Review (PMBR):Adwractor shall submit a plan for a PMBR to occur
within 90 days of contract award. At the PMBR, @entractor and BARDA shall mutually agree upon the
budget, schedule and technical plan baselinesqiPeahce Measurement Baseline). These baselinddghal
the basis for monitoring and reporting progressughout the life of the contract. The PMBR is cortéd tc
achieve confidence that the baselines accuratelyieathe entire technical scope of work, are «iast
with contract schedule requirements, are reasoratmylogically planned, and have adequate resources
assigned. The goals of the PMBR aré-@4. LOWS :

I. Jointly assess areas such as the Contractor’'sipiafor complete coverage of the SOW, logical
scheduling of the work activities, adequate resesirand identification of inherent risks
[I.Confirm the integrity of the Performance Measureniaseline (PME
[ll. Foster the use of EVM as a means of communic
IV.Provide confidence in the validity of Contractopoeting
V.ldentify risks associated with the PI
VI.Present any revised PMBs for mutual agree
VII. Present an Integrated Master Schedule: The Cootrsieall deliver an initial program level Integrd
Master Schedule (IMS) that rolls up all time-pha®#8S elements down to the activity level. This
IMS shall include the dependencies that exist betwasks. This IMS will be agreed to and
finalized at the PMBR. DI-MGMT81650 may be referenced as guidance in creatitimeedMS (se
http://www.acq.osd.mil/pm/).
VIII. Present the Risk Management |
2.1.1Deviation Request: During the course of contractgumance, in response to a need to change IMS8itesi as
baselined at the PMBR, the Contractor shall subriieviation Report. This report shall request anglean
the agreed-upon IMS and timelines. This reportlshelude: (i) discussion of the justification/ratiale for
the proposed change; (ii) options for addressiegnteded changes from the agreed upon timelines,
including a cost-benefit analysis of each optiord &ii) recommendations for the preferred optibatt
includes a full analysis and discussion of theatftd the change on the entire product developmpergram
timelines, and budget.

2.1.1.Monthly and Annual Reports: The Contractor shalivée Project Status Reports on a monthly basi® fHport
shall address the items below cross referencdeetdBS, SOW, IMS, and EVM:
I. Executive summary highlighting the progress, issaed relevant activities in manufacturing, non-
clinical, clinical, and regulatory;
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[I.Progress in meeting contract milestones, detaihiegplanned progress and actual progress during the
reporting period, explaining any differences betwte two and corrective steps

[ll. Updated IMS
IV.Updated EVM
V.Updated Risk Management Plan (Every 3 mon
VI.Three month rolling forecast of planned activit
VII. Progress of regulatory submissic
VIII. Estimated and actual expen:
2.1.1tData Management: The Contractor shall develop mnpdement data management and quality control
systems/procedures, including transmission, sto@gdidentiality, and retrieval of all contracttda
2.1.15.1 Provide for the statistical design and analysidaif resulting from the reseatr
2.1.15.2 Provide raw data or specific analysetatd generated with contract funding to the Prapgtiter, upon
request.

2.2 Non-Clinical Toxicology
2.2.1N/A (no scope

2.3 Non-Clinical
2.3.1Develop and validate.[=... ] to lower [...=... ].
2.3.q ..»=.. ]: Conduct [..=... ] studies including [.==... ] studies, [.==.. ], and [..==... ] studies in [.=... ].
2.3. .= ]
2.3.3.1 Conduct [.=+... ] study in [..==.. ].
2.3.3.2 Conduct [.=... ] studies including [..==... ] studies, [...»... ] studies including [..=... ] for CMX-001
and [..==.. Jin[ .= ].
2.3.4Use of [..==... ] as a CMX-001 Surrogate in.[=... ] Studies
2.3.4.1 Dose [.». Jwith [ .= ]to identify the concentration of the ... ] in [ ..=.. ] associated with
[ Jof [ ],
2.3.5Scaling of [..»... ] to [ ...»=... ] by conducting studies with.[=... ] to determine [.=~.. Jin [ .= ].
2.3.¢ ..»~.. ] determination of CMX001, [.==.. Jand [...=~... ] inthe [..=._. ].
2.3.i1Conduct [...==... ] experiments to demonstrate.{~... ] following effective [..==.. ] prior to [..=... ].
2.3.¢Conduct studies to optimize. [+... Jin [ .= ].
2.3.€Conduct CMX001 [..=+... ] study in [...»~... ] at a dose of CMX001 equivalent or less than+... ] with
treatment beginning at the ... ]




2.4

2.5

2.6

2.3.10

Clinical
2.4.Measurement of [.=«.. ] levels in [..==.. ] and correlate the [=+... ] levels to studies conducted in.f... ].
2.4.2Conduct expanded access protocol#f... ]).
2.4.’Analyze data and provide a Final Report far-f... ] evaluation of CMXO001 in patients.[=... ]

Regulatory

2.5.JEngaging the FDA on a path to support the treatroksmallpox indication with CM>301

2.5.2Preparing materials for and requesting, schedairdyparticipating in all meetings with the FDA, lunding
meetings to review EUA and/or all other data paekag

2.5.2Providing BARDA with (i) the initial draft minuteand final draft minutes of any formal meeting wiitie FDA,
(i) final minutes of any informal meeting with tiDA;

2.5.20btain FDA concurrence on the feasibility of thegwsed [..=... ] with CMX00L1/[ ... J/[ ..==... ]inthe[..
=], including FDA feedback on.[=+... ] and review of data for the first.[~+... ] enrolled in the [.==... ]
sub-study

2.5.tDevelop and submit a revised f+... ] for CMX001 for Treatment of Smallpox, including. ... ] for FDA
review and comment, and revise the+... ] as requested by FDA

CMC
2.6.1validation of the [...=+... ] process: Validation of the process to demonstradd...~+.. Jof a[..==.. ] of
acceptable quality will be performed.
2.6.2Validation of the [..==... ] process to produce. [==... ]: Validation of the process to demonstrate the-... ] of a
[ ..==.. ] of acceptable quality will be performed.

PHASE II: [ ... ]

Research and development of CMXO001 for the treatrokesmallpox to include the following activitiefs:..=... ]. The
contractor shall carry out the following tasks autbtasks and in accordance with the agreed upegrated Mast:
Schedule and Integrated Master Plan (defined ir8atd 2.1.9) which shall further detail the cortdefcthe specifi
tasks and subtasks.
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3.1  Program Management (consistent with section 2.
3.1.2Program management scope in BASE year is consisidnprogram management scope in each option

3.2 Non-Clinical toxicology
3.2.1IN/A (no scope

3.3 Non-Clinical
3.3.2Quantify [...=«... ] concentrations in [.=... ] from [ .= ].
3.3.tDetermine [.=«.. ] for CMX001 in [ ..o Jin [ ..==.. ].
3.3.¢Scaling of [..=+... Jto [ ..=+... ] - Review with BARDA and FDA the [.»+... ] generated to support scaling
between [..»«.. Jand [..==.. Jusing [..==... ] as well as comparisons of J+... ]in the [..=.. ].
3.3.1Determine [.=«.. ] for CMX001 in [..==.. Jin [ .= ].
3.3.¢Conduct [..=... ].
3.3.€Conduct [..==.. Jand [...=»... ]
3.3.1(Chimerix will provide [...+... ] for the [..=+.. ] and [...==... ] conducted under [+*... ]

3.4  Clinical
3.4.€N/A (No scope
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3.5 Regulatory

3.5..Engaging the FDA on a path to support the treatroksinallpox indication with CMX0(

3.5.£Generating all necessary documentation for{... ]. [ ... ]]

3.5.EPreparing materials for and requesting, schedair@yparticipating in all meetings with the FDA, lunding
meetings to review EUA (if needed) and/or all ottleta packages;

3.5.¢Providing BARDA with (i) the initial draft minuteand final draft minutes of any formal meeting wiitie FDA
relating to the smallpox program; (ii) final drafinutes of any informal meeting with the FDA refatito the
smallpox program.

3.6 CMC
3.6.IN/A (No scope

4. PHASE ;[ ... ]

Research and development of CMX001 for the treatmiesmallpox and dsDNA viruses to include thedaling
activities: [...==... ] Study, [...»~... ] Study, [...»... ]. The contractor shall carry out the following tagksl subtasks and
accordance with agreed upon Integrated Master Stdhadd Integrated Master Plan (defined in 2.1824.9) which
shall further detail the conduct of the specifiskeaand subtasks.

4.1  Program Management(Consistent with section 2.
4.1.1:Program management scope in BASE year is consisidnprogram management scope in each option

4.2  Non-Clinical toxicology
4.2.1IN/A (no scope
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4.3  Non-Clinical
4.3.9] ... ] studies: A [..»... ] study will be conducted with the.[=... ] of CMXO001 selected based on the results

of the [..=~.. ] and [..==.. ] studies. [.=«.. Jwill be [ ..»=.. ] to receive [.=+... ] beginning at the [« ]
or the FDA agreed upon trigger for treatment. Tibst f...==... ] study will be a [..==... ] study of CMXO001 ir
the [..»~... ] model. A study will be conducted with an.f+... ] of CMX001 to determine the.[=+... ] after
observation of the FDA agreed upon trigger fortiresnt. These studies will include ... Jand [...==... ].
The primary endpoint will be [==... ].

4.3.¢A [ ..»=... ] study of CMXO00L1 in the [.=... ]: The delayed treatment study will evaluate the+... ] of
CMXO001 at [...=... ]. The study will include [.=+... ] and [...=... ] agreed upon with the FDA. The primary
endpoint will be [.==.. ]. A[ ..».. ] study to measure.[==.. ] in the selected [.=~... ] will be conducted t
confirm the [..=... ].

4.3.€Conduct additional studies in.[»+... ] to determine [.=«.. ] and [...==... ] for CMX001 at [...»... ].

4.3.1(Conduct [..=... Jof [ .= ].

4.4  Clinical
4.4.Clinical [ ...=... ] studies to evaluate.[~+... ] used in previous clinical studies and++... ] used in previous

clinical studies and [.=+... ]. This study will [...=«.. Jto [ ..==.. ] to determine if [.==... ] are comparable.

4.5 Regulatory
4.5.2Generating all necessary data and preparing dodatr@nfor an [...=+... ] meeting submissions to regulatory

agencies;
4.5.:Preparing materials for and requesting, schedalimyparticipating in all meetings with the FDA, lunding the
[ ..==.. ] Meeting, meetings to review.[==... ], EUA (if needed) and/or all other data packages;

4.5.2Providing BARDA with (i) the initial draft minuteand final draft minutes of any formal meeting witie FDA
relating to this Contract; (ii) final draft minute$ any informal meeting with the FDA,;

4.5.5Preparing an [.»+... ] submission [..=... ].
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46 CMC
4.6.] ... ]in order to generate.[=... ] for registration and clinical trial suppli

4.6.[ ..==.. ]. Validation of the process to demonstrate the-... ] of a[..==... ] of acceptable quality will be
performed.

5. PHASE IV: [ ... |

Research and development of CMX-001 for the treatraésmallpox to include the following activitigls:.=... ], [ ...
== ] studies and phase |.[=*... ] study. The contractor shall carry out the followitagks and subtasks anc
accordance with agreed upon Integrated Master Sithedd Integrated Master Plan (defined in 2.1@824.9) whicl
shall further detail the conduct of the specifisksaand subtasks.

5.1 Program Management(Consistent with section 2
5.1.12Program management scope in BASE year is consisinprogram management scope in each option

5.2  Non-Clinical toxicology
5.2.1IN/A (no scope

5.3  Non-Clinical
5.3.f ... ] studies. [..==... ] will be randomized to receive [==... ] beginning at the [.=... ]. These studies will
include [..=+... Jand [..=.. ] as well as [..»... ] including [..==... ]. The primary endpoint will be [==... ]
5.3. ... ] Studies. This study will determine the {=... Jatthe [.=~. .[ .. ]Jand [..=. ] atthe [.=._. ].
The primary endpoint will be [==... ]. If FDA requires a [..==... ] in the [...»=... ] studies, the [.=... ] study
may not be needed.
5.3.1(Conduct [...==... ] Studies. This study will determine the.{+... Jatthe [.==.. ].[ ..==.. Jand [..»+... ] at the

[ ]

10
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5.4  Clinical

5.4.¢Phase 3 development including.{... ] study, [...=... ] study, phases Il [.==... ] study. A [...==... ] study will
be conducted to compare the#+... ] of CMX001 in [..=«.. Jto[..=.. ]. A[ ..»=... ] study will be
conducted to compare the p=... ] of CMX001 when [..==.. ]. A[ ..».. ] study will be conducted to.[.
=] to support an NDA.

5.4.1Measurement of [.=«.. ] in [ ..==.. ] and correlate the.[==... ] to studies conducted in.[+... ] (if required)

5.4.¢Compile [...»... ] for NDA submission. A [..=... ] collected from all CMX001 studies, irrespectivie o
indication, will be populated and analyzed in ortkesupport an NDA for smallpox.

5.5 Regulatory
5.5.:Generating all necessary data and preparing dodatm@anfor NDA submissions to regulatory agenc
5.5.4Preparing materials for and requesting, schedair@yparticipating in all meetings with the FDA, lunding
meetings to review IND, EUA and/or all other datekages;
Providing BARDA with (i) the initial draft minuteand final draft minutes of any formal meeting wtitle
FDA, (ii) final draft minutes of any informal meag with the FDA

56 CMC
5.6.0 ... ]. [ ..»~.. ] of the process to demonstrate the«f... ] of a [..==... ] will be performec

6. PHASE V:[ ... ]

Research and development of CMX-001 for the treatrabEsmallpox to include the following activitigfs:.»+... ]. The
contractor shall carry out the following tasks authtasks and in accordance with an agreed upogrétésl Master
Schedule and Integrated Master Plan (defined il82ad 2.1.9) which shall further detail the cortchiche specific
tasks and subtasks.

6.1  Program Management(Consistent with section 2
6.1.12Program management scope in BASE year is consisinprogram management scope in each option

6.2  Non-Clinical toxicology
6.2.1IN/A (no scope

11
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6.2.12

6.3  Non-Clinical
6.3. ... ] Studies. This study replicates f+... ] if a larger sample size is necessary to achidve+a... ] result

6.4  Clinical
6.4.5Compile [...»... ]. A database of [.=+... ] data collected from all CMXO001 clinical studi@sespective of [..
=], will be populated and analyzed in order to suppa NDA for smallpox.

6.5 Regulatory

6.5.2Generating all necessary data and preparing dodatiemfor NDA submissions to regulatory agenc

6.5.2Submitting NDA documentation to the FDA in a timehanner, consistent with timelines set out in thetkact
and by the FDA.

6.5.ZPreparing materials for and requesting, schedairdyparticipating in all meetings with the FDA, lunding
meetings to review IND, EUA and/or all other datekages;

6.5.5Providing BARDA with (i) the initial draft minuteand final draft minutes of any formal meeting wiitie FDA,
(i) final draft minutes of any informal meeting thithe FDA,;

6.6 CMC
6.6.9 ... ]. [ ..»~.. ] of the process to demonstrate the<f... ] of a[..==... ] will be performec

7. Other Items

7.1  Facilities, Equipment and Other Resources. (Contrac Section J;
The Contractor shall provide equipment; facilitesl other resources required for implementaticth®SOW
dated 27-OCT-14 to comply with all Federal and Hid§ulations in:

7.1.1The [..».. ] and use of [.=.. ];
7.1.1<The acquisition, handling, storage and shipmeiit.of-... ], including [...=... ] required for working with the
[ e ]’
7.1.1The [..». ] of [ ..»... ] under cGMF
7.1.15.1 The design and conduct of-... ]; anc
7.1.15.2 The conduct of [=... ] studies to determine.[=... Jof [ .= ]
7.1.1eDesign and conduct of. [=+... ] under GCF

12
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REVISED MILESTONES ARTICLE F.2 DELIVERABLES

Current Milestone Definition Go Criteria No-Go Criteria Deliverable WBS/SOW #| Segmen
Milestone #
1' [ Fokk ] Fokk ] [ iid ] [__.*** ] [ ”k**“_] [ Hex ]
2' [ *kk ] *kk ] [ “*** ] [-“*** ] [ “k**“-] [ .*k*“ ]
3' [ Hokk ] Hekok ] [ i ] [...*** ] [ ”k**m] [ ex ]
4. [ Hokk ] ***...] [ ..***...] [...*** ] [ ”k**m] [ Kok ]
5. [ Hokk ] Hekok ] [ i ] [...*** ] [ ”k**m] [ ex ]
6_ [ *kk ] *kk ] [ “*** ] [-“*** ] [ “k**“-] [ .*k*“ ]
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[...***...]

[.“k**'”] [m*k*m ]

7 [ ] ok ok ok L] [ ]
8 [ ] ok ok ok L] [ ]
9. No longer in development plan. N/A N/A
10. No longer in development plan. N/A N/A
11 [ ] ok ok ok L] [ ]
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L] . . ok L] [ ]
12. No longer in development plan. N/A N/A
13. No longer in development plan. N/A N/A
14. L] - ok . L] [ ]
15. L] . . ok L] [ ]
16. L] . . ok L] [ ]
17. No longer in development plan. N/A N/A
18. L] . . ok L] [ ]
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19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

[Py L R A RN T

—_ —_] —_—] =] -] —]|—

(Rl L R Y RN S

[Py B R A RN R

,_,,_,,_,,_,,_,,_,,_,
X
*
*
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[ ] L] [ [ [ ] [ ]
25, [ ] L] [} [ [ ] [ ]
26. [ ] L] [} [ [ ] [ ]
BCA [ *kk ] ...***.. ] [ ..***.. ] [-..***.-.] [ .-k**.. ] [...*k*... ]
MILESTONE
NEW OPTION 1 MILESTONE TO BE ADDED TO ARTICLE F.2 DELIVERABLES OF THE CONTRACT
8. [.*] L] [ Ll [r**] [*r* ]
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29.
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D The above numbered solicitation is amended as set forth in Item 14. The hour and date specified for receipt of Offers D is extended. D is not extended
Offers must acknowledge receipt of this amendment prior to the hour and date specified in the solicitation or as amended, by one of the following methods: (a) By completing ltems 8 and 15, and
returning copies of the amendment; (b) By acknowledging receipt of this amendment on each copy of the offer submitted; or (c) By separate letter or telegram which includes a reference
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12. ACCOUNTING AND APPROPRIATION DATA (if required)
N/A
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FORTH IN ITEM 14, PURSUANT TO THE AUTHORITY OF FAR 43.103(b).
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D. OTHER ( Specify type of modification and authority )
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2. The total amount, scope and period of performmafall other CLINS
that are currently being performed under the cehtemain unchanged.
This modification does not exercise any unexerc®ption CLINs under
the contract and does not authorize any performahe#orts under any
unexercised Option CLINs under the contract. Initaatd the total

amount, scope and period of performance of all aresed Option CLIN$
under the contract remain unchanged.
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B. This is a unilateral, administrative, no costdification. The total

contract amount and all other terms and conditfensgin unchanged.

Period of Performance: 02/16/2011 to 11/30/2015
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MICHAEL ROGERS, CHIEF DEVELOPMENT OFFICER ETHANNIUELLER
15B. CONTRACTOR/OFFEROR 15C. DATE SIGNED 16B. UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 16C. DATE SIGNED
Isl Michael D. Rogers [s/ Ethan J. Mueller
(Signature of person authorized to sign) 219115 (Signature of Contracting Officer) 2/19/15
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2. The total amount, scope and period of performmafall other CLINS
that are currently being performed under the cehtemain unchanged.
This modification does not exercise any unexerc®ption CLINs under
the contract and does not authorize any performahe#orts under any
unexercised Option CLINs under the contract. Initaatd the total

amount, scope and period of performance of all aresed Option CLIN$
under the contract remain unchanged.

B. This is a no cost bilateral modification. Alher terms and conditions
of contract number HHS0100201100013C remain unaéng

Period of Performance: 02/16/2011 to 11/30/2015
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference ifélewing Registration Statements:

1. Registration Statement (Form S-3 Nos. 399683 and 195626) of Chimerix, Ir

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 383860) pertaining to the 2002 Equity IncentivenPR012 Equity Incentive Plan, 2013 Eq!

2.
Incentive Plan and 2013 Employee Stock Purchased®l&himerix, Inc., and

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333408) pertaining to the 2013 Equity IncentivenRdad 2013 Employee Stock Purchase

of Chimerix, Inc.;

of our report dated March 6, 2015 with respecht donsolidated financial statements of Chimernig, Included in this Annual Report (Form 10-
K) of Chimerix, Inc. for the year ended DecemberZ114 .

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Raleigh, North Carolin
March 6, 2015



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, M. Michelle Berrey, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 1@Kthe fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 of €hininc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatorany untrue statement of a material fact or amngttate a material fact necessary to mak
statements made, in light of the circumstances uwtiéch such statements were made, not misleaditiy respect to the period covered by
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
financial condition, results of operations and cieivs of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | are responsitdieestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemd procedures (as define:
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) forehestrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaones designed under our supervis
to ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidigris made known to us by others within tt
entities, particularly during the period in whidhg report is being prepared,;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadtsclosure controls and procedures and presémtdds report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

c¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegg’s internal control over financial reportingat occurred during the registraitnos
recent fiscal quarter (the registranfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbm® that has materially affected, or is reasopndikly to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal coheger financial reporting; and

5. The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financial reportin
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiethe registrant’s board of directors (or pessparforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal condradr financial reporting which &
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invavwmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registramst’interna
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 6, 2015 /sl M. Michelle Berrey
M. Michelle Berrey, MD, MPH
President & Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUA NT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF
2002

I, Timothy W. Trost, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 1®Kthe fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 of €hixninc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatorny untrue statement of a material fact or eongtate a material fact necessary to mak
statements made, in light of the circumstances uwtiéch such statements were made, not misleaditiy respect to the period covered by
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememi3,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
financial condition, results of operations and clialvs of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this report;

4. The registrang other certifying officer(s) and | are responsitdleestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdatemd procedures (as define:
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) fore¢hestrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaones designed under our supervis
to ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidisyris made known to us by others within tt
entities, particularly during the period in whidtis report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registmdtsclosure controls and procedures and presémtdds report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

c¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportingat occurred during the registrantnos
recent fiscal quarter (the registranfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbm® that has materially affected, or is reasopndibkly to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohwer financial reporting; and

5. The registrang other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financial reportin
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commititthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessparforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal contra@r financial reporting which &
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawemanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrargt’interna
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 6, 2015 /sl Timothy W. Trost

Timothy W. Trost
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Corporate Secretary




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, ChapteB 6f Title 18, United States Code)

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10#Chimerix, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period estiDecember 31, 2014s filed with th
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateohéte “Report”),l, M. Michelle Berrey, as Principal Executive Officof the Compan
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, ap#etbpursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OGxepf 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requiremenit$Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934, as amended; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financiadéion and results of operations of the Company.
Date: March 6, 2015 /sl M. Michelle Berrey

M. Michelle Berrey, MD, MPH
President & Chief Executive Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pl® accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.€35D, and is not being filed for purpose
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended, and is not to be incorporated by refermto any filing of the Company, whet
made before or after the date hereof, regardlesspfgeneral incorporation language in such filiAgsigned original of this written statem
required by Section 906 has been provided to thepgamy and will be retained by the Company and &l to the Securities and Exche
Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, ChapteB 6f Title 18, United States Code)

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10#Chimerix, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period estiDecember 31, 2014s filed with th
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateohétee “Report”),l, Timothy W. Trost, as Principal Financial Officef the Compan:
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, ap#etbpursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OGxepf 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requiremenit$Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934, as amended; and
2. the information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financiadéion and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 6, 2015 /sl Timothy W. Trost

Timothy W. Trost
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Corporate Secretary

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pl® accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C35D, and is not being filed for purpose
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended, and is not to be incorporated by refermto any filing of the Company, whet
made before or after the date hereof, regardlessmpfgeneral incorporation language in such filiAgsigned original of this written statem
required by Section 906 has been provided to thegaay and will be retained by the Company and &l to the Securities and Exche
Commission or its staff upon request.



